Exploration of the effectiveness of alternative management responses to variable recruitment

E. A. Fisher, S. A. Hesp & N. G. Hall







Australian Government

Fisheries Research and Development Corporation

Project No. 2008/006

Exploration of the effectiveness of alternative management responses to variable recruitment

E. A. Fisher, S. A. Hesp & N. G. Hall

March 2011

Centre for Fish and Fisheries Research Murdoch University, Murdoch Western Australia, 6150

ISBN: 978-0-86905-943-2

Copyright Fisheries Research and Development Corporation and Murdoch University 2011.

This work is copyright. Except as permitted under the Copyright Act 1968 (Cth), no part of this publication may be reproduced by any process, electronic or otherwise, without the specific written permission of the copyright owners. Neither may information be stored electronically in any form whatsoever without such permissions.

Disclaimer: The authors do not warrant that the information in this document is free from errors or omissions. The authors do not accept any form of liability, be it contractual, tortious, or otherwise, for the contents of this document or for any consequences arising from its use or any reliance placed upon it. The information, opinions and advice contained in this document may not relate, or be relevant, to a reader's particular circumstances. Opinions expressed by the authors are the individual opinions expressed by those persons and are not necessarily those of the publisher, research provider or the FRDC.

The Fisheries Research and Development Corporation plans, invests in and manages fisheries research and development throughout Australia. It is a statutory authority within the portfolio of the federal Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry, jointly funded by the Australian Government and the fishing industry.

Fisheries Research and Development Corporation Report FRDC Project 2008/006

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	4
NON-TECHNICAL SUMMARY	6
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	10
CHAPTER 1: General introduction	
BACKGROUND	
The management strategy evaluation (MSE) approach	
The MSE framework	
MSE and dealing with uncertainty	15
Past experience in the use of MSE	
Recruitment variability	
NEED	20
OBJECTIVES	21
CHAPTER 2: Introduction to the MSE model	22
OVERVIEW OF MODEL	22
INSTALLING AND USING THE MODEL	24
CHAPTER 3: Exploring the effectiveness of a fisheries modelling tool for communicat	ing stock
status information: a scenario testing study	40
INTRODUCTION	40
MATERIALS AND METHODS	43
Overview of scenario testing procedures	43
Design of program interface for scenario testing	44
Experimental design	49
Statistical analysis	51
RESULTS	53
DISCUSSION	58
Effectiveness of the program for communicating stock assessment information	58
Important model design features for developing effective communication tools	59
Potential factors influencing decisions of participants	60
Implications of scenario testing results for fisheries management and MSE	62
Value of scenario testing for facilitating stakeholder discussion and education	64
CHAPTER 4: Implications of sampling design and species biology on the effectivenes	s of
mortality-based stock assessments and management: a Monte Carlo simulation study	
	66
MATERIALS AND METHODS	69
Overview of simulation procedures	69
Influence of sampling design and species biology on the effectiveness of catch curve analysis	70
Influence of species biology on the effectiveness of management controls	
RESULTS	
Influence of sampling design and species biology on the effectiveness of catch curve analysis	רס
	02
Influence of campling design and species biology on the effectiveness of catch curve analysis	
Influence of species biology on the effectiveness of management controls	
	102
PLANNED OUTCOMES	106
CONCLUSIONS	109
REFERENCES	113
APPENDIX 1: Intellectual property	123
APPENDIX 2: Project staff	123
APPENDIX 3: Model description	123

2008/006 Exploration of the effectiveness of alternative management responses to variable recruitment

PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR:	S. Alex Hesp
ADDRESS:	Centre for Fish and Fisheries Research
	School of Biological Sciences and Biotechnology
	Murdoch University
	South St, Murdoch
	Western Australia, 6150
	Telephone: 08 9360 7621 Fax: 08 9360 6303

OBJECTIVES:

- (1) Develop a generic management strategy evaluation framework capable of generating (through simulation) age composition data and results from catch curve analyses for species with a range of different life history characteristics (including different levels of recruitment variability), displaying these for decision-making in a weight-of-evidence framework (based on that currently being used in Western Australia), accepting the resulting decisions and simulating the consequences of those decisions.
- (2) Explore and advise on the effectiveness of alternative scientific, management and communication approaches to the types of data generated for species with a range of life history characteristics (including different levels of recruitment variability) considered by the management strategy evaluation framework, based on the results of scenario testing and the use of Monte Carlo methods.

OUTCOMES ACHIEVED TO DATE

A management strategy evaluation (MSE) program has been developed that is widely applicable to fish species for which assessments rely on mortality estimation using age composition data. The program combines the results of catch curve and per recruit analyses with subjective information for other risk factors to provide an overall risk assessment for the stock. Several computer workshops have been held to explore the effectiveness of the MSE program for conveying stock status information. Workshop participants were presented with a range of fishery scenarios and asked to decide how to manage fish stocks given their perceived states of those stocks and available management controls. Analyses of data produced during those workshops demonstrated that the program effectively communicates stock assessment information to people with limited background in fisheries science. The project has provided researchers a useful tool for informing the design of age-based monitoring programs. The effectiveness of sampling procedures and catch curve analyses for monitoring fish stocks has been shown to vary markedly, depending on the biology of fish species (including level of recruitment variability). Researchers and managers are provided information, based on our Monte Carlo simulations, about how various factors influence the effectiveness of different management controls. The program is now freely available at http://www.cffrfisheriesmodelling.net/mse.htm.

This study has produced a generic (management strategy evaluation, or MSE) computer program that can be used to assess the likely effectiveness of alternative management options for a fish stock. The program is applicable in situations where data of the type collected during a standard biological study of a fish stock are available. Such data include values for a range of parameters, such as those describing growth and the reproductive biology of a species, and age composition data (numbers at each age) determined from fish samples. The model is well suited to recreational scalefish fisheries and some small-scale commercial fisheries for scalefish.

Our MSE model consists of an "operating model" (for a single fish species in a single area) which simulates a range of processes within the fish population and keeps track of the numbers of fish of each sex, at each length and age over time. It also contains an "observation model" which generates age and length composition sample data (with error), an "assessment model" which produces information about the state of the fish stock based on estimates of mortality, and a decision-making model that simulates how changes to management are chosen.

The model can simulate data for fish species with differing biological characteristics, such as longevity and level of recruitment variability (that is, variation in numbers of fish born in different years that survive to become large enough to enter into the fishery). The relative impacts of several management controls commonly used for scalefish line fisheries (bag and boat limits, minimum legal lengths for retention, temporal and spatial closures, catch quotas and effort reductions) are simulated, taking into account post-release mortality and, for several controls, level of fisheries compliance.

The operating model estimates the effects of any existing management controls on the stock given a specified initial exploitation state. After a specified period of time (simulation projection period), it then assesses the effects of any changes to the initial management.

The assessment model produces a range of stock assessment information, including values from mortality and per recruit analyses. The program then combines this with additional subjective information about various potential risk factors to the stock, in what is sometimes referred to as a "weight-of-evidence" framework. This approach is based on the one currently being adopted by the Department of Fisheries, Western Australia, for managing data-limited scalefish fisheries.

A key focus of the project was to design an effective, user-friendly interface for the MSE program. A series of workshops involving undergraduate university students, and researchers and managers were held during the project. In these workshops, participants interacted with the software by "pulling the various management levers" according to their views as to which management actions were most appropriate, given their perceived state of the fish stock after assessing information provided by the program.

The management decisions made by the students who participated in the workshops were logged by the computer and then analysed. The results demonstrated that the students, who had limited background in fish stock assessment, made both predictable and logical decisions. As would be expected if they understood the information provided by the program, students made different decisions depending on the biology of the fish species in question, and the level to which a fish stock was experiencing fishing pressure. The results suggest that the program could be an effective tool for communicating stock assessment information to people without a strong background in fisheries science.

We used MSE to explore the effectiveness of different sampling strategies and assessment methods for two species with different biology, and assuming different levels of recruitment variability for each species. The sample size required to reliably estimate total mortality varied between species and type of analysis used. One commonly used type of analysis (linear catch curve analysis) was shown to underestimate total mortality for a short-lived species, regardless of sample size. Another type of analysis (relative abundance analysis), which takes variability in recruitment into account, overestimated total mortality for a long-lived species, unless the sample size was relatively large. Some recommendations are provided as to how the reliability of these types of analyses might be improved. Recruitment variability was shown to lead to less precise mortality estimates, which, in turn, is likely to impact on the precision of any stock assessment advice given to managers.

We also used the model to explore the effectiveness of different management controls for different fish species. Depending on a range of factors, some controls were more effective than others for reducing mortality. Post-release mortality was shown to be particularly important for influencing the effectiveness of several of the controls. Although, on average, recruitment variability is not likely to impact on the effectiveness of management, at any particular time, the consequences of applying some controls is likely to be more variable when recruitment variability is high. The MSE software has been developed in Visual Basic.net, employing shell procedures to AD Model Builder for catch curve analysis procedures (for rapid optimisation). The program is freely available for download as an .exe file from http://www.cffrfisheriesmodelling.net/mse.htm, together with the various data input files required to run the program. No additional software (other than a standard Windows operating environment) is required for running the MSE program. Instructions on how to download and run the program are provided in Chapter 2.

Program development and improvement of the MSE model will continue for at least the next 2.5 years during a FRDC project that commenced in November 2010. During this new project, a spatial component will be built into the model to enable more robust assessment of overall mortality in populations of fish species which exhibit size-related offshore movements.

KEYWORDS: Management strategy evaluation, age-based monitoring, mortality estimates, scenario testing, Monte Carlo analysis, recruitment variability.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We wish to express our gratitude to Dr James Scandol for reviewing our initial project application. Dr Scandol provided us with many excellent ideas on developing effective tools for communicating stock assessment information and for using MSE to explore the effectiveness of alternative science and management options. We thank Drs Brent Wise and Brett Molony (Department of Fisheries, WA), Kane Moyle (RecFishWest) and Richard Stevens and Felicity Horn (WAFIC) for valuable feedback and discussion during the project. We appreciate the advice of Dr Fiona Valesini (Murdoch University) and Prof Bob Clarke (Plymouth Marine Laboratory, UK) on the use of multivariate statistics for analysing data produced during scenario testing student workshops. Thanks to the many others from the Department of Fisheries, RecFishWest, WAFIC and Murdoch University for kindly attending our computer workshops on MSE and providing us with feedback on the program. Further thanks to students at Murdoch University for allowing us to use the data they produced during scenario testing workshops. We thank the FRDC for giving us the opportunity to undertake this study.

CHAPTER 1: General introduction

BACKGROUND

The management strategy evaluation (MSE) approach

It is now widely understood that past failures to adequately account for the many uncertainties inherent in fisheries has been a major contributing factor to the often poor performance of fisheries management (*e.g.* Ludwig *et al.*, 1993; Hilborn, 1997). However, substantial progress has been achieved towards developing stock assessment approaches that account for such uncertainties (Butterworth *et al.*, 1997; Cooke, 1999; Peterman, 2004), made possible by rapid advances in computer technology (Schnute *et al.*, 2007). One approach, in particular, has received considerable attention among fisheries stock assessment scientists. Referred to as management strategy evaluation (MSE) or harvest strategy evaluation, this approach involves using computer simulation to assess the likely performance of alternative options for managing fisheries resources (Smith, 1994; Punt, 2008). MSE has been recognised as a valuable tool for helping managers and other fishery stakeholders reach agreement when formulating new management plans for fisheries (Smith, 1993; Schnute *et al.*, 2007).

As outlined by Smith et al. (1999), MSE involves

- (1) clearly specifying the management objectives to be achieved,
- (2) turning the specified objectives into quantitative performance indicators that can be readily measured,
- (3) specifying alternative strategies for managing the fishery,
- (4) evaluating the effectiveness of each management strategy using Monte Carlo simulation methods, and

(5) effectively communicating the results of the evaluation to decision-makers in a way that lays bare the trade-offs in performance of alternative strategies across the specified management objectives.

An important feature of the MSE approach is that, when assessing the effectiveness of alternative management strategies, MSE attempts to consider the whole management system, from monitoring strategies, through to stock assessment and implementation of management (Dichmont *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore, MSE emphasises the need to identify and model key uncertainties during the evaluation process and to determine how these might influence the robustness of alternative strategies for satisfying the management objectives (Smith, 1993; Smith *et al.*, 1999). To determine which management strategies are likely to be most successful, performance measures (analogous to reference points used in stock assessments) are commonly specified as quantifiable targets or limits (Sainsbury *et al.*, 2000).

The MSE framework

The main characteristic of the MSE simulation framework is that it distinguishes between the true state of a natural system and that perceived through monitoring and assessment (Kell *et al.*, 2005; Dichmont *et al.*, 2006). The true system is represented by an operating model, which simulates the dynamics of the fish stock and its fishery, as well as interactions between them (Butterworth & Punt, 1999; Rademeyer *et al.*, 2007). An operating model needs to be sufficiently complex to capture the key aspects of the simulated system and to reflect the underlying reality, but must also allow the consequences of contrasting hypotheses about the true dynamics of the system to be evaluated (Kell *et al.*, 2007). This is especially important in situations

where relevant data may be limited or lacking, which is true for many recreational fisheries and minor commercial fisheries.

The various processes contributing to management of a fisheries resource are collectively referred to as "management strategies" (Sainsbury *et al.*, 2000; Dichmont *et al.*, 2006). In general, a management strategy consists of

- an observation model that simulates monitoring and collection of data from the fish stock and its associated fishery,
- (2) an assessment model which analyses the data to assess the state of the fish stock relative to specified reference points, and
- (3) a decision rule that is used to adjust management, given the perceived state of the resource based on the stock assessment information.

The latter element of the management strategy also commonly includes an implementation model that simulates the effects of chosen management actions on the resources and the fishery (Sainsbury *et al.*, 2000). An outline of the typical framework for MSE and its core components is illustrated in Fig. 1.1.



Fig. 1.1. Schematic overview of the MSE model framework and the different components of the operating model and the management strategy. Modified from Kell *et al.* (2005) and Dichmont *et al.* (2006).

MSE and dealing with uncertainty

MSE can be applied to address all major sources of uncertainty in fisheries, including process, observation, parameter, model and implementation error (Francis & Shotton, 1997). For example, process error resulting from variability in annual recruitment of fish species can be considered as deviations about an expected mean value estimated using some form of stock-recruitment relationship (Punt & Smith, 1999; Kraak *et al.*, 2008). Observation error can be accounted for in simulations by including various sources of uncertainty about how well sample data represent the real population (*e.g.* Polacheck *et al.*, 1999), or, as is more common, by describing measurement uncertainty associated with inaccurate and imprecise recording of data, such as for the ages of fish (Fulton *et al.*, 2005; Kell *et al.*, 2006).

Parameter uncertainty is often dealt with in MSE simulations by using Monte Carlo simulation methods to draw random values from probability distributions for different parameters or processes and evaluating the performance of management strategies for different combinations of parameter values (*e.g.* McAllister *et al.*, 1994; Kell *et al.*, 2006). Uncertainty in model structure can be assessed, for example, by comparing predictions generated using alternative operating models that have different underlying assumptions about dynamics of the fish stock (Butterworth & Punt, 1999; Dichmont *et al.*, 2006). Implementation error, which relates to the potential unknown consequences of management, *i.e.* because the effectiveness of management changes can be influenced by a large number of factors, including behavioural responses of fishers, has less often been explored using MSE (Butterworth & Punt, 1999). Examples of MSE evaluations that have evaluated the effects of implementation error are studies that have accounted for uncertainties associated with high-grading and discarding of fish (Punt *et al.*, 2005).

Past experience in the use of MSE

The MSE approach has been applied successfully to a number of fisheries worldwide (*e.g.* Punt *et al.*, 2002; Kell *et al.*, 2005). In Australia, for example, the Australian Fisheries Management Authority (AFMA) has used this approach when assessing fisheries for Southern Bluefin Tuna, eastern tuna and billfish, Eastern Gemfish, Orange Roughy, and sharks (Smith *et al.*, 1999). It has also been applied to managing other types of fisheries resources, such as prawns (*e.g.* Dichmont *et al.*, 2006) and abalone (Prince *et al.*, 2008). Furthermore, MSE has been increasingly applied in fisheries management to achieve ecosystem objectives (*e.g.* Sainsbury *et al.*, 2000).

Because MSE is relatively demanding of resources, in terms of the time and expertise required for model development as well as data requirements (Smith *et al.*, 1999), use of the approach to date has mainly been restricted to relatively large-scale commercial fisheries (*e.g.* Polacheck *et al.*, 1999; Punt *et al.*, 2005; Dichmont *et al.*, 2006). MSE models produced for such fisheries are typically not well suited to the types of data available for smaller scalefish fisheries around Australia and, in particular, for recreational fisheries. Due to the limited availability of, and difficulty of obtaining, reliable long-term CPUE data for such fisheries (Hall, 2005), stock assessments often rely heavily on equilibrium-based models such as catch curve analyses to estimate mortality from age composition data (*e.g.* Wise *et al.*, 2007). Although such stock assessment methods are relatively simple, evaluation of alternative management strategies for recreational fisheries is likely to be more complex because, unlike most commercial fisheries, they often employ a mixture of different input and output management controls for regulating exploitation, including bag and boat limits, size restrictions, temporal and spatial closures, and others.

An added dimension to the management of many Australian fisheries is that several state agencies use qualitative weight-of-evidence arguments in their advice to fisheries managers. In the recent case of the demersal scalefish fishery in Western Australia, for example, mortality estimates produced by catch curve analysis were combined with gualitative information regarding levels of risk associated with various identified threats to fish stocks in advice given to managers (Wise et al., 2007). For MSE models to be more informative for such fisheries, it could be argued that they should be able to incorporate this type of weight-of-evidence information. Moreover, the traditional MSE framework designed to evaluate simulation-tested decision rules may not be particularly well suited to the procedures by which a number of Australia's fisheries are managed. For many Australian recreational fisheries, management decisions are made via review processes rather than according to pre-agreed modifications to catch or effort, as specified by a decision rule. The value of MSE for such fisheries for informing management (and engaging stakeholders) could thus be enhanced if models were designed to capture this reality, *i.e.* by allowing managers and stakeholders to explore the consequences of various combinations of management controls themselves over different time scales.

A factor that may be limiting more widespread use of MSE is that fisheries managers and other stakeholders with non-technical or non-science based backgrounds may be reluctant to adopt the approach because of its inherent complexity (Smith *et al.*, 1999; Rochet & Rice, 2009). Development of MSE models that are valuable to smaller-scale, data-poor fisheries presents a major challenge. Such models need to be able to provide robust and reliable stock assessment advice and effectively communicate this information to stakeholders with a wide range of backgrounds and levels of fisheries knowledge and experience.

Recruitment variability

This project was developed in response to a concern expressed by representatives of the Department of Fisheries, Western Australia, RecFishWest and WAFIC that recruitment variability poses a significant threat to the sustainability of fisheries for scalefish in WA. Recognition by the Western Australian Government that some fish stocks in the state are now over-exploited led the Minister in November 2007 to close the commercial fishery for several demersal scalefish species in waters between Lancelin (~ 130 km north of Perth) and Mandurah (~ 70 km south of Perth). More recently, a number of management changes were introduced to the recreational fishery for these species in waters between Kalbarri (~ 590 km north of Perth) and Augusta (~ 320 km south of Perth). These include a two month closure, tighter bag and boat limits, compulsory possession of release weights when fishing, and a "recreational fishing from boat licence" (Department of Fisheries, Western Australia, 2010).

The fact that people should be concerned about the implications of recruitment variability is well supported by the scientific literature. The research highlights that recruitment variability can indeed pose a significant threat to fish stocks, particularly if they are heavily exploited. For example, Koslow (1989), as cited by Koslow *et al.* (2000), noted that "highly autocorrelated recruitment variability increases the risk of stock collapse if fishing reduces the number of mature age classes below the interval between good recruitment events". Furthermore, if episodic recruitment occurs, Koslow *et al.* (2000) advise that "elimination of the older mature year classes may significantly impair the population's ability to withstand extended periods of poor recruitment". Similarly, Leaman and Beamish (1984) suggest that "age truncation will be most detrimental when reproductive success is highly variable, since stock

maintenance may be dependent on the relative stability of reproductive output that results from a broad spectrum of age classes." Berkeley *et al.* (2004) advise that "age truncation, the removal of older age classes via fishing, occurs even at moderate levels of exploitation." An added concern is that recruitment variability is predicted to increase at low levels of population size (Myers, 2001).

Recruitment variability potentially has a number of important implications for fisheries management. For example, traditional management approaches, such as those based on the principal of a "spawn at least once policy" for protecting stocks from over-fishing (Myers & Mertz, 1998; Myers, 2001), may be inadequate for stocks which experience high levels of recruitment variability. It would thus be important for researchers and management controls is influenced by recruitment variability. Recruitment variability also has important implications for the reliability of stock assessments. For example, Koslow *et al.* (2000) point out that "assessment models assuming a mean annual recruitment to the population with random (*i.e.* non-autocorrelated) variability around that mean are inappropriate", *i.e.* as fishing poses a greater risk to stocks with highly-autocorrelated recruitment variability (Koslow, 1989). An understanding of which stock assessment approaches are compromised most by recruitment variability would be of benefit to both scientists and managers.

This project aimed to provide a generic MSE tool applicable to fisheries for which assessments rely heavily on mortality estimation using equilibrium-based methods such as catch curve analysis. Model development has focused on designing and testing the effectiveness of the program interface for communicating stock assessment information to people with potentially limited fisheries background and

experience. The MSE model has been used to undertake Monte Carlo simulations to explore the implications of recruitment variability for different stock assessment and management approaches for two fish species that differ markedly in biology (West Australian Dhufish, *Glaucosoma hebraicum* and Tarwhine, *Rhabdosargus sarba*).

NEED

Although methods exist for predicting the likely outcomes of alternative management strategies when sufficient data exist to allow fitting of traditional fishery dynamics models, such data are lacking for many smaller-scale fisheries. Indeed, this situation is true of most recreational scalefish fisheries throughout Australia. For these fisheries, current stock assessments typically rely strongly on collection of age composition data and mortality-based estimation of stock status using simple, equilibrium-based models. The outputs of these assessments are sometimes combined with subjective information about factors that can place the fish stock at increased risk, and presented as advice to management in a "weight-of-evidence" framework.

The Department of Fisheries, Western Australia, RecFishWest, WAFIC, and the WA FRAB recognised an urgent need to assess the implications of variable recruitment for key demersal scalefish species in south-western Australia and to respond appropriately when developing management plans. Generic computer simulation tools and operating models (*i.e.* models that represent our best understanding of the fish stock and fishery) are required to assist in determining the most appropriate scientific responses (*i.e.* monitoring programs and analyses for producing reliable age-based assessments) and management responses (*i.e.* appropriate harvest

control strategies). There is also an important need to develop tools to help facilitate effective communication of the outcomes of uncertain stock assessments (which are likely to be compromised by recruitment variability) to fishery stakeholders with varied backgrounds and experience.

OBJECTIVES

- (1) Develop a generic management strategy evaluation framework capable of generating (through simulation) age composition data and results from catch curve analyses for species with a range of different life history characteristics (including different levels of recruitment variability), displaying these for decision-making in a weight-of-evidence framework (based on that currently being used in WA), accepting the resulting decisions and simulating the consequences of those decisions.
- (2) Explore and advise on the effectiveness of alternative scientific, management and communication approaches to the types of data generated for species with a range of life history characteristics (including different levels of recruitment variability) considered by the management strategy evaluation framework, based on the results of scenario testing and use of Monte Carlo methods.

CHAPTER 2: Introduction to the MSE model

OVERVIEW OF MODEL

The MSE model developed in this study is designed to evaluate the outcomes of alternative options for scalefish stocks. The model is relevant to (the many) Australian fisheries for which assessments are based on mortality estimates derived through fitting catch curves to age composition data. It is a single-species and single-area, sex-, length- and age-structured model that can simulate the effects of a range of fisheries management controls, including those commonly applied to recreational fisheries (*i.e.* bag and boat limits, a minimum legal length for retention, and spatial and temporal closures). A proportional reduction in effort control and a quota control have also been added to the model, thus making it relevant to some other fisheries (including some commercial fisheries).

The model adopts an annual time step which is assumed to start midway through the main period of spawning of the fish species. The sequence of events undertaken by the model in each simulation run begins with an initialisation step to determine the initial state of the exploited fish stock under an existing management regime. Users of the program can then assess, from a range of stock status information provided by the model, the state of the fish stock at this initial state, after which changes to the existing management can be introduced. After a second assessment of the stock undertaken at the end of a specified simulation projection period, the outcomes of the management change can be evaluated.

In accordance with the general MSE framework, as summarised in Chapter 1, the model consists of two core components, namely the operating model and the

management strategy. The operating model simulates the population dynamics of the fish stock and estimates the effects of management controls on fishing effort and catches taken by the fishery. The management strategy can be described as a combination of an observation model applied to sample the simulated population, an assessment model used to determine the state of the stock, and the decision-making model that simulates how management changes are chosen and implemented.

In a traditional MSE, the decision-making component of the management strategy consists of a decision rule, which specifies how management should be modified given the perceived state of the fish stock relative to a set of specified reference points. Such a specification allows the MSE to be run as a "closed loop" (Walters, 1998) as the decision-making process is internal to the MSE framework and can be automated. The application of such a fixed decision rule is based around a feedback loop in which the management of the fishery is automatically adjusted at set intervals, e.g. every five years over a total, specified projection period. This approach does not recognise, however, that the management of many fisheries, including many recreational fisheries in Australia, is often infrequent and undertaken at irregular intervals, and that decisions are usually based on the outcomes of a review process rather than according to a fixed decision rule. Our MSE model enables the user to decide on which combination of management controls is to be applied during a single, specified projection period, or alternatively, for fishing mortality to be adjusted according to a fixed decision rule.

The operating model constitutes a single-species model and thus assumes that, for the species being studied, no explicit interactions with other species influence the dynamics of the fishery. The simulated fish population is considered as a single,

spatially homogenous entity and it is assumed that fishers are randomly distributed across the total area of the fishery. The model keeps track of the relative numbers of fish by age, length and sex, and describes the key dynamic biological processes characteristic of the simulated fish stock, such as recruitment, growth and mortality. It also explicitly accounts for the probability of sex change in functionally hermaphroditic fish species, thus making it applicable to both gonochoristic (separate sexes) and hermaphroditic fish species, including protogynous (female to male sex change) and protandrous hermaphrodites (male to female sex change).

The operating model simulates the combined effects of various input and output management controls on the exploited resource. These include (1) a boat limit, (2) a bag limit, (3) a minimum legal length for retention, (4) a temporal closure, (5) a spatial closure, (6) a proportional effort reduction control and (7) a catch quota. The model recognises the possibility that fish can experience post-release mortality (from hooking or barotrauma-related injuries caused when fish are rapidly brought to the surface from depth), or that they may die because of high-grading by fishers.

A detailed specification of the mathematical formulations underlying the MSE model is provided in Appendix 3.

INSTALLING AND USING THE MODEL

The MSE program (available as an .exe file) and all files required to run the software can be downloaded freely from <u>http://www.cffrfisheriesmodelling.net/</u>. The steps required to download the software are as follows. (1) Right-click on the website link for the MSE program and save it somewhere on the computer (*e.g.* the desktop).

(2) Open the .zip file and copy the folders MSEDataFiles and MSEResultFiles directly to the C drive.
(3) Copy the folders called Scenarios and Results onto the desktop.
(Note that the above folders can be placed elsewhere on the computer, but the directory pathways will need to be specified each time the model is run).
(4) Install the MSE program on the computer by clicking on the MSE.exe file.

The MSEDataFiles folder contains all of the data files required to run MSE simulations. Within MSEDataFiles are folders called DefaultSpecies, TestSpecies, Species1 and Species2, each of which contain three .txt files, namely SpeciesParameters.txt, SimulationParameters.txt and ManagementParameters.txt. The folder called DefaultSpecies (and Species1) contain parameter values to run simulations for West Australian Dhufish (*Glaucosoma hebraicum*), whilst TestSpecies and Species2 contain parameters for Yellowfin Whiting (*Sillago schomburgkii*) and Tarwhine (*Rhabdosargus sarba*), respectively. MSEDataFiles also contains folders named CatchCurveAnalyses and FinalCatchCurveAnalyses containing the data files required to run the different types of catch curve analysis available within the program. The MSEResultFiles folder is used to store all outputs from model simulations, including length and age composition data, levels of recruitment for different year classes, estimates of fishing mortality and the results of per recruit analyses. Note that this folder is initially empty (until simulations have been run).

The MSE program can be run in two modes, a normal "MSE simulation mode" or a "scenario testing mode" (*i.e.* for workshop/student class situations). When running normal MSE simulations, the model inputs data from the files contained within the DefaultSpecies folder. The MSE model can be used to run simulations for essentially any species for which relevant data are available. The user can change parameter

values using either the MSE program interface (after data have been read in), or by modifying the .txt files in the DefaultSpecies folder. Note that the program does not allow for changes in the layout of the .txt files (*i.e.* the order of parameters and spacing).

When in scenario testing mode, the user is presented with two options, to run either a "preliminary test trial" or a "scenario trial." The preliminary test trial represents a single scenario for a fishery (using data entered from the TestSpecies folder). It is intended that the user can run this scenario repeatedly to be able to familiarise themselves with the program and the effects of different management controls, before continuing to run other scenario trials. By default, the program contains 12 different fishery scenarios, *i.e.* it considers two fish species (using data files in the folders Species1 and Species2), three initial levels of exploitation and two levels of recruitment variability. The data files that specify aspects of the fishery scenarios are contained within the folder named Scenarios. The order in which the 12 scenarios are run is specified in the file called MSE.txt. Scenarios can be run multiple times by repeating the number for a particular scenario on several lines within MSE.txt. The file TrialNum.txt maintains a count of the scenarios that have been completed so that the next scenario can be read in correctly. To re-run all scenarios, delete the values in this file except the 0 on the first line, leaving the cursor at the start of the next line before saving. The scenarios (*i.e.* fish species, initial level of exploitation and level of recruitment variability) can be modified by altering the other three .txt files in the Scenarios folder.

The steps required to run model simulations are described below, with examples of the various user screens.

M	anagement Strategy Evaluation
Single species, sin	gle area, age- length- and sex-structured operating model
	Centre for Fish and Fisheries Research
	Beelopment Corporation
	Run MSE Run scenario simulations testing

 The above introductory screen appears when the MSE program is first opened. To use the program to undertake MSE simulations for research purposes, press "Run MSE simulations". To run the program in scenario testing mode, press "Run scenario testing".

-					
Sot corroc	t path directories to begin simu	altions			
Serconec	r patri directories to begin sind	laiuons			
	Dathwave for MSE simulation				
	Faulways for MSE simulation				
	MSEDataFiles folder		MSEResultFiles folder		
	C:\MSEDataFiles	Browse	C:\MSEResultFiles	Browse	
				Se	et new pathways
					as default

2. Prior to commencing any type of simulation, the MSE program completes a check to ensure that the directories to all folders with required data files can be found. If they cannot be located, the above form appears to enable the correct directories to the folders containing these files on the computer to be specified. Press "Set new pathways as default" to return to the introductory screen.

Ν	lanagement Strategy Evaluatio	on
	Enter the username you have been provided MSE Simulation trial type Select trial type Preliminary test trial Scenario trial	

3. This screen appears only when the program is run in scenario testing mode (or the simulation proceeds directly to step 4). Enter the letters "MSE" as the username and click "Next". Select either "Preliminary test trial" or "Scenario trial" before proceeding to read in data for the simulation.

Species				Sex ratio				Fecundity param	eters	
	Dhufish		?	Proportion of females at	birth	0.5	?	a 10.432	b (.0841 ?
Reproductive strat	egy			Sex change parameter	rs			Gear selectivity	parameters	
	Gonochoristi	c	?	150 (mm)			?	,	Females	Males ?
Maximum age				L95 (mm)				L50 (mm)	456	456
Maximum age (years)	41	?	Maximum proportion of te	rminal sex			L95 (mm)	661	661
Growth parameter	s			Maturity parameters				Barotrauma		
	Females	Males	?		Fomalos	Males	?	Probability of deat	h after release	0.4 ?
L infinity (mm)	929	0 111		L50 (mm)	331	324		High-grading par	ameters	
K (year-1)	0.141	0.050		L95 (mm)	509	454				
Tzero (years)	-0.141	-0.052						Proportion of fisher	s complying	0.8
StDev L infinity (mm)	20			Recruitment paramet	ers			Probability of fish b that would be high-	eing of a size graded	0.2 ?
StDev k (year-1)	0.02			Virgin recruitment (1000'	s of fish)	100	?			
StDev Tzero (yeras)	0.02	!		Steepness of S-R curve		0.7				
StDev Length at age	5			Recruitment variability Stochastic						
l ength-weight para	meters			Recruitment variability le	vel	0.3				

4. Read in the required biological parameter values for the species by pressing "Read parameters" and then continue by clicking the "Next" button (which appears when the data have been read in by the program).

Simulation parameters			Fish	ing pa	arameters				Management para	meters		_
Base year	2000	?	Pro	b of re	lease due to	bag/boat limit	0.01	?	Type of analysis	Monte Carlo ana	lysis 👻	?
Simulation period (years)	40	?	Initi	al mea	an catch with I	ag/boat limits	1	?	Effort creep		No 👻	
Trials for different recruitment series	1	?	Ma	ximum	daily catch		100	?	% annual effort incre	ase	0 -	
Trials for each set of recruitment series	1	?	Ma	ximum	number of fis	hers on boat	10	?	Implementation erro	r	No 🗸	
Poience ontions for monitoring			Re	lative e	efficiency per	additional fisher	0.9	?	% implementation e	rror	0 -	
Number of sampling years	2	• ?	Di	stributio	on for numbe	offishers on boa	ats	?				
Sample size per year	1000	?			Number of fishers or boat	f Percentag of boats	ge		Catch curve analy	sis	1 •	?
Cost of science				•	1	10			Beference points			
Cost of sampling (per fish)	\$ 13.02	?			2	25				Target	Limit	?
Cost of processing and	\$ 20.50	?			4	10			F (prop of M)	0.667	1	
ageing (perfish)		_		_	5	4			SPR (SSB/R)	0.4	0.3	
Total cost	\$ 67040				7	0			SPR (EPR)	0.4	0.3	
ength interval for onesies					8	0			Effectivence of to	mporal elecure		
engui intervarior species		_		*	10	0			Electivitess of te			2
Length interval	50	?							D50 effectiveness of	ftemporal closure	0.3	
			Рор	ulatio	n equilibru	im fishing ma	ortality		D95 effectiveness of	f temporal closure	0.8	
			-				0.15	2				

5. Read in the parameters which specify aspects of the simulation by pressing "Read parameters". Click "Next" to proceed.

Proportion of effort		
1		
Management controls		
Boat limit 4 ?		
Bag limit		
Minimum legal length (mm) 500		
Temporal closure No closures		
Spatial closure	Progress of simulation for initial stock status	
Apply catch quota		

6. Press "Read parameters" to read in the values for the management controls being applied to the fish stock in its initial state. If in normal MSE simulation mode, these parameters can be changed by selecting desired values from the available lists for each control. To proceed, click "Run initial assessment" to produce information about state of the stock prior to the projection period.

Iortality estimates		
Initial state of stock		
P Total mortality (Z)	imate St Dev 251 0.011	View age composition of stock
 Prob F > F limit 	150	View length composition of stock
 Prob F > F target Prob within 10% F target 	0	View catch curve analysis results
	2 Reference points	View per recruit analysis results
	F target 0.067 F limit 0.101	View risk assessment information
	Manage the fishery	

7. Once the initial state of the stock has been determined and an assessment undertaken, the results of catch curve analysis are presented, as shown in the above screen. The user can view additional information about the initial stock state by selecting from the buttons to the right of the form (see steps 8 to 12).

Initial state of stock Initial state of stock	took ananant an				
Initial state of stock	ock assessment re	suits - Age compositions			
Penales Males	Initial st	ate of stock			
2 Reference age 13 2 Reference age 13 % of fish above reference age Initial state 17.6		²⁰⁰ 7		Females Males	
Age (years) % of fish above reference age		度 150- 5 100- 2 50-			? Reference age 13
Initial state 17.6			20 30 Age (years)	40	% of fish above reference age
					Initial state 17.6
					Back
Back					Dack

8. Example of age composition sample data. Note, if multiple years of samples are specified in the form containing the simulation parameters, data shown on this form are pooled for the different years. To return to the previous screen, select "Back".



9. Example of length composition sample data. To return to the previous screen, select "Back".





- 10a. Example of a catch curve analysis plot for a linear catch curve (Ricker, 1975) fitted to the natural logarithms of the frequencies of fish at age in sample data. Several other forms of catch curve analysis are available within the program.
- 10b. Example of a plot showing the results of relative abundance analysis, an extended form of catch curve analysis (Deriso *et al.*, 1985). This form of analysis requires at least two years of sample data.

YPR		
Initial state Females Males Estimate 544 693	800 600 total lead 1978	YPR - Yield per recruit SPR - Spawning potantial ratio SSB/R - Spawning stock biomass per recruit E/R - Eggs per recruit
Prob F > F max 0.99 Prob F > F targ 1 Prob F within 10% 0 F 0.1 0	400 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	YPR Ftarget = F 0.1
SPR (SSB/R) Initial state		F limit = F max SPR (SSB/R) F target = F 40%
Females Males Estimate 0.257 0.239 Prob F > SPR limit 0.99 Prob F > SPR target 1 Prob F > SPR target 0	E 0.8 0.4 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.4 0.5 0.7 0.9 0.7 0.9 0.7 0.9 0.7 0.9 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8	F lint = F 30% SPR (E/R) F target = F 40% F limt = F 30% Color indicators for graphs
SPR (E/R) Initial state		Point estimate < Target ref point
Estimate 0.0% Prob F > SPR limit 1	- Eige Pre Narout ■ Inno E St Big 0.8 - Big 0.8 -	Point estimate > Limit ref point
Prob F > SPR target 1 Prob F within 10% SPR target 0		Back

11. Example of results of per recruit analyses, including estimates of yield per recruit and spawning potential ratio (based on spawning biomass per recruit and egg per recruit).

Risks determined	from mode	l outpi	uts		Risk matrix	Likelihood
	Initial state	,			Consequence	1. Never 2. Remote
Source of risk	Likelihood	Consec	quence	Risk	Likelihood 1 2 3	4 5 3. Unlikely
? Fishing mortality	5 🗸	4	•	High		4 5 4. Possible 8 10 5. Occasional
		2			3 3 6 9	12 15 6. Likely
? YPR	4 •	3	•	Minor	4 4 8 12	16 20 20 25 Consequence
? SPR (SSB/R)	4 🔹	5	•	High	6 6 12 18	24 30 1. Negligible 2. Low
						2 Madamia
? SPR (EPR)	5 👻	5	•	Extreme	Modified from Fisheries Occasion No. 25 (2005), Department of Fisi	eries, WA 5. Moderate eries, WA 4. High
? SPR (EPR)	5 🗸	5	•	Extreme	Modified from Faheries Occasion No. 25 (2005). Department of Fai	I Publication 5. Moderate eries, WA 4. High 5. Extreme
3 SPR (EPR)	5 -	5	•	Extreme	Modified from Fisheries Occasion No. 25 (2005), Department of Fish	I Publication 5, Moderate eries, WA 4. High 5. Extreme
SPR (EPR) Risks not consider Source of risk	5 •	5 el	•	Extreme	Modified from Fabrices Occasion No. 25 (2005). Department of Fab	I Publication 5. Moderate eries, WA 4. High 5. Extreme
SPR (EPR) Risks not consider Source of risk Spawning behavi	5 • •	5 Likelil	• hood (Extreme Consequence	Risk Overall assessment of risk	I Publication 3. moderate erice, WA 4. High 5. Extreme
 SPR (EPR) Risks not consider Source of risk Spawning behavi 	5 •	5 Likelil 4	+ hood (Extreme Consequence	Risk Overall assessment of risk	I Publication 3. Moderate eries, WA 4. High 5. Extreme
SPR (EPR) Source of risk Spawning behavi Larval dispersal	5 v	5 Likelil 4 2	+ hood (-	Consequence	Risk Overall assessment of risk oderate Maximum possible % increase to overall risk score due to risk 20	I Publication 3. Moderate eries, WA 4. High 5. Extreme
SPR (EPR) Source of risk Spawning behavi Larval dispersal of adults	5 v	5 Likelil 4 2 6	hood (Consequence	Risk Overall assessment of risk Addied from Taberies Occasion No. 25 (2005). Department of Fill Risk Deferate Maximum possible % increase to overall risk score due to risk factors not considered by model	I Publication 3. Moderate eries, WA 4. High 5. Extreme
 SPR (EPR) Risks not consider Source of risk Spawning behavi Larval dispersal Distribution and m of adults Susceptibility to e 	5 v red by mod our novement nvironmental	5 lel Likelil 4 2 6	+ hood (-	Consequence	Risk Overall assessment of risk addreate Maximum possible % increase to overall risk score due to risk factors not considered by model Initial state	I Publication 3. Modelae eries, WA 4. High 5. Extreme
SPR (EPR) Source of risk Spawning behavi Larval dispersal of adults Susceptibility to e change/habitat de	5 v red by mod our novement nvironmental agradation	5 lel Likelil 4 2 6 2	hood (Consequence	Risk Overall assessment of risk oderate Maximum possible % increase to overall risk score due to risk factors not considered by model	I Publication 3. Moderate eries, WA 4. High 5. Extreme

12. Example of results from a risk assessment for the stock in its initial state, based on mortality-based model outputs and other risks not considered directly by the model (assessed subjectively). Note that risks associated with subjective criteria are added to risks calculated from mortality estimates (see below for more details on risk calculations).

Nortality estimates		
Initial state of stock		
	Estimate St Dev	View age composition
? Total mortality (Z)	0.251 0.011	of stock
? Fishing mortality (F)	0.150	
? Prob F > F limit	1	View length
Drob E > E torget	1	composition of stook
		View catch curve
Prob within 10% F target	0	analysis results
	Reference points	View per recruit analysis results
	Etarget 0.067	
		View risk assessment
	F limit 0.101	information
	Manage the	

13. After viewing information about the initial state of the fish stock and returning to the "Stock assessment summary" screen, click on the "Manage the fishery" button.

roportion of effort			
1			
lanagement controls			
Boat limit			
Bag limit 1 ▼ ?			
Minimum legal length (mm) 500 • ?			
Temporal closure 6 month closure			
Spatial closure No closures			
Apply catch quota No quota			

14. Change none, some or all of the values for management controls and click "Run final assessment" to run the simulation over the specified projection period and produce information about the stock in its final state.

Initial state of stock		Final state of stoc	k		
 ? Total mortality (Z) ? Fishing mortality (F) ? Prob F > F limit ? Prob F > F target ? Prob within 10% F target 	Estimate St 0.251 0 0.150 1 1 0	Dev 1011 Total mortality (Z) Fishing mortality (F) Prob F > F limit Prob F > F target Prob within 10% F target	Estimate 0.157 0.055 0 0.048 get 0.249	St Dev 0.007	View age composition of stock View length composition of stock View catch curve analysis results
	2	Reference points target 0.067 limit 0.101			View per recruit analysis results View risk assessment information

15. Example of information produced by catch curve analysis for the stock in its initial and final state. Additional information about the stock in its final state are presented in steps 16-20.



16. Example of age composition sample data for the stock in its initial and final state.



17. Example of length composition sample data for the stock in its initial and final state.



18a. Example of linear catch curve analysis plots for the stock in its initial and final state.



18b. Example of relative abundance analysis plots for the stock in its initial and final state.



19. Example of results of per recruit analyses for the stock in its initial and final state.
| Risks determined | from mo | lel out | puts | | | | | | | | | Risk ma | trix | | | | | Likelihood |
|---|--|-------------|---------|--|--|------------------|---------|--------|--------|---|--|--|--------------------------|---------------------|--------------------|------------------------|--------------|----------------------------|
| | Initial st | ite | | | | Fina | l state | , | | | | | Cons | equen | се | | | 1. Never |
| O anno a Criata | 1.1 | 1.0 | | Dist | | | | | | | | Likelihood | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 3. Unlikely |
| Source of risk | Likelino | a Cons | equence | RISK | | Likel | ihood | Consec | quence | Risk | _ | 1 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 4. Possible |
| ? Fishing mortality | 5 | • 4 | • | High | - | 1 | • | 4 | • | Negligible | • | 2 | 2 | 4 | 6 | 8 | 10 | 5. Occasional
6. Likely |
| 2 VDD | 4 | - 3 | • | Minor | | 1 | • | 3 | • | Negligible | | 3 | 3 | 6 | 9 | 12 | 15 | 0. 2100 |
| | | | | WIIIO | • | | | | | regligible | | | 5 | 10 | 15 | 20 | 25 | Consequence |
| ? SPR (SSB/R) | 4 | - 5 | - | High | - | 1 | • | 5 | - | Negligible | • | 6 | 6 | 12 | 18 | 24 | 30 | 1. Negligible |
| | | | | _ | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 2. Low
3. Moderate |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ? SPR (EPR) | 5 | - 5 | • | Extreme | - | 3 | • | 5 | - | Moderate | • | Modified fro
No. 25 (20 | m Fishe
35), Dep | ries Oci
artment | casiona
of Fish | al Public
neries, V | cation
NA | 4. High |
| SPR (EPR) Risks not conside | 5
ered by m | , 5
odel | • | Extreme | • | 3 | • | 5 | • | Moderate | • | Modified fro
No. 25 (20 | ım Fishe
35), Dep | ries Oci
artment | casiona
of Fish | al Public
neries, V | va
VA | 4. High
5. Extreme |
| PSPR (EPR) Sisks not conside Source of risk Spawning behav Larval dispersal Distribution and n
of adults Susceptibility to e
channehabitat di | 5
ered by m
iour
novement
environment | Detel | elihood | Extreme
Conseque
4 •
4 •
4 • | Ri Mode Minor High Minor | 3
sk
erate | • | 5 | O | Moderate | sessn
possible
isk scor
conside
Initia | Modified fr
No. 25 (20)
ment of risl
a % increase
e due to risk
ered by model
al state | m Fishe
15), Dep
K | ries Ocr
artment | casiona
of Fish | al Public
heries, V | ation
NA | 4. Hgh
5. Extreme |
| SPR (EPR) Risks not conside Source of risk Spawning behavior Larval dispersal Distribution and of adults Susceptibility to e change/habitat d | 5
ered by m
iour
novement
environment
legradation | Dedel | elihood | Extreme
4 •
4 • | Ri Mode Minor High Minor | 3
sk
erate | • | 5 | Ō | Moderate
verall as:
Maximum n
factors not
Score (/30) | Sessn
possible
isk scor
conside
Initia | Modified fr
No. 25 (20)
ment of risl
a % increase
e due to risk
ered by model
al state | Final :
10. | 20
state
0 | of Fish | al Public | ation
WA | 4. Hgh
5. Extreme |

20. Example of risk assessment information for the stock in its initial and final state.

Notes on risk assessment approach

The methods used by the MSE program to provide risk assessment information are adapted from those described for an ecological risk assessment for Western Rock Lobster (Department of Fisheries, Western Australia, 2009). The levels of risk that various identified potential "hazardous events" pose to a fish stock are estimated according to the likelihoods of those events occurring and the levels of consequence of their occurrence. The likelihood of an event occurring is given a score ranging from 1 (=Never) to 6 (=Likely), and the level of consequence of an event is given a value ranging from 1 (=Negligible) to 5 (=Extreme). The product of the two values provides a risk score for each hazard (see risk matrix in figure above).

For hazardous events that relate to fishing mortality-based reference points (as assessed by the MSE assessment model using catch curve and per recruit analyses), the likelihood of an event occurring is calculated as follows:

$if P(F > F_{limit}) = 1$	6. Likely
if $P(F > F_{\text{limit}}) > 0.5$	5. Occasional
if $P(F > F_{\text{limit}}) > 0$	4. Possible
$if P(F > F_{target}) = 1$	3. Unlikely
if $P(F > F_{\text{target}}) > 0.5$	2. Remote
$if P(F > F_{target}) = 0$	1. Never

where *P* refers to the probability of *F* exceeding the specified reference point. Likelihood scores for those hazardous events not calculated from catch curve or per recruit analyses are assessed subjectively. For all hazards, scores for the levels of consequence are subjectively assigned a value.

The risk scores for the hazardous events associated with fishing mortality are then averaged, as are also those for other identified hazards. An overall risk score is calculated by adding the average for the hazards associated with catch curve and per recruit analysis results to 20% of the average risk value for other identified hazards.

Note that this risk assessment approach was implemented very recently and that the results of the next chapter (from our scenario testing study) are based on an earlier version of the program without this analysis.

CHAPTER 3: Exploring the effectiveness of a fisheries modelling tool for communicating stock status information: a scenario testing study

INTRODUCTION

Fisheries management revolves around making choices (Hilborn & Walters, 1992). In theory, this involves managers or decision-makers making choices about which of a range of alternative possible management arrangements for a resource is most likely to achieve a set of specified management objectives (Punt & Hilborn, 1997; Lackey, 1998). To help ensure that appropriate choices are made, it is fundamentally important that decisions are based on the best available information about the current state of the resource being managed (Hilborn, 2003). Traditionally, the information on which fisheries management is based is that resulting from scientific stock assessments, provided to decision-makers in the form of fisheries management advice (Hilborn & Walters, 1992; Punt, 2008).

Conventional approaches to fisheries stock assessment are typically resourceintensive, largely because of the amount of data required for analyses (Hilborn & Liermann, 1998). To optimise use of available data, which for many fisheries come in a variety of forms, fisheries scientists frequently apply a range of statistical approaches in their analyses (Hilborn & Liermann, 1998; McAllister *et al.*, 2001). As a consequence, stock assessments commonly produce a wide range of complex outputs and results, each of which may be dependent on different assumptions. The main concern with this is that the complex and sometimes conflicting stock status information presented as advice to decision-makers is often used in an *ad hoc* manner, which can lead to poor management outcomes (Walters & Maguire, 1996).

Recognition of the limitations of traditional stock assessment approaches for dealing with uncertainties in fisheries led to the development of management strategy evaluation (MSE) (Smith, 1994). This simulation approach is used to predict the likely effectiveness of alternative management strategies before they are implemented, and thereby improve the likelihood of achieving desired management objectives (Sainsbury *et al.*, 2000; Kell *et al.*, 2007). MSE has been recognised for its potential value as a vehicle for involving not only scientists and management process (Smith *et al.*, 1999). Indeed, the adoption of such collaborative and participatory management systems has been argued by many as an important step forward for improving decision-making in fisheries (de la Mare, 1998; Kaplan & McCay, 2004; Johnson & van Densen, 2007).

One issue that may be acting to restrict the application of MSE to a broad range of fisheries throughout the world is that, because of its complexity, fishery stakeholders may struggle to fully understand the implications of MSE model outputs (Rochet & Rice, 2009). Lack of effective communication between scientists and other stakeholders has repeatedly been highlighted as one of the greatest challenges to successful fisheries management (de la Mare, 1998; Peterman, 2004). In a review of the role of MSE in the implementation of the Australian Fisheries Management Authority (AFMA) partnership approach, Smith *et al.* (1999) discuss the difficulties encountered with managers sometimes being reluctant to accept MSE as playing a major role in management because of its inherent technical complexity. The challenge is thus to develop robust models that are effective in communicating relatively complex stock assessment advice to people who may range broadly in background, fisheries knowledge and technical experience. If such tools can be

developed, they should go a long way towards bridging the communication gap between science and management.

Although stock assessment advice ideally should be based on the results of many carefully designed simulations, there is considerable benefit from developing computer programs that allow the stakeholders to "pull the management levers" and thereby allow them to act as "fisheries managers" (Hilborn & Walters, 1992; Butterworth *et al.*, 1997). Simulation gaming has been used widely as a tool for natural resource management (Barreteau *et al.*, 2007), particularly as a means for promoting discussion among stakeholders and for facilitating problem-solving. Simulation models can be excellent for providing simplified and easily understood representations of naturally complex systems and, as a result, the use of such models has also proven useful for teaching and training purposes (Martin *et al.*, 2007).

The two main objectives of this study were as follows:

- (1) Design an effective and user-friendly program interface for our MSE simulation model so that it can potentially be used for a range of purposes, including education and for helping facilitate stakeholder involvement in fisheries management processes. As described in previous chapters, the MSE model is designed for fisheries that are relatively data-limited, but for which sufficient biological data are available to enable mortality-based assessments (using equilibrium approaches) and future predictions of stock status.
- (2) Undertake a scenario testing study with university students using the MSE model to explore the effectiveness of the program for conveying stock status

information, and assess whether certain types of information have any influence on their decision-making.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Overview of scenario testing procedures

The study involved running two computer workshops in which participants were asked to use the MSE program. Participants were presented with 12 fishery scenarios and were required to decide how to best manage the (simulated) fish stocks, given the management control options made available to them. The workshops were attended by 23 science students at Murdoch University, including nine undergraduate students in an initial workshop and 14 postgraduate students in a second workshop. At the start of both workshops, each participant was randomly assigned to a computer on which the MSE software had been installed. Prior to starting the exercise, the students were provided a brief (approximately 20 minute long) presentation about MSE and an outline of the computer workshop procedures.

The scenario testing exercise involved the participants viewing a range of information presented to them via the MSE program interface, from which they were required to assess the state of the simulated fishery, and then decide how to manage that fishery by pulling various "management levers". The alternative management controls for regulating exploitation included a bag limit, a minimum legal length for retention, a temporal closure and a spatial closure. Once participants had entered their management decisions for a scenario (by changing none, some, or all of the different controls), a second assessment of the stock was then undertaken by the program at

the end of the specified simulation projection period. Feedback was then provided to participants on the success of their management choices, including information about the stock at its final exploitation state and a score, calculated according to how well their management arrangements had met the specified management objective, *i.e.* how closely the final fishing mortality was to the target level of 2/3 of the natural mortality. All participants repeated the above-described procedure 12 times, *i.e.* with the scenario for the fishery differing on each occasion.

Prior to initiating the scenario testing exercise, students were asked to undertake a set of preliminary runs (for a single scenario not included in the experiment) to familiarise themselves with the program and its outputs. They were instructed to take as much time as they needed on these preliminary runs before commencing the scenario testing exercise (typically 30 minutes). Although the workshops were scheduled to run for three hours, all students completed the 12 scenarios within about 2 hours and thus time did not constrain the extent to which students could spend assessing information before making decisions.

Design of program interface for scenario testing

The different screens of the program interface (see Chapter 2) provided users with a wide range of information. This included details about the biological characteristics of the simulated fish species, parameters describing various aspects of the simulation procedures (*e.g.* the projection period) and the initial values of the management controls specified for the simulated stock (Tables 3.1 and 3.2), as well as information about the state of the simulated stock. The stock assessment information provided to participants included age and length composition data from a specified sample of

Species parameters	Glaucosoma hebraicum	Rhabdosargus sarba
Reproductive strategy	Gonochoristic	Gonochoristic
Maximum age (years)	41	11
von Bertalanffy growth parameters		
L_{∞} female (mm)	929	290
k female (mm)	0.111	0.59
t_0 female (mm)	-0.141	0.12
L_{∞} male (mm)	1025	290
k male (mm)	0.111	0.59
t_0 male (mm)	-0.052	0.12
Standard deviation of L_{∞} (both sexes)	20	20
Standard deviation of k (both sexes)	0.02	0.05
Standard deviation of t_0 (both sexes)	0.02	0.05
Standard deviation of length at age (both sexes)	5	10
Length-weight parameters		
а	0.0000259715	0.000038822
b	2.9308711000	2.846243544
Sex ratio (proportion female at birth)	0.5	0.5
Maturity		
L_{50} female (mm)	331	177
L ₉₅ female (mm)	509	192
L_{50} male (mm)	324	170
L ₉₅ male (mm)	454	196
Recruitment		
Virgin recruitment (1000s of fish)	100	100
Steepness of stock-recruitment curve	0.7	0.7
Recruitment variability, $\sigma_{\ln R}$	*	*
Correlation for one year lag	0.3	0.3
Fecundity parameters		
a	10.432	5.0025
b	0.0841	17.557
Selectivity/vulnerability to capture		
L_{50} female (mm)	456	198
L_{95} female (mm)	661	235
L_{50} male (mm)	456	198
L_{95} male (mm)	661	235
Probability of post-release mortality	0.4	0.05
Probability of fishers complying	0.8	0.9
Probability of a captured fish being of a size that is high-graded	0.2	0.2

Table 3.1. Biological parameters applied to simulations for the two fish species considered in the scenario testing study.

* dependent on the scenario, see table 3.3

Simulation parameters	Glaucosoma hebraicum	Rhabdosargus sarba
Simulation projection period (years)	20	10
Number of simulation trials (recruitment series)	1	1
Number of trials per recruitment series	1	1
Sample size (number of fish)	1000	1000
Interval for length classes (mm)	50	20
Initial equilibrium fishing mortality (years ⁻¹)	*	*
Catch curve analysis	Linear	Linear
F-based reference points		
F target (proportion of M)	0.667	0.667
F limit (proportion of <i>M</i>)	1	1
SPR (SSB/R) target	0.4	0.4
SPR (SSB/R) limit	0.3	0.3
SPR (E/R) target	0.4	0.4
SPR (E/R) limit	0.3	0.3
Probability of release due to bag/boat limit	0.01	0.01
Initial mean catch with bag/boat limit (number of fish)	1	2
Maximum daily catch of fishers (number of fish)	100	100
Maximum number of fishers per boat	10	10
50% effectiveness of temporal closure	0.3	0.3
95% effectiveness of temporal closure	0.8	0.8
Distribution for the numbers of fishers on boats	# of	% of
	tishers	boats
	2	10 <i>%</i>
	2	25%
	5 4	10%
	5	4%
	6	1%
	7-10	0%
	7 10	070
Management parameters	Glaucosoma hebraicum	Rhabdosargus sarba
Bag limit (fish trip ⁻¹)	4	8
Minimum legal length, MLL (mm)	500	230
Temporal closure (% of year closed to fishing)	0%	0%
Spatial closure (% of area closed to fishing)	0%	0%

Table 3.2. MSE simulation parameters and initial management parameters applied to simulations for the two fish species considered in the scenario testing study.

* dependent on the scenario, see table 3.3

fish, estimates of mortality and plots from catch curve analysis, estimates of yield per recruit and spawning potential ratios (in terms of both spawning stock biomass per recruit and egg per recruit), and plots showing the relationship between these three outputs and fishing mortality. Note that three of the information screens presented in Chapter 2 have recently been modified to include information about the uncertainty around point estimates obtained from catch curve and per recruit analyses and to improve the way in which risk assessment information is presented by the program. The three original information screens presented to participants of the scenario testing workshops are shown in Fig. 3.1.

Several features have been built into the MSE program to make it sufficiently robust and user-friendly to be applied in workshop situations where participants may have no previous experience with the model and/or limited fisheries background knowledge. When the program is set to "scenario testing mode", users are unable to change any of the input parameter values, and the alternative values for each management control are limited to a feasible range. Access to the various procedures and information screens is also tightly controlled so that analyses are undertaken in the correct order. To ensure that all information required for each program procedure is entered correctly, the buttons within the program interface that activate particular procedures or allow the user to navigate between program screens are only made visible when needed for the next step in the simulation procedure. To help users understand the information presented to them, help buttons have been added next to each of the boxes containing input and output parameters, explaining their meaning and relevance to the MSE procedure.



Fig. 3.1. Three of the stock status information screens that were presented to participants of the scenario testing workshops, in their original, pre-modified format.

Experimental design

To evaluate how different ways of communicating stock status information to participants influences decision-making, two alternative versions of the MSE program were used in the study. These were installed on computers located at opposite sides of the computer lab and differed only in the amount of information presented to users about the state of the fish stock. One version included a screen summarising various risks to the simulated stock, based on the outputs of the MSE program and on other risk information not considered directly by the model. These other risk categories, which were assessed subjectively (by us), included susceptibility of each species to fishing depending on their type of spawning behaviour, larval dispersal, distribution and movements of adults, susceptibility to environmental change/habitat degradation and the degree to which the fish species is targeted by fishers. This risk information is similar to that considered in the weight-of-evidence approach currently used by the Department of Fisheries, WA, for the assessment of scalefish species (Wise *et al.*, 2007).

Three different factors were considered within the 12 scenarios undertaken by each participant (Table 3.3). Each scenario represented (1) one of two fish species simulated using the operating model (see below), (2) one of three alternative initial levels of exploitation of the fish stock (low, moderate and high), and (3) one of two levels of variability in recruitment of the fish population (no recruitment variability and low recruitment variability, *i.e.* with the standard deviation of the natural logarithm of recruitment, $\sigma_{\ln R}$, set to 0 and 0.3, respectively).

Scenario number	Fish species	Level of exploitation (F)	Recruitment variability (σ _{ln R})
Scenario 1	Glaucosoma hebraicum	Low (0.02)	None (0)
Scenario 2	Glaucosoma hebraicum	Low (0.02)	Low (0.3)
Scenario 3	Glaucosoma hebraicum	Moderate (0.08)	None (0)
Scenario 4	Glaucosoma hebraicum	Moderate (0.08)	Low (0.3)
Scenario 5	Glaucosoma hebraicum	High (0.16)	None (0)
Scenario 6	Glaucosoma hebraicum	High (0.16)	Low (0.3)
Scenario 7	Rhabdosargus sarba	Low (0.15)	None (0)
Scenario 8	Rhabdosargus sarba	Low (0.15)	Low (0.3)
Scenario 9	Rhabdosargus sarba	Moderate (0.35)	None (0)
Scenario 10	Rhabdosargus sarba	Moderate (0.35)	Low (0.3)
Scenario 11	Rhabdosargus sarba	High (0.55)	None (0)
Scenario 12	Rhabdosargus sarba	High (0.55)	Low (0.3)

Table 3.3. Factorial design applied to scenario testing study, describing the 12 simulation scenarios completed by participants.

The two fish species considered for the scenario testing exercise, namely West Australian Dhufish (*Glaucosoma hebraicum*) and Tarwhine (*Rhabdosargus sarba*), differ markedly in their biological characteristics. For example, the much largergrowing *G. hebraicum* can attain a maximum age of 41 years (Hesp *et al.*, 2002) whilst the shorter-lived *R. sarba* only reaches a maximum age of about 11 years (Hesp *et al.*, 2004). The order of the 12 scenarios completed by each workshop participant was randomised to ensure that they were unable to work together and that any potential effects of learning associated with continued use of the program on results of the analysis was minimised. The values of the management measures selected by the participants were logged by the program at the end of each scenario run and automatically saved to .txt files for later analysis.

Statistical analysis

Non-parametric multivariate analyses of data were undertaken using the PRIMER version 6 software package (Clarke & Gorley, 2006) with the PERMANOVA+ add-on module (Anderson *et al.*, 2008) to explore the null hypothesis of no significant differences between the suite of management decisions made by participants (1) during the two scenario testing workshops, (2) using the two alternative program versions, or (3) when undertaking the 12 scenarios. The data recorded for the 276 samples, *i.e.* values for the four management controls chosen by each participant in each scenario, were first subjected to normalisation to overcome differences in the units of measurements of the different variables of interest. A resemblance matrix, constructed between all pairs of samples and using Euclidean distance as the resemblance coefficient, was calculated from the normalised data and displayed using non-metric multi-dimensional scaling (nMDS) ordination.

Firstly, to obtain an overview of the main effects on the management decisions made by participants of the three key factors considered in the analysis (*i.e.* workshop, program version and scenario), and to detect any interactions between these, the above-mentioned Euclidean distance matrix was subjected to Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance (PERMANOVA; Anderson, 2001; McArdle & Anderson, 2001). Following this preliminary analysis, a second PERMANOVA was undertaken to determine, in more detail, the influence on decision-making of the three factors considered within the scenarios undertaken by participants (*i.e.* fish species, initial level of exploitation, and level of recruitment variability of the simulated fish stock). Any potential interactions between these scenario factors were also assessed. All factors in the above analyses were considered to be fixed, and the null hypothesis of no significant differences among the various groups was rejected if

 $p \le 0.05$. The components of variation attributed to each factor considered in the PERMANOVA tests were used to determine their relative importance for explaining the overall variation in the data (Anderson *et al.*, 2008).

When PERMANOVA detected significant differences among either of the main effects, Analysis of Similarities tests (ANOSIM; Clarke & Green, 1988) were then used to examine those differences in more detail. Two-way crossed ANOSIM tests were applied when significant interactions between factors were detected, whereas one-way ANOSIM tests were used when no interactions were detected. For each ANOSIM test, the null hypothesis that there were no significant differences in the suite of management decisions among factor groupings was rejected when $p \le 0.05$. The relative extent of any significant differences was assessed using the R-statistic, *i.e.* values close to 0 indicate little difference between groups, while those close to +1 indicate large differences between groups (Clarke & Green, 1988).

When ANOSIM pair-wise comparisons detected a significant difference between management decisions, Similarity Percentage analysis (SIMPER; Clarke, 1993) was used to determine which of the management controls (*i.e.* the bag limit, MLL, temporal closure or spatial closure) contributed most consistently to the observed effects, *i.e.* those which had relatively high dissimilarity to standard deviation ratios. Furthermore, Permutational tests of Multivariate Dispersions (PERMDISP; Anderson, 2006) were undertaken to identify any differences in the extent of dispersion within groups of samples representing the various levels of those factors for which significant differences had been detected. The null hypothesis of no difference in dispersion within different groups was rejected if the value of *p* was \leq 0.05.

RESULTS

The preliminary PERMANOVA indicated that there was no significant difference between the management decisions made by participants during the two scenario testing workshops or between those using the two alternative versions of the MSE program (p > 0.05; Table 3.4). However, PERMANOVA did detect a significant difference between the management choices made for the different scenarios undertaken by participants (p = 0.001; Table 3.4). PERMANOVA detected no significant interactions between any of the three factors considered in this preliminary analysis (Table 3.4). As PERMANOVA did not detect a significant difference between the management choices in the two workshops, for subsequent analyses, the data from the two workshops were pooled.

Table 3.4. Results of the preliminary PERMANOVA on the data for management decisions made by participants during the scenario testing workshops, including mean squares (MS), pseudo F-ratios, significance levels (p) and components of variation (COV). df = degrees of freedom. Significant results are highlighted in bold.

Factors	df	MS	Pseudo F	p	COV
Main effects					
Workshop (W)	1	4.347	2.575	0.060	0.020
Program version (P)	1	0.390	0.231	0.887	-0.010
Scenario (S)	11	57.87	34.28	0.001	2.583
Two-way interactions					
W × P	1	3.644	2.158	0.105	-0.030
W×S	11	1.408	0.834	0.726	-0.026
P×S	11	1.546	0.916	0.582	-0.013
Three-way interactions					
W×P×S	11	0.931	0.551	0.977	-0.139
Residual	228	1.688			1.688

The second PERMANOVA undertaken to further explore differences in decisionmaking among scenarios undertaken by participants showed significant differences between the management choices made for the two fish species (p = 0.001, Table 3.5) and for the different initial levels of exploitation for the simulated stock (p =0.001, Table 3.5). No difference was detected between management decisions made for scenarios with different levels of recruitment variability (p > 0.05, Table 3.5). PERMANOVA demonstrated a significant interaction between species and level of exploitation (p = 0.001; Table 3.5). However, the relatively low components of variation for that interaction term indicates that it accounted for far less of the total variability in the data set than did differences in species and level of exploitation (Table 3.5).

Table 3.5. Results of PERMANOVA on the data for management decisions made by participants for the different scenarios undertaken, including mean squares (MS), pseudo F-ratios, significance levels (p) and components of variation (COV). df = degrees of freedom. Significant results are highlighted in bold.

Factors	df	MS	Pseudo F	p	COV
Main effects					
Species (S)	1	362.5	218.4	0.001	2.615
Level of exploitation (F)	2	132.7	79.93	0.001	1.424
Level of recruitment variability (R)	1	3.436	2.070	0.103	0.013
Two-way interactions					
S × F	2	10.62	6.397	0.001	0.195
S × R	1	0.961	0.579	0.602	-0.010
F × R	2	3.097	1.866	0.086	0.031
Three-way interactions					
S × F × R	2	1.039	0.626	0.687	-2.698
Residual	264	1.660			1.660

The nMDS plots provided good two-dimensional representations of the similarities and dissimilarities between the different factor groupings, *i.e.* all stress values were 0.09, indicating ordinations with minimal distortion of data in order to fit the required dimensions (Clarke & Warwick, 2001). As was also confirmed by the preliminary PERMANOVA (Table 3.4), there was no separation of the management decisions made by workshop participants using the two different model versions (Fig. 3.2). However, when management decisions were separated according to the different factors considered for the fishery scenarios, nMDS plots showed distinct clustering of data points for the two different fish species, and for the three different levels of initial exploitation of the fish stock (Fig. 3.3a,b). In contrast, when scenarios were separated according to the two different levels of recruitment variability specified for the simulated fish stocks, there was no tendency for data points to cluster (Fig. 3.3c).



Fig. 3.2. nMDS ordination plot of management decisions made by users of the two alternative versions of the MSE program, with Model A presenting the additional weight-of-evidence summary screen, and Model B displaying outputs from the model only.

(a) Fish species



(b) Level of exploitation



(c) Recruitment variability



Fig. 3.3. nMDS ordination plots of management decisions made by participants for the different scenarios, when separated by (a) fish species, (b) level of exploitation, and (c) recruitment variability.

Two-way crossed ANOSIM tests confirmed that, when comparing management decisions made for scenarios, significant differences were detected for the two fish species (p = 0.001, R = 0.77), and for the different levels of exploitation (p = 0.001, R = 0.37). Pair-wise comparisons of management choices made by participants for scenarios of the three different exploitation levels were all significant (p = 0.001), with values for R ranging from 0.24 (when comparing scenarios for low and moderate levels of exploitation) to 0.58 (when comparisons were made between scenarios for low and high levels of exploitation).

For the two significant factors, *i.e.* fish species and initial level of exploitation, twoway crossed SIMPER analysis employing these factors showed that the MLL control made the most consistent contribution to the average dissimilarity between decisions made for the two fish species, followed by that for the bag limit control. When scenarios for low *vs* moderate and low *vs* high initial exploitation were compared, SIMPER showed that the control consistently most responsible for the observed differences in management decisions was again the bag limit. For the comparison between scenarios for moderate and high exploitation, SIMPER showed that the four management controls made similar contributions to the observed differences in management decisions.

PERMDISP showed that the levels of dispersion among management decisions made by participants undertaking scenarios for the two fish species were similar (p > 0.05, t = 0.309). This was also the case between decisions for scenarios of low and moderate initial levels of exploitation (p > 0.05, t = 0.329). However, decisions were significantly more varied for scenarios for initially heavily exploited fish stocks

compared with lightly exploited stocks (p = 0.001, t = 6.404) and moderately exploited stocks (p = 0.001, t = 5.903), as also shown by the nMDS plot (Fig. 3.3b).

DISCUSSION

Effectiveness of the program for communicating stock assessment information The results of this study showed that the management decisions made by the workshop participants (science students at Murdoch University) exhibited a strong tendency to vary between scenarios. In particular, participants made different decisions between the scenarios for the two fish species and those for different initial levels of exploitation. The management choices made by participants during the workshops for the different scenarios were logical, indicating that the program interface was effective for communicating stock assessment information to the workshop participants. For example, the results showed that decisions varied far less when exploitation was low (*i.e.* when the stock was in a healthy state) whereas, as would be expected, decisions were far more variable in situations where there was a strong need for management changes to reduce exploitation. Given that the workshop participants received limited training in how to use the model before undertaking the scenario testing exercise, and as many would have had limited prior knowledge of fisheries stock assessment, this suggests that the program has potential for communicating stock status information to people of varying background. Focus is next turned to exploring which factors are likely to be important in developing software for conveying stock assessment information and how the design of the scenario testing experiment and program interface may have influenced the management decisions made by the workshop participants.

Important model design features for developing effective communication tools As pointed out by Mathevet *et al.* (2007), when designing a computer simulation model for communicating information to stakeholders it is important to find an appropriate balance between simplification and realism. For complex systems, simplification is often required to facilitate stakeholder understanding of the various processes that influence the dynamics of the system. Realism (*i.e.* in terms of how well the model represents the system and the data used to inform the model) is equally important to the process as it allows stakeholders to project their newly acquired understanding back into reality (Mathevet *et al.*, 2007).

To simplify use of the MSE program and make it more robust for use in stakeholder and educational workshops, various features have been added to the program. A number of these features restrict certain user "freedoms" when exploring the program. Thus, we disallowed access to change input data such as values of the biological parameters of the fish species, the initial management measures to which stocks were subjected prior to simulations, and parameters that specify other aspects of the simulations. We also limited the values that users could select for the different management controls to feasible ranges (*e.g.* a spatial closure can only constitute between 0 and 100% of the total area). Finally, we restricted the route by which participants could navigate through the program interface to a single pathway, thereby ensuring that they activated each of the various program procedures in the correct order and viewed all of the available stock assessment information.

In this study, we used "traffic light" colour indicators to draw the attention of participants to key stock assessment results and help communicate the significance of these for the conservation status of the fish stock. The use of reference point-

based traffic light indicators was originally developed by Caddy (1998; 1999) as a means of developing management approaches for those fisheries managers in developing countries with relatively limited expertise in population modelling (see also Caddy, 2002). As MSE is inherently complex, visual aids, such as the use of colour when presenting information, is likely to be particularly important for helping stakeholders without technical or scientific backgrounds interpret the risk implications of different stock assessment results.

Another feature that is likely to be important for facilitating understanding of the relevance of the various program parameters and outputs is the way in which "help" information is presented to users. In contrast to most other software, help buttons are distributed throughout the various screens of the interface adjacent to each parameter of interest. We elected to avoid making help information accessible only through a program menu search to eliminate the need for participants to check whether help was available for a particular aspect of the program through scrolling through a list and/or entering in a "search term" to find the relevant information.

Potential factors influencing decisions of participants

Although the results of the scenario testing experiment suggest that the program was effective in communicating stock assessment information, questions are raised as to the extent to which various factors may have influenced the decisions of the participants. For example, our efforts to simplify the use of the software by fixing the route by which participants can navigate through the program meant that stock assessment information was always accessed in a particular order, which potentially could have influenced the decisions made. It is thus possible, for example, that the additional weight-of-evidence information screen presented by one of the program

versions had limited impact on decisions because the screen containing that information was presented last when participants may have already made up their minds based on previously displayed information.

A second potentially important factor influencing decisions was that the initial management arrangements displayed to participants prior to each simulation differed for the two fish species (e.g. the MLL of 500 mm for *G. hebraicum* was greater than that of 230 mm for *R. sarba*). Although the different starting points for management of the two species undoubtedly influenced the decisions made, it would not have made sense to specify the same starting values for the MLL for the two species given that they attain very different maximum lengths. The alternative of not specifying any values for initial management controls would not have been realistic because most fish species are already subject to some particular management regime.

A third factor that would have influenced the decisions of the participants was the objective specified for the scenario testing exercise, *i.e.* for the stock to be in a "healthy" but productive state, as indicated by various reference points. Participants were continually reminded of this objective through the display of traffic light colour indicators for the various stock assessment outputs. The program further highlighted the objective by providing participants a score at the end of each scenario, calculated according to how close the final state of the exploited stock was to the target reference point for fishing mortality. Furthermore, if exploitation was well below the target reference point for mortality (F = 2/3M), participants were advised that the fishery was not productive, whereas if exploitation exceeded the limit reference point (F = M), feedback was provided that the stock was over-fished. As pointed out by Bertsche *et al.* (1996), an important element of computer simulation exercises is the

need for participants to feel challenged, so that at the end of each simulation they will not want to stop but rather continue to test the consequences of different actions and improve on their performance. Thus, although the feedback provided to participants may have influenced their decisions, this element is important for capturing and maintaining interest. Future work aimed at exploring the various factors that most influence decision-making of program users could focus on further scenario testing experiments in which certain factors discussed in this section of the discussion are manipulated.

Implications of scenario testing results for fisheries management and MSE

The results of the scenario testing experiment indicated that of the four available management controls (bag limit, MLL, temporal closure and spatial closure), workshop participants most consistently made changes to existing bag limits. They also suggested that, when participants perceived the stock to be heavily fished, they tended to apply a wider range of management changes, *i.e* as indicated by the different levels of dispersion of points on the nMDS plots for scenarios of different levels of fishing pressure, and PERMDISP results. Given that the workshop participants had limited (or no) prior experience in fisheries management and, being university students, may have had views regarding conservation that differ from people within the fishing industry and/or the broader community, to what extent might their decisions reflect the types of decisions made in real life situations?

Taking the recent experience in Western Australia of the recreational fishery for demersal scalefish in the West Coast Bioregion, for example, management initially consisted of bag and boat limits and minimum legal lengths for retention. However, as exploitation of these stocks became increasingly heavy, existing bag and boat

limits were tightened and a temporal closure and other measures, such as compulsory use of release weights, were introduced (Department of Fisheries, Western Australia, 2010). Although the decisions made by participants in the workshop resembled, to some extent, the pattern experienced by this particular fishery, the factors that influence management decisions in real life are complex and involve consideration of multiple and often conflicting objectives. Thus, in addition to the extent to which management changes may be needed (and recognised by all stakeholders), other factors such as the extent to which different stakeholders accept, or are opposed to, each of the different types of controls, will inevitably influence the types of management choices made by decision-makers. The influence of conservation and community groups on government policy regarding Marine Park planning, for example, is another factor influencing fisheries management.

The tendency for variability in management decisions among participants to increase as the initial stock state worsened is likely to reflect an increased difficultly for participants to predict the likely effects of management changes when a broader range of controls are used. Indeed, feedback from students who participated in the workshops indicated that they preferred to use controls that they thought they best understood and only tended to use the other (closure) controls when they considered that the situation demanded further action. It would appear likely that, to a certain extent, these decision-making behaviours do translate to real life situations. Obviously, as management arrangements become increasingly complex, the risk of unexpected consequences as a result of increased difficulty in being able to accurately predict their effects, will also increase. This point emphasises one of the great values of simulation in fisheries management, *i.e.* to explore the effectiveness

of alternative combinations of management controls and learn from mistakes in a risk-free, simulated environment (Bertsche *et al.*, 1996).

Value of scenario testing for facilitating stakeholder discussion and education

Lack of effective communication between scientists and other stakeholders has repeatedly been highlighted as one of the greatest challenges to successful fisheries management (de la Mare, 1998; Peterman, 2004). In this regard, MSE could provide a valuable tool for facilitating increased stakeholder participation in fisheries decisionmaking (Smith et al., 1999). This stems from the fact that simulation modelling has shown to be particularly valuable for problem solving in situations that involve many people or organisations whose actions need to be coordinated (Bertsche et al., 1996). In particular, it is recognised that by providing a vehicle for engaging industry in decision-making, simulation models can also play an important role in facilitating greater stakeholder understanding and trust in the fisheries management process. The approach is likely to also be vital to fisheries co-management initiatives, where government administrators act more as arbiters among interests within the general public than as decision-makers in the public interest (Beierle & Cayford, 2002). Indeed, it has been widely accepted that inclusion of stakeholders in fisheries decision-making can lead to better management outcomes by increasing the efficiency of enforcing regulations through a higher level of compliance (Jentoft & McCay, 1995; Mikalsen & Jentoft, 2001).

Given the great potential of MSE for facilitating more informed, co-operative and robust fisheries management decision-making, it is a concern that its use is being limited by the fact that stakeholders and managers with non-science or non-technical backgrounds often struggle with its complexity (Rochet & Rice, 2009; Smith *et al.*,

1999). However, indications from our scenario testing results are that, if well designed, simulation models based on the concept of MSE can be effective for conveying stock assessment outputs to an audience with widely varying backgrounds. We suggest that the approach taken in this study to develop our model, with the intent purpose of testing its effectiveness for communicating relatively complex information from stock assessments to people with little or no experience in stock assessment, is of great value when developing software for stakeholder use. We also conclude that, although it is possible to maintain model sophistication and the level of complexity needed for robust analyses, modification of various aspects of the interface when applying the model to workshop situations allows users to more easily use the software and interpret the results in a manner more intuitive to non-scientists.

CHAPTER 4: Implications of sampling design and species biology on the effectiveness of mortality-based stock assessments and management: a Monte Carlo simulation study

INTRODUCTION

A critical component of fisheries stock assessment is estimation of the instantaneous rate of total mortality, Z (*e.g.* Smith, 1990; Smith *et al.*, 2009). For fisheries where extended time-series of catch and effort data or abundance indices are not available, such as for many recreational fisheries, stock assessments typically focus on catch-at-age analyses based on age composition data for samples of fish (Deriso *et al.*, 1985; Jensen, 1985; Carlile, 2005). One of the most common approaches for estimating Z from age composition data is catch curve analysis. A simple and very widely used form of catch curve involves fitting a linear regression line to the logarithms of the frequencies-at-age of fish in samples for all ages above that at which individuals are fully recruited into the fishery (Ricker, 1975). In this analysis, it is assumed that the negative of the slope of the regression line corresponds to the instantaneous rate of total mortality (Ricker, 1975; Smith, 1990).

There are a number of different approaches to catch curve analysis and views among scientists about the appropriateness of the different methods are varied. Simple catch curve methods like that of Ricker (1975) have frequently been criticised because of the significant assumptions required about the underlying data, which can be extremely difficult to satisfy (Deriso *et al.*, 1985; Hilborn & Walters, 1992; Dunn *et al.*, 2002). Particularly challenging are assumptions relating to the population being in a steady state, such as that recruitment and mortality are constant with respect to time and age (Ricker, 1975; Jensen, 1984; Murphy, 1997). However, because of their

simplicity and data limitations for many fisheries (*e.g.* lack of abundance data), these approaches are still widely applied to many present day stock assessments for recreationally and commercially important fish species (Grandcourt *et al.*, 2008; Smith *et al.*, 2008; Griffiths, 2010). Researchers have attempted to deal with the issues of steady-state assumptions for catch curve analysis in various ways. For example, for species with high inter-annual recruitment variability, sample data collected over multiple years are often pooled to "smooth out" peaks and troughs in the age frequency distributions, thereby potentially reducing its impact on the analysis (Seber, 1973; Ricker, 1975). Others have explicitly accounted for recruitment variability by applying catch curve approaches that deal with individual year classes (*e.g.* Deriso *et al.*, 1985).

It has been frequently recognised that stock assessments based on age-structured catch data are highly dependent on the representativeness of these data (Sullivan *et al.*, 1994), yet this issue is often not well addressed. Although it is widely accepted that the precision of age data depends to a large extent on sample size (*e.g.* Campana, 2001), the high cost and significant resources required to sample exploited fish stocks will limit the amount of data available for stock assessment (Chen, 1996). To optimise the cost-effectiveness of age-based monitoring programmes, it is valuable to predict the likely effectiveness of different sampling strategies for yielding reliable mortality estimates (Aanes & Pennington, 2003). As the effectiveness of such monitoring programmes are likely to vary depending on the species and number of age classes present in samples (Brouwer & Griffiths, 2005), a tool enabling such analyses to be readily repeated for different situations would be of substantial value.

Recreational fisheries now account for a substantial component of the total retained catch of fish in many parts of the world (*e.g.* McPhee *et al.*, 2002; Cooke & Cowx, 2004). Unlike most commercial fisheries, recreational fisheries are generally open access (McPhee *et al.*, 2002) and this has important implications for management. To regulate catches, management of recreational fisheries usually relies on restricting the number of fish that are allowed to be retained by individual fishers (bag limits) and on boats (boat limits) during a fishing trip (Woodward & Griffin, 2003). Together with size limits such as minimum legal lengths for retention, and temporal and spatial closures, these management controls provide the most common forms of regulations for recreational fisheries (Woodward & Griffin, 2003).

As bag, boat and size limits can lead to substantial numbers of captured fish being released by fishers (because the maximum daily allowable limit for a species has been reached and/or because captured fish are too small to be legally retained), post-release mortality is likely to strongly impact on the effectiveness of these management controls (Woodward & Griffin, 2003). Although available evidence suggests that post-release mortality in some fish species can be substantial (*e.g.* Harley *et al.*, 2000; St John & Syers, 2005; Rudershausen *et al.*, 2007), few studies have evaluated the implications of this on the performance of management in recreational fisheries (Anderson, 1993; Homans & Ruliffson, 1999; Woodward & Griffin, 2003). To help ensure successful management outcomes, it would thus be of great benefit to understand its impact on the effectiveness of a range of commonly applied management controls for regulating exploitation.

The main aims of this study were to use Monte Carlo simulation methods to:

- (1) Determine the influence of sample size and sampling frequency on the effectiveness of two alternative equilibrium-based approaches to catch curve analysis for producing reliable estimates of mortality. We have investigated the efficacy of these stock assessment approaches for two species of fish that differ markedly in biology, and explored the consequences of assuming two different levels of recruitment variability for these species.
- (2) Explore the effectiveness of four different fisheries management controls common to recreational fisheries, *i.e.* a bag/boat limit, minimum legal lengths for retention (MLL), and temporal and spatial closures, for conserving the two fish species when low or high recruitment variability is assumed.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Overview of simulation procedures

Monte Carlo simulation methods were employed to (1) explore the influence of sampling design on the effectiveness of two alternative forms of catch curve analysis for estimating mortality and (2) evaluate the effectiveness of four alternative management controls for regulating exploitation of fish stocks. All computer simulations were undertaken using the management strategy evaluation (MSE) model developed in this study (see Chapter 2; Appendix 3). Simulations were conducted for two fish species that differ markedly in biology, namely the West Australian Dhufish (*Glaucosoma hebraicum*) and Tarwhine (*Rhabdosargus sarba*). The former of these species is large (maximum length of ~1.2 m) and can live for over 40 years (Hesp *et al.*, 2002), whereas the latter is far smaller (maximum length of ~400 mm) and lives to only about 11 years of age (Hesp *et al.*, 2004). For each

fish species, simulations were repeated for two levels of recruitment variability, *i.e.* a low level (by setting the standard deviation for the natural logarithm of recruitment, $\sigma_{\ln R}$, to 0.3), and a moderately high level ($\sigma_{\ln R} = 0.6$), assuming the same level of autocorrelation in all simulations (correlation for 1 year lag = 0.3).

Influence of sampling design and species biology on the effectiveness of catch curve analysis

Analyses exploring the influence of sample size and sampling frequency on the effectiveness of two alternative forms of catch curve analysis for estimating mortality involved: (1) using the MSE operating model to simulate the dynamics of exploited populations of the two fish species, (2) employing the MSE sampling model to generate multiple random age composition samples for the two species, (3) fitting each of the two different catch curves to the data to yield estimates of total mortality, *Z*, (4) estimating the level of fishing mortality, *F*, by subtracting the point estimate for natural mortality, *M*, (derived using Hoenig's (1983) equation for estimating *M*) from the catch curve estimates for *Z*, and (5) comparing the estimated values for *F* to the specified (true) values of this parameter for each species (*F* = 0.1 year⁻¹ for *G. hebraicum* and 0.4 year⁻¹ for *R. sarba*).

Age composition samples for each of the two species were generated by sampling from the expected numbers of fish at age in the simulated population (assuming a multinomial distribution). The results of each analysis undertaken to determine the influence of the different factors considered (*i.e.* sample size, sampling frequency, fish species and recruitment variability level) on the effectiveness of catch curve analysis were based on 100 sets of age composition samples generated with different recruitment series. To ensure that random effects did not influence the

results of any comparisons, the same 100 recruitment series were used for all factors by controlling the random number generator sequences applied to generate the age composition samples.

The effectiveness of two equilibrium-based catch curve methods for estimating mortality were explored. The first (CC1) was the linear catch curve of Ricker (1975), which assumes constant annual recruitment and constant mortality for all fish in the population above the age at full recruitment into the fishery (Fig. 4.1a). The second method (CC2) was relative abundance analysis (Deriso *et al.*, 1985, see also Hall *et al.*, 2004), which is an extended form of catch curve analysis that accounts for variable recruitment between years. As with CC1, constant mortality is assumed for all fully recruited fish (Fig 4.1b).

CC1 was fitted to 100 sets of simulated age composition samples of 500, 1000, 1500, 2000, 2500 and 3000 fish, collected during the year immediately prior to assessing the stock in its initial equilibrium state. The simulations were then repeated for all sample size categories, but fitting the catch curve to sample data collected during the two years, and then three years preceding the assessment (for the stock in its initial equilibrium state). For example, when a total sample of 1000 fish was drawn over two consecutive years, 500 samples were drawn from each of the ultimate and penultimate years leading up to the assessment. Note that when multiple years of data were used, the age samples for the different years were pooled before fitting the curve. CC2 can be fitted only if multiple years of age composition data are available and therefore this catch curve was fitted only to samples generated over two or three consecutive years. Although these multi-year data sets



Fig. 4.1. The two catch curve approaches explored in this study; (a) the linear catch curve analysis (Ricker, 1975), *i.e.* CC1, and (b) the relative abundance analysis (Deriso *et al.*, 1985), *i.e.* CC2. Note that both catch curves have been fitted to the same age composition data except that, for CC1, data sampled in different years have been pooled whereas they have been kept separate for CC2.
were the same as those generated for simulations with CC1, CC2 was fitted simultaneously to the separate data for the different sampling years (rather than to the data after it had been pooled for the different years, as for CC1).

For every set of 100 simulations undertaken for the various factors being considered, the median values for the F estimates produced by the catch curve analyses were calculated and plotted against sample size, together with the lower and upper quartiles, and minimum and maximum values (*i.e.* box and whisker plots). The accuracy and precision of the various F estimates were assessed by calculating the relative bias, B, and the coefficient of variation, CV, as

$$B = \bar{x} - x'/\bar{x}$$
$$CV = \bar{x}/\sigma$$

where \bar{x} is the mean of the 100 estimates for *F* produced by the catch curve analysis for each factor, x' is the corresponding true value for fishing mortality (as calculated by the operating model) and σ is the standard deviation for the estimated *F*.

Influence of species biology on the effectiveness of management controls

Simulations exploring the effectiveness of alternative management controls were undertaken for both fish species (*G. hebraicum* and *R. sarba*) and for the same two levels of recruitment variability considered above (low and moderately high). Four different management controls, all which are common to recreational fisheries, were evaluated; (1) a bag and boat limit, (2) a minimum legal length for retention, MLL, (3) a temporal closure, and (4) a spatial closure. See Appendix 3 for a detailed description of how each control has been implemented in the model. For each fish species and level of recruitment variability, a base case scenario was specified to

enable the population dynamics of each fish stock at an initial level of exploitation and management regime to be simulated. These base case scenarios represented the fish stocks experiencing a high level of fishing pressure but with some existing protection through fisheries regulation (*i.e.* bag/boat limits and a MLL for retention). The parameters used for the simulations are specified in Table 4.1 (see also Table 3.1 for values of biological parameters for the two fish species).

To evaluate the effectiveness of each management control, 100 simulations were undertaken for each of a range of specified values for that control, keeping values for all other controls the same as specified for the stock in its initial state (*i.e.* as those specified for the base case scenario). The effect of each management change on the true rate of mortality being experienced by the stock was assessed 10 years after the change had been implemented. For each fish species and level of recruitment variability, the state of the stock during the initial period was determined using a single generated set of recruitment strengths for the different year classes present in the stock. The potential influence of recruitment variability on the effectiveness of the various controls for regulating fishing mortality during the projection period was considered by generating 100 different sets of recruitment series for fish "born" during that period.

For each set of 100 simulation runs, the median values (and other statistics) of the true level of fishing mortality for the exploited stock at its final state (*i.e.* at the end of the 10 year projection period) were calculated and graphed. For the MLL and spatial closure controls, the total numbers of fish killed (*i.e.* all fish above and below the age at full recruitment into the fishery) in the final year of the projection period were also

Parameters	Glaucosoma hebraicum	Rhabdosargus sarba
Simulation period (years)	10	10
Number of simulation trials (recruitment series)	1	1
Number of trials per recruitment series	100	100
Initial equilibrium fishing mortality (year ⁻¹)	0.2	0.8
Initial mean catch with bag/boat limit (fish trip ⁻¹)	1	5
Initial management controls		
Boat/bag limit (fish trip ⁻¹)	5	20
Minimum legal length, MLL (mm)	500	240
Temporal closure (months of year closed to fishing)	0	0
Spatial closure (% of area closed to fishing)	0	0

Table 4.1. Parameters used in Monte Carlo simulations to explore the effectiveness of different management controls for regulating exploitation of the two fish species.

calculated and plotted. Note that, for this second component of the study focusing on the effectiveness of the different management controls, catch curve analysis was not employed because only the true values of fishing mortality being experienced by the fish stocks (*i.e.* as calculated by the operating model) were of interest.

RESULTS

Influence of sampling design and species biology on the effectiveness of catch curve analysis

Linear catch curve – low recruitment variability

For *Glaucosoma hebraicum*, the median value for the 100 estimates for fishing mortality, *F*, calculated by fitting a linear catch curve (CC1) to an age composition sample of 500 fish, collected in the year immediately prior to the initial assessment, was similar (0.091 year⁻¹) to the true value of *F* for the population (0.1 year⁻¹) (Fig. 4.2a). Likewise, the middle half of the observations (*i.e.* those between the upper and lower quartiles) were always relatively close to the true value. The same situation was true when CC1 was fitted age composition samples of 1000, 1500, 2000, 2500

Rhabdosargus sarba



Fig. 4.2. Influence of sample size and sampling frequency (1 yr – yellow, 2 yrs – blue, 3 yrs – orange) on (a,d) estimates of fishing mortality, F, (b,e) relative bias, B, and (c,f) CV for the two fish species when recruitment variability is low, using linear catch curve (CC1). In a and d, the lower and upper bounds of each box represents the lower and upper quartiles of F estimates, respectively (from 100 simulations). The line in the middle of each box indicates the median value for F and the lower and upper bars show the minimum and maximum values for F, respectively.

and 3000 fish. As sample size increased, the range of values for the estimates of F tended to decline. For example, when CC1 was fitted to an age composition sample for 500 fish, estimates ranged between 0.042 and 0.194 year⁻¹, whereas when the sample size was increased to 1500 fish, they ranged between 0.556 and 0.134 year⁻¹ (Fig. 4.2a). Spreading age composition samples over either two or three years did not lead to a conspicuously different trend to that observed when samples were taken from a single year (Fig. 4.2a). The similarity between the *F* estimates and the true value of *F* for *G. hebraicum* was reflected in low values for bias (ranging from -0.051 to 0.012) for all sample sizes and sampling frequencies (Fig. 4.2b). The *CV* values demonstrated that precision increased substantially as sample size increased from 500 to 1000 fish, and to a lesser extent with each successive increase in sample size thereafter (Fig. 1c). Sampling frequency had little effect on *CV* (Fig. 4.2c).

With *Rhabdosargus sarba*, CC1 always slightly underestimated *F*. For example, when fitted to samples of 500 and 3000 fish collected in one year, the respective median values for the *F* estimates (0.320 and 0.356 year⁻¹) were 20 and 11% less than the true value (0.4 year⁻¹) (Fig. 4.2d). As with *G. hebraicum*, the range of the estimated values for *F* (0.050 to 0.807 year⁻¹) was greatest when CC1 was fitted to the smallest age composition samples, *i.e.* for 500 fish (Fig. 4.2d). The tendency, for CC1 to yield underestimates of *F* for *R. sarba* regardless of sample size is reflected in the values for bias (based on the mean) always being negative (Fig. 4.2e). As with *G. hebraicum*, the *CV* declined conspicuously when sample size was increased from 500 to 1000 fish but showed little tendency to decline further with increasing sample size thereafter (Fig. 4.2f). Although, at each sample size, the estimates of *F* for *R. sarba* varied far more about the median value compared to *G. hebraicum*, (*cf.* Figs 4.2a,d), the *CV* values for the former species were only slightly higher

(*cf.* Figs 4.2c,f). As with *G. hebraicum*, different sampling frequencies had little effect on the accuracy and precision of mortality estimates except, to some extent, on precision at the smallest sample size (Fig 4.2).

Linear catch curve – high recruitment variability

When recruitment variability of *G. hebraicum* was high and CC1 was fitted to age composition samples for 500 and 1000 fish collected in one year, the median values for the *F* estimates (0.078 and 0.087 year⁻¹, respectively) were considerably less than the true value of 0.1 year⁻¹ (Fig. 4.3a). At these sample sizes, the *F* estimates became closer to the true value for *F* when samples were distributed over two years (0.087 and 0.093 year⁻¹, respectively) or three years (0.090 and 0.092 year⁻¹, respectively). Likewise, the bias values show that, when recruitment variability was high, CC1 estimated mortality more accurately when samples were distributed samples over multiple years (Fig. 4.3b). Thus, for example, at samples sizes of 500, 1500 and 3000 fish, the bias of the *F* estimates based on one year of data was always greater (0.268, 0.081 and 0.067, respectively) than when the samples were spread over two (0.100, 0.017 and 0.016) or three years (0.016, 0.033 and 0.008) (Fig. 4.3b). For each sample size category, doubling the level of recruitment variability in *G. hebraicum* led to the precision in mortality estimates produced by CC1 being approximately halved (*cf.* Figs 4.2c and 4.3c).

As when recruitment variability was low, CC1 also tended to underestimate F for *R. sarba* when the level variability was high (Fig. 4.3d). The extent of the negative bias was slightly greater when recruitment variability was doubled (*cf.* Figs 4.2e and 4.3e). As with *G. hebraicum*, when recruitment variability of *R. sarba* was high and

Glaucosoma hebraicum

Rhabdosargus sarba



Fig. 4.3. Influence of sample size and sampling frequency (1 yr – yellow, 2 yrs – blue, 3 yrs – orange) on (a,d) estimates of fishing mortality, F, (b,e) relative bias, B, and (c,f) CV for the two fish species when recruitment variability is high, using linear catch curve (CC1). In a and d, the lower and upper bounds of each box represents the lower and upper quartiles of F estimates, respectively (from 100 simulations). The line in the middle of each box indicates the median value for F and the lower and upper bars show the minimum and maximum values for F, respectively.

CC1 was fitted to age composition data for 500 fish sampled in a single year, the estimates for F were highly biased (Fig. 4.3e). The fitting of CC1 to multiple years of data led to little improvement in the accuracy of mortality estimates, except when the sample size was 500 fish (Fig. 4.3e). As with *G. hebraicum*, doubling the level of recruitment variability of *R. sarba* led to reduced precision in the estimates of *F* (by about 1/3). Precision was typically greatest for *R. sarba* when CC1 was fitted to data sampled over three years and least when sampled in one year (Fig. 4.3f).

Relative abundance analysis – low recruitment variability

In comparison to CC1, which yielded mortality estimates for G. hebraicum that were almost always close to the true value regardless of sample size, relative abundance analysis (CC2) tended to overestimate F, particularly at low sample sizes. For example, when recruitment variability was low and 500 fish were sampled over two and three years (note that CC2 requires at least two years of data), the respective median estimates of F were as much as 27 and 36% greater than the true value for F (Fig. 4.4a). Consequently, the bias associated with the CC2 mortality estimates for G. hebraicum was always greater than for CC1 although, when sample sizes were high, these differences were close to negligible (cf. Figs 4.2b and 4.4b). When recruitment variability in G. hebraicum was low, the values of CV for the CC2 mortality estimates were similar to those of CC1 (cf. Figs 4.2c and 4.4c). When sample sizes for *R. sarba* were low, CC2 could not always be fitted to (all 100 sets of) the simulated age composition data. At larger sample sizes, the median values for the CC2 mortality estimates were always close to the true value (Fig. 4.4d), as reflected in the low levels of bias (-0.045 to 0.068) (Fig. 4.4e). As with G. hebraicum, the CVs for R. sarba with low recruitment variability were similar for CC1 and CC2 (cf. Figs 4.2f and 4.4f).

Glaucosoma hebraicum

Rhabdosargus sarba



Fig. 4.4. Influence of sample size and sampling frequency (2 yrs – blue, 3 yrs – orange) on (a,d) estimates of fishing mortality, F, (b,e) relative bias, B, and (c,f) CV for the two fish species when recruitment variability is low, using relative abundance analysis (CC2). In a and d, the lower and upper bounds of each box represents the lower and upper quartiles of F estimates, respectively (from 100 simulations). The line in the middle of each box indicates the median value for F and the lower and upper bars show the minimum and maximum values for F, respectively. Note that for R. sarba, relative abundance analysis could not always be fitted to age composition data, particularly when sample sizes were low.

Relative abundance analysis – high recruitment variability

As when recruitment variability in *G. hebraicum* was low, CC2 produced positively biased mortality estimates when recruitment variability was high, with the estimates becoming closer to the true value only when sample sizes were high (Fig. 4.5a,b). The magnitude of bias at each sample size was similar for the two levels of recruitment variability (*cf.* Figs 4.4a,b and 4.5a,b). As with CC1, higher recruitment variability resulted in the mortality estimates produced by the relative abundance analysis being less precise (*cf.* Figs 4.4c and 4.5c). The precision of CC2 mortality estimates for *G. hebraicum* with high recruitment variability was substantially less when these were based on three rather than two years of samples (Fig. 4.5c). CC2 could only be fitted readily to age composition data generated for *R. sarba* (*i.e.* to all 100 simulated samples) when samples were distributed over two years and the sample size was relatively high. As with *G. hebraicum*, doubling recruitment variability in *R. sarba* had a limited impact on bias but led to substantially decreased precision (*cf.* Figs 4.4 and 4.5).

Influence of species biology on the effectiveness of management controls

Effectiveness of boat limit control for reducing mortality

When recruitment variability for *G. hebraicum* was low and the value of *F* for the stock at its initial equilibrium state was set to 0.2 year⁻¹, the specified initial management regulations (MLL = 500 mm, boat and bag limit = 5 fish trip⁻¹) had essentially no effect on fishing pressure (true *F*, after taking into account initial management controls = 0.197 year⁻¹). (Note that by setting the bag limit to equal the boat limit, this meant that catches were not constrained more by one control, and thus the results of the analysis would apply equally to either control when applied on

Glaucosoma hebraicum

Rhabdosargus sarba



Fig. 4.5. Influence of sample size and sampling frequency (2 yrs – blue, 3 yrs – orange) on (a,d) estimates of fishing mortality, F, (b,e) relative bias, B, and (c,f) CV for the two fish species when recruitment variability is high, using relative abundance analysis (CC2). In a and d, the lower and upper bounds of each box represents the lower and upper quartiles of F estimates, respectively (from 100 simulations). The line in the middle of each box indicates the median value for F and the lower and upper bars show the minimum and maximum values for F, respectively. Note that for R. sarba, relative abundance analysis could not always be fitted to age composition data.

its own. Hereafter, we refer to the bag and boat limit controls, which were always kept the same, as just the boat limit.)

Reducing the boat limit for *G. hebraicum* from 5 to 4, 3 and 2 fish trip⁻¹ for the projection period resulted in the median values for *F* declining by only 1.4, 5.5 and 15.7%, respectively (Fig. 4.6a). (Note that the values for *F* reported here and below represent median values for the true *F* after projection period, as calculated from the 100 simulations with different recruitment series). Further reducing the boat limit to 1 fish trip⁻¹ resulted in *F* declining more substantially (by 34.5%, to 0.128 year⁻¹). Although mortality declined in a similar fashion when recruitment variability was high, the values for *F* were more variable, particularly when boat limit was 1 or 2 fish trip⁻¹. For example, when the boat limit was 2 fish trip⁻¹, *F* ranged between 0.147 and 0.186 year⁻¹ when recruitment variability was high, compared with 0.155 to 0.173 year⁻¹, when recruitment variability was low (Fig. 4.6a).

For *R. sarba* with low recruitment variability and the equilibrium value of *F* prior to the projection set to 0.8 year⁻¹, initially setting the MLL to 240 mm and the boat limit to 20 fish trip⁻¹ had essentially no effect on mortality (true *F*, after taking the boat limit into account = 0.790 year⁻¹). Although reducing the boat limit to 16 and 12 fish trip⁻¹ had only a minor effect on mortality (F = 0.774 and 0.711 year⁻¹, respectively), for example, when the boat limit was changed to 8 fish trip⁻¹, the values for *F* lay between 0.296 and 0.702 year⁻¹ (lower quartile = 0.415 year⁻¹, upper quartile = 0.545 year⁻¹). As with *G. hebraicum*, higher recruitment variability led to *F* being more variable, particularly when the boat limit was small (Fig. 4.6b).

Glaucosoma hebraicum



Fig. 4.6. Effect of the bag/boat limit control on the (true) level of fishing mortality, F, for fully-selected (a) *Glaucosoma hebraicum* and (b) *Rhabdosargus sarba* when recruitment variability is low (grey, left) and high (red, right). The lower and upper bounds of each box represents the lower and upper quartiles for values of F, respectively (from 100 simulations). The line in the middle of each box indicates the median value for F and the lower and upper bars show the minimum and maximum values for F, respectively.

Effectiveness of MLL control for reducing mortality

As would be expected, changing the MLL for *G. hebraicum* had essentially no effect on the level of mortality to which fully recruited fish were exposed (Fig. 4.7a). When recruitment variability was low, increasing the MLL from 300 to 750 mm reduced the total number of fish killed by fishing (*i.e.* fish of all sizes) in the final year of the projection period by only 18.6%, from 23,600 to 19,200 fish (Fig. 4.7b). Similarly, when recruitment variability was high, the median numbers of fish declined by only 16.8% as the MLL was increased from 300 to 750 mm. However, when recruitment variability was high, the numbers killed varied far more between different recruitment series. For example, the numbers killed when the MLL was set to 350 mm ranged by as much as 12,800 to 42,300 fish, compared with only 18,400 to 30,000 fish when recruitment variability was low (Fig. 4.7b).

As with *G. hebraicum*, changing the MLL for *R. sarba* from that specified for the stock in its initial state typically had no effect on the fishing mortality for fully recruited fish. In contrast to the situation with *G. hebraicum*, the extreme lower values for *F* were often much lower than the value of *F* for *R. sarba* when the stock was in its initial state (0.197 year⁻¹), particularly when recruitment variability was high and the MLL was low (Fig. 4.7c). Increasing the MLL for *R. sarba* had a greater effect on the numbers of fish killed than it did for *G. hebraicum* (*cf.* Fig. 4.7b,d). For example, when recruitment variability was set to a low level, increasing the MLL for *R. sarba* from 200 to 290 mm reduced the number of fish killed by as much as 41%, *i.e.* from 33,700 to 19,800 fish.

Glaucosoma hebraicum



Fig. 4.7. Effect of the minimum legal length (MLL) control on (a,b) the (true) level of fishing mortality, *F*, for fully-selected fish and (c,d) the annual number of fish killed for the two fish species when recruitment variability is low (grey, left) and high (red, right). The lower and upper bounds of each box represents the lower and upper quartiles for values of *F* (a,c) or numbers of fish killed (b,d), respectively (from 100 simulations). The line in the middle of each box indicates the median value and the lower and upper bars show the minimum and maximum values, respectively.

Effectiveness of temporal closure control for reducing mortality

For *G. hebraicum* with low recruitment variability, introducing a two month temporal closure resulted in only a 5.5% reduction in *F*, from 0.197 to 0.186 year⁻¹ (Fig. 4.8a). Extending the closure to 4 and 6 months resulted in *F* being reduced more substantially, *i.e.* by 18.8% (to 0.160 year⁻¹) and 39.1% (to 0.120 year⁻¹), respectively. Recruitment variability had essentially no impact on the effectiveness of temporal closures for *G. hebraicum* (Fig. 4.8a,b).

When recruitment variability in *R. sarba* was low, introducing temporal closures of 2, 4 and 6 months resulted in the median values of *F* being reduced by 5.6, 19.1 and 40.2%, respectively. The reductions for each closure duration were thus of a very similar magnitude for *R. sarba* as for *G. hebraicum* (*cf.* Fig. 4.8a,b). When recruitment variability was high, the minimum values for *F* for the different periods of closure were often substantially less than the median values for those periods (Fig. 4.8b).

Effectiveness of spatial closure control for reducing mortality

Introducing spatial closures impacted greatly on the mortality of fish in the area remaining open to fishing, particularly when the extent of the area closed to fishing was large (Figs 4.9a,c). For *G. hebraicum* with low recruitment variability, *F* for fully recruited fish within the open area increased from 0.197 year⁻¹, when there was no closure, to 0.247, 0.330 and 0.495 year⁻¹, when 20, 40 and 60% of the fishing grounds were closed to fishing, respectively. The same trend occured when recruitment variability was high (Fig. 4.9a). The total numbers of *G. hebraicum* killed as a result of fishing (*i.e.* mortality of fish of all sizes due to individuals being caught

Glaucosoma hebraicum

(a)

(b)



Rhabdosargus sarba



Fig. 4.8. Effect of the temporal closure control on the fishing mortality, F, of (a) *Glaucosoma hebraicum* and (b) *Rhabdosargus sarba* when recruitment variability is low (grey, left) and high (red, right). The lower and upper bounds of each box represents the lower and upper quartiles for values of F, respectively (from 100 simulations). The line in the middle of each box indicates the median value for F and the lower and upper bars show the minimum and maximum values for F, respectively.

Glaucosoma hebraicum



Rhabdosargus sarba



Fig. 4.9. Effect of the spatial closure control on (a,c) the (true) level of fishing mortality, F, for fish in the area open to fishing and (b,d) the annual number of fish killed for the two fish species when recruitment variability is low (grey, left) and high (red, right). The lower and upper bounds of each box represents the lower and upper quartiles for values of F (a,c) or numbers of fish killed (b,d), respectively (from 100 simulations). The line in the middle of each box indicates the median value and the lower and upper bars show the minimum and maximum values, respectively.

and retained or from injury on release) remained at a similar level (20,600 to 22,000 fish) when between 10 and 70% of the total area was closed (Fig. 4.9b). The numbers of fish killed declined only slightly to 19,900 and 16,700 fish, respectively, when the closure was extended to 80 and 90% of the total fishing area. When recruitment variability was high, the numbers of fish killed were consistently slightly less, *e.g.* between 18,000 and 18,800 fish, for area closures of 10 to 70% (Fig. 4.9b).

A similar situation occurred with *R. sarba*, with spatial closures exceeding 50% of the total area resulting in large increases in mortality within the area remaining open to fishing (Fig. 4.9c). The total numbers of *R. sarba* killed only declined substantially when most of the area was closed to fishing (Fig. 4.9d). For corresponding levels of closure, the median numbers of fish killed were only slightly affected by different levels of recruitment variability. There was more variability in the numbers of fish killed (for different recruitment series) when recruitment variability was high (Fig. 4.9d).

DISCUSSION

Influence of sampling design and species biology on the effectiveness of catch curve analysis

The simulations undertaken in this study indicate that, for a short-lived species such as *Rhabdosargus sarba* (maximum age of ~11 years; Hesp *et al.*, 2004), linear catch curve analysis (CC1) (Ricker, 1975) is likely to underestimate mortality. In contrast, relative abundance analysis (CC2) (Deriso *et al.*, 1985) is indicated to often provide overestimates of mortality for longer-lived species, such as *Glaucosoma hebraicum* (maximum age of 41 years; Hesp *et al.*, 2002), unless sample sizes are relatively

large (several thousand fish). High recruitment variability is predicted to increase bias of mortality estimates produced by CC1, particularly when this type of analysis is based on samples collected during a single year. In contrast, recruitment variability does not appear to impact strongly on the accuracy of mortality estimates produced by CC2. The simulations also indicated that distributing samples (equally) over three rather than two years results in little improvement in accuracy of mortality estimates produced by both types of catch curve. Both sample size and recruitment variability were shown to impact strongly on the precision of mortality estimates. This is particularly true for CC1, when samples are drawn from a single year.

The simulations undertaken provide some indication of the sample sizes likely to be required for both short-lived and long-lived fish species with different levels of recruitment variability for estimating mortality using catch curve analysis. As shown by the analyses, the sample size required is likely to vary considerably depending on the age structure of the fish population and on the type of catch curve analysis employed. It also needs to be recognised that the sample size necessary for reliably estimating mortality will reflect the degree to which samples are representative of the fish population. In this study, individual age composition samples were drawn randomly from the simulated fish stock, thereby providing samples that were fully representative of the underlying population. However, in some fisheries, e.g. commercial trawl fisheries (Pennington et al., 2002), fish may be caught in large "clusters" during individual fishing trips. In such cases, because fish within each cluster tend to be more similar to each other than to other fish (Aanes & Pennington, 2003), the numbers required to provide a representative sample of the population is likely to be greater than indicated by this study. With recreational fisheries for species such as *G. hebraicum*, this is likely to be less of a problem as bag and boat limits will

prevent large numbers of fish from being retained during a single fishing trip. It is concluded that, if samples for such species are collected from many fishers who collectively operate throughout the fishery, the simulation results provide a reasonable indication of sample sizes required for estimating mortality using the two types of catch curve analysis explored in this study. A further word of caution when interpreting the results of these simulations is that the data have been simulated assuming that, on average, all fish in the stock were subject to the same (probability of) mortality throughout life, which may well not be the case with many fisheries. Deviation from this equilibrium assumption will impact on the reliability of mortality estimates produced by catch curve analysis.

The simulations indicate that, even when sample sizes are substantial, both types of catch curve analysis (*i.e.* CC1 and CC2) can produce biased mortality estimates. They also suggest that the level of bias produced by these two forms of catch curves can differ between species. An important question is thus whether these differences are due to an artefact of some aspect of the analysis, or whether such differences are likely to be real. One possible explanation is that that the differences were due to random differences in sample data used in the analyses. However, this could be disproved. Because the random number generator sequence used by the MSE model was controlled, this meant that that the sample data (*i.e.* age compositions) to which CC1 and CC2 were fitted were identical, confirming that the differences in bias were due to the analyses themselves.

The question thus remains as to which factors contributed to the biases in mortality estimates produced by the two catch curve methods. As shown in this study, other workers have also found that linear catch curve analyses tend to underestimate

mortality (Murphy, 1997; Dunn et al., 2002). Murphy (1997) suggests this is because this type of analysis violates the assumption of linear regression analysis that the variance is equal throughout the range of values for the independent variable, *i.e.* age groups. The variances of the logged abundances are positively correlated with age until the distribution is truncated when zero frequencies appear in samples for older age groups (Murphy, 1997). Ultimately, this can result in underestimation of mortality. The effects of violating the linear regression assumption of constant variance can be reduced by truncating age frequency distributions and employing a minimum threshold abundance rule for fitting the linear regression, such as five individuals per age class (Chapman & Robson, 1960). However, Murphy (1997) shows that even this does not fully eliminate the negative bias. Our finding that CC1 tended to perform better for the long-lived G. hebraicum than the shorter-lived R. sarba indicates that the effects of violating the assumption of constant variance when using simple, linear catch curve analysis are less for longer-lived species. This is likely to be because outliers in the age distributions for older fish will have less influence on analyses for populations for which there are many age groups.

The next question is why CC2 (relative abundance analysis) tended to require larger sample sizes for *G. hebraicum* than *R. sarba* to produce accurate mortality estimates (*cf.* Figs 4.4b,e and 4.5b,e). This may be because CC2 involves estimating not only mortality but, at the same time, also the relative strengths of the different year classes. Fitting CC2 thus required estimation of 42 parameters for *G. hebraicum*, compared with only 12 for *R. sarba*. To maximise program speed, we employed an algorithm (using AD Model Builder) which rapidly estimates recruitment parameters for all year classes at once. However, for a long-lived species such as *G. hebraicum*, it may be advantageous to use a stepwise approach to introduce parameters into the

analysis one at a time, *i.e.* to employ a forward stepwise forward selection algorithm (Sokal & Rohlf, 1995). Likelihood ratio tests (Cerrato, 1990) can be used to determine, at each step, whether introducing an additional year class as a recruitment parameter will significantly improve the fit of the model, with the process being terminated when this does not occur. Use of this approach to fitting relative abundance analysis for Western Blue Groper (*Achoerodus gouldii*), which can live to 70 years, resulted in only 11 year classes being introduced into the analysis (Coulson *et al.*, 2009). With fewer parameters, this approach to fitting relative abundance analysis is likely to be more reliable when sample sizes are small.

As also concluded by Allen (1997) and Dunn *et al.* (2002), this study has shown that mortality estimation is sensitive to recruitment variability. The fact that high recruitment variability negatively impacted on the precision of mortality estimates, regardless of whether linear catch curve or relative abundance analysis was used, has important implications for management. For fish species or stocks with high recruitment variability, it is important for managers to be aware that stock assessment advice is likely to be less precise than if recruitment variability is low, even when assessments are based on large sample sizes and on analyses allowing for variable recruitment.

Influence of species biology on the effectiveness of management controls

The Monte Carlo simulations undertaken to evaluate the effectiveness of alternative management controls for reducing fishing mortality indicate that some are likely to be far more effective than others, and that the value of applying these controls will vary for different species. The simulations also suggest that, although recruitment variability, on average, has limited impact on the effectiveness of each control, the

outcomes of changes to the management controls are less predictable when recruitment variability is high.

The simulations exploring the effectiveness of boat limits suggested that, if the two fish species were initially heavily exploited at approximately twice their rates of natural mortality, an 80% boat limit reduction (from 5 to 1 fish trip⁻¹ for *G. hebraicum* and 20 to 4 fish trip⁻¹ for *R. sarba*) would reduce *F* far more for *R. sarba*. The calculations for determining the effectiveness of boat (and bag) limit controls take into account a number of factors, including the distribution for the number of fishers on boats, mortality rate, catch rate, level of fisheries compliance (*i.e.* probability of fishers high-grading) and post-release mortality rate.

As the distribution specified for the number of fishers on boats was kept the same for the two species, this would not have influenced the result. Furthermore, since both fish species were initially exploited at similar levels (relative to their rate of natural mortality), the observed differences in the effectiveness of the control are not likely to be linked to this factor. Although the boat limits specified for *G. hebraicum* (initially 5 fish trip⁻¹) and *R. sarba* (initially 20 fish trip⁻¹) differed, they were of a similar magnitude relative to the catch rates specified for the two species (1 and 5 fish trip⁻¹, respectively). Thus, differences in values specified for the boat limit controls would not have markedly influenced the results. The levels of compliance by fishers when targeting *G. hebraicum* (0.8) and *R. sarba* (0.9) were also similar, suggesting that high-grading did not strongly affect the result (this was confirmed by further exploratory simulations – data not shown). In contrast to all of the above factors, the much greater probability of post-release mortality specified for *G. hebraicum* (0.4)

compared to *R. sarba* (0.05) is likely to have significantly impacted on the effectiveness of the boat limit control for regulating mortality of the two species.

As the outcomes of applying changes to the boat (and bag) limit can be influenced by a variety of factors, the effectiveness of this management control for different fisheries is likely to differ markedly. As shown in this study, model simulations by Woodward & Griffin (2003) also highlight the importance of accounting for postrelease mortality (and high-grading) when estimating the effectiveness of boat limits. Although the model takes into account a range of factors that can influence the value of a boat limit control for regulating fishing mortality, it does not take into account the influence of fisher behaviours on the effectiveness of this control. As fishers may respond to a reduced boat limit by fishing more often, the effectiveness of this control may be less than that indicated by the simulation results.

An important consideration regarding bag and boat limits is that these controls are likely to have the greatest effect on the most successful fishers (Woodward & Griffin, 2003). Thus, if relatively few fishers take a large proportion of the total catch, imposing tighter bag and boat limits can be an option in recreational fisheries for reducing the impacts of those fishers, whilst having minimal effect on the fishing experience of the majority of anglers. However, the finding that *F* for *G. hebraicum* was still too high (*i.e.* F > M) after the boat limit had been reduced to only 1 fish trip⁻¹ does highlight the point made by Cox *et al.* (2002) that, on their own, bag and boat limit controls are unlikely to protect a stock from heavy exploitation. This is particularly true in situations where fishing effort is likely to continue to increase due to an expanding human population.

The simulations showed that changing the minimum legal length for retention (MLL) of a species does not influence mortality, as estimated by catch curve analysis for fish above the age at full recruitment into the fishery. This result would be expected assuming, as in the analysis, that changing the MLL does not influence catch rates (although this could occur as a result of fishers changing behaviours in response to the management change), and that fish samples have been collected from catches taken by fishers subject to the management restrictions (rather than by researchers with exemption permits). This is because changing the MLL is not predicted to affect the exploitation rate of fully recruited fish, but rather only act to restrict the range of ages in the sample data used for catch curve analysis.

Given that MLL restrictions are typically intended for protecting small and young fish, measures of their effectiveness need to take into account the extent to which undersized fish suffer post-release mortality (Kirchner *et al.*, 2001). The results indicated that raising the MLL for *G. hebraicum*, which is a species that is considered to experience relatively high post-release mortality (St John & Syers, 2005), will have little effect on overall mortality (as indicated by estimates of the numbers of fish killed in the final year of the projection period). However, for *R. sarba*, which is likely to experience far less post-release mortality, the analysis suggests that increasing the MLL will reduce overall mortality substantially. As also demonstrated in simulation studies of the recreational fishery for Red Snapper (*Lutjanus campechanus*) in the Gulf of Mexico by Woodward & Griffin (2003), the results of this study show that post-release mortality can have a major impact on the effectiveness of MLL controls.

In discussing minimum length restrictions, Kirchner *et al.* (2001) state that their value is "questionable", highlighting the example of the Silver Kob (*Argyrosomus inodorus*)

stocks in South Africa, which have collapsed despite a MLL being in place since 1940 (citing Griffiths, 1997). MLL restrictions have often been applied with the intention of ensuring that individuals "spawn at least once" before being harvested. However, this policy is likely to be inadequate for many species. For example, it fails to recognise that, for species with high recruitment variability, spawning by individuals over several years is likely to be important as a bet-hedging strategy for helping ensure long-term reproductive success despite long periods of unfavourable environmental conditions for larval survival (Leaman & Beamish, 1984). It also does not recognise that egg production increases disproportionately with size of fish, and that egg guality/larval survival may increase with maternal age (Berkeley et al., 2004; Bobko & Berkeley, 2004). For these and other reasons, some fisheries are managed using maximum size limits and "slot limits", both which aim to protect larger/older fish in the population. It should be noted that MLL controls have also been used in some fisheries as a means for increasing yields. On the basis of analyses of creel survey data, Paukert and Willis (2002) and Isermann et al. (2007) conclude that a MLL will be more effective for improving yields (and increasing the number of larger and older fish in a population) when individuals grow rapidly and when exploitation is high but natural mortality is low. In conclusion, the effectiveness of an MLL will depend on the level of post-release mortality and on the proportion of the life span during which fish are protected. The latter will depend to some extent on the pattern of growth of the species during the earlier part of life.

The simulation results, for both *G. hebraicum* and *R. sarba*, indicate that the effectiveness of short temporal closures (< 2-3 months) for reducing *F* may be limited. Temporal closures are predicted to become increasingly effective (relative to duration) as closure length expands up to about 6 months. The results indicate that,

beyond this point, the effectiveness of temporal closures, relative to duration, tends to "level off" and then begin declining. This trend is due largely to assumptions made about the ways fishers are likely to respond to temporal closures. Our model calculations take into account that temporal closures will induce a pulse of fishing effort when the fishery re-opens, as fishers aim to compensate for their losses during the closed period (*e.g.* Guénette *et al.*, 1998; Coleman *et al.*, 2004). The calculations also assume that there is likely to be an upper limit on the amount of fishing activity that fishers will undertake during any period of time (*e.g.* Watson *et al.*, 1993), although, as highlighted by Cox *et al.* (2002), this may be untrue in the long-term for recreational fisheries. As has been pointed out in other studies, understanding the dynamics of fishing fleets and how fishers respond to new regulations is crucial for reliably predicting the effects of management (Sluczanowski, 1984; Branch *et al.*, 2006; Haapasaari *et al.*, 2007).

Although the above-discussed assumptions are likely to apply to both species, a range of other factors may be important in influencing the effectiveness of temporal closure controls for different types of fisheries. For example, factors such as market demands (for commercial fishers) and temporal differences in the abundance of target species can all effect behavioural responses of fishers to management changes (Allen & McGlade, 1986; Somers & Wang, 1997; Pradhan & Leung, 2004). For recreational fisheries, the timing of temporal closures is also likely to be important, *e.g.* depending on when many people are likely to fish. For multi-species fisheries, fishing effort is likely to be re-allocated towards species not affected by the closure (Holland & Sutinen, 1999; Little *et al.*, 2008) or to other, unprotected, fishing grounds (Somers & Wang, 1997). Furthermore, temporal closures may be used for various reasons other than to simply reduce overall mortality, *e.g.* they are often

applied as a means to protect spawning aggregations (Cox *et al.*, 2002). With commercial fisheries for short-lived species with highly variable recruitment (*e.g.* prawns), temporal closures may be used to optimise economic profits by limiting catches of small animals, *i.e.* preventing growth over-fishing (Watson *et al.*, 1993).

Although outside the scope of this study, the MSE model is readily able to be extended to incorporate additional factors that may influence the effectiveness of temporal and other closures. For recreational fisheries, information on seasonal differences in fishing effort for different fisheries, such as from recent creel-survey data, are likely to be of particular importance for improving model predictions of the effects of temporal closures.

For spatial closures, the simulation results for both species suggest that, as the proportion of the total fishery area closed to fishing increases, mortality in the area remaining open to fishing will increase markedly. The simulations also indicated that, for both *G. hebraicum* and *R. sarba*, a spatial closure of even as much as 50% is likely to have very limited impact on overall fishing mortality for the population. This highlights the point that when applying area closures, fishing effort in areas remaining open to fishing needs to be controlled using other measures (Jones, 2001; Kaiser, 2005; Greenstreet *et al.*, 2009; Halpern *et al.*, 2010).

The indications from the simulation results for spatial closures that, at extreme levels of fishing pressure, mortality in the open area will continue to rise exponentially as the proportion of area closed increases, may not be true. As pointed out by Smith *et al.* (2010), the increased fishing pressure in the areas remaining open to fishing will lead to depletion of the portion of stock in those areas over time, thereby

reducing the incentive for people to continue fishing. Future work on this aspect could focus on relaxing the assumption made by this model and many others (Guénette *et al.*, 1998; Lynch, 2006) that fishing effort and the amount of area closed are directly correlated. Further development could also focus on alternative assumptions about the spatial distribution of fishing effort and rates of migration of fish between open and closed areas.

In discussing spatial closures, it needs to be pointed out that they may be of value for a variety of purposes other than for managing single target species (see *e.g.* Jones, 2001). As we have produced a single-species model, it is not suited for exploring broader questions about the effectiveness of this type of control for social and ecosystem objectives. Furthermore, we point out that some other types of models, *e.g.* agent-based models, are ideally suited for exploring questions about the consequences of behavioural responses of fishers to fisheries management controls, and complex interactions between fleet dynamics, fish stocks and management processes (Soulié & Thébaud, 2006; Hesp *et al.*, 2010). In the context of management controls, we consider the MSE model produced in this study is valuable for helping facilitate understanding of the broad implications of applying commonly used controls for conserving target species. The modular nature of the program developed in this study readily allows extension of the model to incorporate and explore different factors and alternative assumptions about how different management controls are likely to impact on fish stocks and fishers.

BENEFITS

As specified in the application, this project benefits researchers at the Department of Fisheries, WA, by providing a generic Management Strategy Evaluation (MSE) tool for simulating the effectiveness of alternative science and management options for fish species with different life cycle characteristics (including recruitment variability).

Emphasis was placed on developing an effective program interface for communicating the results of relatively complex stock assessment analyses. The results of scenario testing experiments with science students and feedback from stakeholder workshops, during which participants were required to interpret stock assessment outputs produced by the program and make decisions as to how fish stocks should be managed in different (hypothetical) circumstances, demonstrated the effectiveness of the software in this regard. The program has good potential to be used by researchers and managers as an educational tool for helping to communicate stock assessment information to stakeholders with varying backgrounds and fishery knowledge. Stock assessment information is displayed by the program in a weight-of-evidence framework, thereby aligning with approaches being adopted by the Department of Fisheries in WA, and several other fisheries agencies in Australia, for assessing fish stocks using age-based monitoring programs.

The results of Monte Carlo simulation studies provided insight as to how recruitment variability and other biological characteristics of fish species influence the effectiveness of strategies for collecting age composition samples, stock assessment analyses and different management options. This information will benefit researchers

for developing and reviewing age-based monitoring programmes, as well as for understanding the reliability of stock assessment approaches for estimating mortality. It will benefit managers for understanding the implications of recruitment variability for the effectiveness of management and the likely effects of different levels of fisheries compliance on stock status. Industry will benefit from the project through better understanding of implications of recruitment variability of fish for conserving fish stocks and through well informed management.

As recommended by Dr James Scandol when reviewing our original application for this project, the MSE model has been developed in Visual Basic.net (with Windows forms). To as great an extent as possible, the various program procedures have also been partitioned into classes. This modular structure of the program code will facilitate ease of reusing the model algorithms in the future. As also recommended by Dr Scandol, the program is not linked to Microsoft Office extensions such as Excel, thereby avoiding problems associated with people not being able to use the software due to version control issues. The program is deployed in a manner which is simple to download and install, and does not require any additional software (other than the standard Windows operating environment). We have chosen to use .txt files for storing the input and output data, making it easy for people to use the software on their own computers. To enhance program speed, the vb.net program is linked (via shell commands) to procedures in AD Model Builder (for fast optimisation) for fitting catch curves. Note that this feature of the model does not require users of the MSE software (other than the programmers) to download AD Model Builder.

The project has been of great benefit to early-career scientists at Murdoch University, through introduction of concepts related to fisheries modelling and simulation.

Ultimately, such training will be of benefit to the Department of Fisheries, WA, and to the fishing industry. Use of the MSE program has also been incorporated into undergraduate teaching courses at Murdoch University. The software is able to be freely accessed via our website http://www.cffrfisheriesmodelling.net.

FURTHER DEVELOPMENT

The management strategy evaluation (MSE) model produced in this study will continue to be developed over the next two and a half years, at least. In part, this will involve extension of the model to allow for size-related movements between habitats for inshore species such as Silver Trevally (*Psuedocaranx georgianus*) and King George Whiting (*Sillaginodes punctata*) for FRDC project 2010/001. This will involve adding a spatial component to the model to allow estimation of mortality for species which are exploited in different habitats during different life stages. We will continue to use scenario testing as a means of exploring and improving the effectiveness of the program interface for communicating stock assessment information.

The major focus of this project has been on developing a robust and user-friendly MSE simulation model that can be applied to fisheries assessed using age-based monitoring data. Although the majority of parameters used by the model for simulations undertaken during this study were obtained from available literature on the biology of different fish species, a few of the data inputs, such as for the distribution for numbers of fishers on boats and estimates of mean catch rates for the two fish species, were not well estimated. Improving inputs for these parameters will be important in the future for use of the program by researchers and managers at the

Department of Fisheries, WA, as a stock assessment tool. Scientists at the Department have indicated that some data exist within their organisation that could potentially be used to provide better estimates of the parameters indicated.

Aspects of the analyses undertaken for this report, *i.e.* scenario testing experiments and Monte Carlo simulations, will be extended over the coming year for completion of Emily Fisher's PhD thesis. A new focus of Emily's work is likely to involve extending the Monte Carlo simulation studies to explore the effectiveness of different types of catch curve analysis for detecting responses of fish stocks to management changes. As traditional catch curve methods are subject to the assumption of constant mortality, they are not well suited for this purpose. Development of catch curve approaches that can account for changes in mortality over time are very much needed to determine whether management aimed at rebuilding fish stocks has been effective.

PLANNED OUTCOMES

The planned outcomes for this project, as stated in the original application, and descriptions as to how they have been met, are as follows.

(1) A method of exploring the effectiveness of a harvest strategy based on an assessment employing the types of data available for the scalefish fisheries of south-western Australia, and taking recruitment variability into account, will be available to the Department of Fisheries, WA. By employing this approach, researchers at the Department will be able to explore the effectiveness of management responses to adverse levels of inter-annual recruitment and thereby improve the robustness of the management strategies that they employ. The benefit for commercial and recreational fishers and the community is that the risk posed to the sustainability of fish stocks by recruitment variability will be reduced.

The project has led to the development of a management strategy evaluation (MSE) modelling tool. The model is ideally suited to the types of data available for scalefish species in south-western Australia, *i.e.* for which biological data such as life cycle parameters and size and age composition are typically available. The model generates mortality-based stock assessment advice, in a weight-of-evidence framework (determined using risk assessment analysis), aligning well with the types of assessment procedures currently being adopted by researchers at the Department of Fisheries, WA. The model enables exploration of the effectiveness of a range of management responses for species with different levels of recruitment variability, including episodic recruitment (and levels of autocorrelation of recruitment between years). The Monte Carlo simulation analyses undertaken for this project provide researchers and managers insight into how recruitment variability influences the effectiveness of different sampling strategies, mortality analyses and management approaches, thereby facilitating informed decision-making. Ultimately, this will help reduce the risk posed by recruitment variability to the sustainability of scalefish stocks.

(2) Operating models that represent several alternative hypotheses relating to the behaviour and life history of a fish stock, that are readily modifiable to represent a range of alternative species, will be available for use by fisheries scientists, allowing exploration of the appropriateness of alternative harvest strategies.

Improved fishery management should result, improving the sustainability of the resource for the benefit of commercial and recreational fishers and the community.

The operating model developed as part of the MSE simulation program is widely applicable to many fish species. Thus, it can be applied to gonochoristic and hermaphroditic species, to short-, medium- and long-lived fish species, and to fish with low, medium or high inter-annual variability in recruitment, or episodic recruitment. It also enables the science and management implications of different assumptions, such as for recruitment variability, to be explored. All parameters of the operating model are easily modifiable, enabling fisheries scientists to explore the appropriateness of alternative harvest strategies for a wide range of circumstances.

(3) A generic harvest strategy framework, that employs a modular structure and thereby facilitates the development and use of alternative modules representing operating models, monitoring and assessment methods and decision rules, will be available to the Department of Fisheries, WA. The availability of this tool will improve the quality of future assessments of the appropriateness and robustness of alternative harvest strategies. Commercial and recreational fishers and the community will benefit from the fact that the fish stocks are more likely to be sustained.

The MSE program employs a modular structure, using classes in vb.net as a means of structuring the various model routines. The program has been designed in a manner that readily allows for development and use of alternative modules within the existing model framework, which can represent alternative operating models,
monitoring methods and decision rules. A range of alternative assessment methods and decision rules have already been built into the model. More can added. On the very sound advice provided by Dr James Scandol, we have focused on developing a user-friendly program with an effective interface. By making management strategy evaluation methods within reach of those researchers and managers without extensive modelling and stock assessment experience, this will help facilitate better uptake of the model and ultimately better management of fish stocks.

CONCLUSIONS

We have developed a generic fisheries management strategy evaluation (MSE) program that is widely applicable to scalefish fisheries for species relying on catch curve analysis-based mortality estimates for stock assessment. As well as providing a useful simulation tool for exploring questions related to fisheries monitoring, assessment and management, the model has potential as an education tool, and for facilitating stakeholder participation in management discussions.

In developing computer software for use by people with potentially limited technical experience and/or fisheries stock assessment knowledge, it is important to reach an appropriate balance between simplicity and realism. For such software to be valuable to fisheries scientists, this process cannot compromise on the level of sophistication of the analyses or on program functionality. Results and feedback from scenario testing workshops, in which people with different backgrounds used the program, provided strong evidence that the MSE program is an effective means for communicating stock assessment information. We thus conclude that, if sufficient

focus is placed on designing (and testing) the program interface, it is possible to develop fisheries simulation tools for both scientific and communication/educational purposes. When developing a program interface for use in workshop situations, the ability to "switch off" some aspects of program functionality, such as to only allow users to change certain parameters (*i.e.* those of interest for the workshop), and ensure that users can only take one route when navigating their way through the program, is important.

Monte Carlo simulations demonstrated that the effectiveness of equilibrium-based stock assessment approaches (catch curves) for estimating mortality can be influenced by a range of factors, including the life history characteristics of the fish species, fish sampling design and type of analysis.

Regardless of sample size, linear catch curves can produce mortality estimates with substantial negative bias, which was demonstrated for the short-lived species, *Rhabdosargus sarba*. Such bias is likely to reflect violation of an assumption of linear regression when using this type of catch curve. As pointed out by other workers, the bias is potentially reduced by truncating age frequency distributions to include only age categories for which there are several fish.

Relative abundance analysis, an extended form of catch curve analysis that takes into account recruitment variability, was shown to produce mortality estimates for the long-lived species *Glaucosoma hebraicum* that are positively biased, unless sample size is large. It is likely that such bias can be reduced by modifying the approach used in this study to fit the analysis, *i.e.* only estimate the relative recruitment strengths for those year classes for which recruitment is shown to deviate statistically

from the mean level of recruitment for all year classes. As it has been shown that effectiveness of a certain type of catch curve analysis may vary for different fish species (depending on their age structures), it is recommended that, for any situation, the results of multiple approaches to catch curve analysis be compared. Simulation testing of the effectiveness of catch curve analyses for each fish species for which mortality is estimated is also recommended.

High annual recruitment variability is shown to lead to reduced precision of mortality estimates produced by catch curve analysis. The analysis also showed that, when recruitment variability is high, mortality estimates are more reliable when based on data collected over multiple consecutive years. When recruitment variability is high, stock assessment advice is likely to be less reliable (precise).

As also shown in some other simulation studies, a range of factors can influence the effectiveness of management controls. If the key objective of management is to reduce fishing mortality, bag and boat limits and minimum size restrictions are most effective for species for which post-release mortality is low. When exploitation pressure is high, these controls, on their own, are not likely to be sufficiently effective for species with substantial post-release mortality. If suitably long, temporal closures can be an effective means for reducing exploitation pressure. Spatial closures are indicated to have limited effectiveness for reducing overall fishing mortality, *i.e.* because fishers can redirect their attention to areas that remain open. The results of simulation studies indicate that, although, on average, the effectiveness of the different management controls considered in this study is similar at different levels of recruitment variability, management outcomes are likely to be more variable when recruitment variability is high. This is likely to be the case because, at any given time,

the effectiveness of a particular control for reducing fishing mortality will depend, to a certain extent, on the current abundance of fish of those ages that are vulnerable to effects of fishing, which is influenced by recruitment variability.

The MSE model can provide valuable insights as to how various factors influence the effectiveness of several commonly-used management controls. However, the effects of several factors, such as the behavioural responses of fishers, and temporal and spatial trends in fishing effort and fish abundance, are either not considered or not well accounted for by the model. With further model development, several of these factors could be better considered by the MSE model. Indeed, MSE provides an ideal platform for exploring which variables are likely to influence most the outcomes of management, thereby enabling those areas in most need of research/investment to be identified.

As with any single-species model, the MSE model produced in this project does not account for multi-species interactions. The MSE model should be considered as one of several valuable tools for exploring and communicating the effectiveness of various fisheries assessment and management approaches, for fisheries managed using age-based assessments. Comparisons of outputs by the MSE program with those of other types of models, *e.g.* multi-species models, are likely to be required to fully understand the range of effects that result from applying different types of management controls.

The project has provided very valuable training to students and early career fisheries researchers at Murdoch University.

REFERENCES

- Aanes, S., Pennington, M. (2003) On estimating the age composition of the commercial catch of Northeast Arctic cod from a sample of clusters. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **60**, 297-303.
- Allen, M.S. (1997) Effects of variable recruitment on catch curve analysis for crappie populations. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **17**, 202-205.
- Allen, P.M., McGlade, J.M. (1986) Dynamics of discovery and exploitation: the case of Scotian Shelf fisheries. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 43, 1187-1200.
- Anderson, L.G. (1993) Toward a complete economic theory of the utilization and management of recreational fisheries. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* **24**, 272-295.
- Anderson, M.J. (2001) A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. *Austral Ecology* **26**, 32–46.
- Anderson, M.J. (2006) Distance-based tests for homogeneity of multivariate dispersions. *Biometrics* **62**, 245–253.
- Anderson, M.J., Gorley, R.N., Clarke, K.R. (2008) *PERMANOVA+ for PRIMER: guide* to software and statistical methods. PRIMER-E Ltd., Plymouth, UK, 214 pp.
- Barreteau, O., Le Page, C., Perez, P. (2007) Contribution of simulation and gaming to natural resource management issues: an introduction. *Simulation & Gaming* **38**, 185-194.
- Beierle, T.C., Cayford, J. (2002) *Democracy in practice: public participation in environmental decisions*. Resources for the Future Press, Washington, DC, 149 pp.
- Berkeley, S.A., Hixon, M.A., Larson, R.J., Love, M.S. (2004) Fisheries sustainability via protection of age structure and spatial distribution of fish populations. *Fisheries* **29**, 23-32.
- Bertsche, D., Crawford, C., Macadam, S.E. (1996) Is simulation better than experience? The McKinsey Quarterly **1**, 50-57.
- Bobko, S.J., Berkeley, S.A. (2004) Maturity, ovarian cycle, fecundity, and age-specific parturition of black rockfish (*Sebastes melanops*). *Fishery Bulletin* **102**, 418-429.
- Branch, T.A., Rutherford, K., Hilborn, R. (2006) Replacing trip limits with individual transferable quotas: implications for discarding. *Marine Policy* **30**, 281-292.
- Brouwer, S.L., Griffiths, M.H. (2005) Influence of sample design on estimates of growth and mortality in *Argyrozona argyrozona* (Pisces: Sparidae). *Fisheries Research* **74**, 44-54.

- Butterworth, D.S., Punt, A.E. (1999) Experiences in the evaluation and implementation of management procedures. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **56**, 985-999.
- Butterworth, D.S., Cochrane, K.L., De Oliveira, J.A.A. (1997) Management procedures: a better way to manage fisheries? The South African experience. In: *Global trends: fisheries management* (E. Pikitch, D.D. Huppert, M.P. Sissenwine, eds.), American Fisheries Society Symposium 20, Bethesda, MD, pp. 83-90.
- Caddy, J.F. (1998) A short review of precautionary reference points and some proposals for their use in data-poor situations. FAO Fisheries Technical Paper No. 379. FAO, Rome, 30 pp.
- Caddy, J.F. (1999) Deciding on precautionary management measures for a stock based on a suite of limit reference points (LRPs) as a basis for a multi-LRP harvest law. *NAFO Scientific Council Studies* **32**, 55-68.
- Caddy, J.F. (2002) Limit reference points, traffic lights, and holistic approaches to fisheries management with minimal stock assessment input. *Fisheries Research* **56**, 133-137.
- Campana, S.E. (2001) Accuracy, precision and quality control in age determination, including a review of the use and abuse of age validation methods. *Journal of Fish Biology* **59**, 197-242.
- Carlile, D. (2005) An assessment of age determination needs and sample sizes for groundfish fisheries managed by the State of Alaska. Special Publication No. 05-12. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Anchorage, 30 pp.
- Cerrato, R.M. (1990) Interpretable statistical tests for growth comparisons using parameters in the von Bertalanffy equation. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **47**, 1416-1426.
- Chapman, D.G., Robson, D.S. (1960) The analysis of a catch curve. *Biometrics* **16**, 354-368.
- Chen, Y. (1996) A Monte Carlo study on impacts of the size of subsample catch on estimation of fish stock parameters. *Fisheries Research* **26**, 207-223.
- Clarke, K.R. (1993) Non-parametric multivariate analyses of changes in community structure. *Australian Journal of Ecology* **18**, 117-143.
- Clarke, K.R., Gorley, R.N. (2006) *PRIMER v6: user manual/tutorial*. PRIMER-E Ltd., Plymouth, UK, 192 pp.
- Clarke, K.R., Green, R.H. (1988) Statistical design and analysis for a 'biological effects' study. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **46**, 213-226.
- Coleman, F.C., Baker, P.B., Koenig, C.C. (2004) A review of Gulf of Mexico marine protected areas: successes, failures, and lessons learned. *Fisheries* **29**, 10-21.

- Cooke, J.G. (1999) Improvement of fishery-management advice through simulation testing of harvest algorithms. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **56**, 797-810.
- Cooke, S.J., Cowx, I.G. (2004) The role of recreational fishing in global fish crises. *Bioscience* **54**, 857-859.
- Coulson, P.G., Hesp, S.A., Hall, N.G., Potter, I.C. (2009) The western blue groper (*Achoerodus gouldii*), a protogynous hermaphroditic labrid with exceptional longevity, late maturity, slow growth, and both late maturation and sex change. *Fishery Bulletin* **107**, 57-75.
- Cox, S.P., Beard, T.D., Walters, C. (2002) Harvest control in open-access sport fisheries: hot rod or asleep at the reel? *Bulletin of Marine Science* **70**, 749-761.
- de la Mare, W. (1998) Tidier fisheries management requires a new MOP (management-oriented paradigm). *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* **8**, 349-356.
- Department of Fisheries, Western Australia (2009) *Western Rock Lobster Ecological Risk Assessment. Chapter 2.* Fisheries Occasional Publication No. 63. Accessed 1 December 2010, http://www.fish.wa.gov.au/docs/op/op063/fop63.pdf>.
- Department of Fisheries, Western Australia (2010) *Recreational Fishing Guide West Coast Region*, Department of Fisheries, WA, accessed 1 December 2010, http://www.fish.wa.gov.au/docs/pub/WestLimits/westcoast_rules_2010.pdf>.
- Deriso, R.B., Quinn II, T.J., Neal, P.R. (1985) Catch-age analysis with auxiliary information. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **42**, 815-824.
- Dichmont, C.M., Deng, A., Punt, A.E., Venables, W., Haddon, M. (2006) Management strategies for short-lived species: the case of Australia's northern prawn fishery. 1. Accounting for multiple species, spatial structure and implementation uncertainty when evaluating risk. *Fisheries Research* **82**, 204-220.
- Dunn, A., Francis, R.I.C.C., Doonan, I.J. (2002) Comparison of the Chapman-Robson and regression estimators of *Z* from catch-curve data when non-sampling stochastic error is present. *Fisheries Research* **59**, 149-159.
- Francis, R.I.C.C., Shotton, R. (1997) "Risk" in fisheries management: a review. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **54**, 1699-1715.
- Fulton, E.A., Smith, A.D.M., Punt, A.E. (2005) Which ecological indicators can robustly detect effects of fishing? *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **62**, 540-551.
- Grandcourt, E.M., Hecht, T., Booth, A.J., Robinson, J. (2008) Retrospective stock assessment of the emperor red snapper (*Lutjanus sebae*) on the Seychelles Bank between 1977 and 2006. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **65**, 889-898.
- Greenstreet, S.P.R., Fraser, H.M., Piet, G.J. (2009) Using MPAs to address regionalscale ecological objectives in the North Sea: modelling the effects of fishing effort displacement. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **66**, 90-100.

- Griffiths, M.H. (1997) The application of per-recruit models to *Argyrosomus inodorus*, an important South African sciaenid fish. *Fisheries Research* **30**, 103-115.
- Griffiths, S.P. (2010) Stock assessment and efficacy of size limits on longtail tuna (*Thunnus tonggol*) caught in Australian waters. *Fisheries Research* **102**, 248-257.
- Guénette, S., Lauck, T., Clark, C. (1998) Marine reserves: from Beverton and Holt to the present. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* **8**, 251-272.
- Haapasaari, P., Michielsens, C.G.J., Karjalainen, T.P., Reinikainen, K., Kuikka, S. (2007) Management measures and fishers' commitment to sustainable exploitation: a case study of Atlantic salmon fisheries in the Baltic Sea. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 64, 825-833.
- Hall, N.G. (2005) *Development and testing of a dynamic model for data from recreational fisheries*. Final report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation on Project No. 2002/075. Centre for Fish and Fisheries Research, Murdoch University, Murdoch, Western Australia, 52 pp.
- Hall, N.G., Hesp, S.A., Potter, I.C. (2004) A Bayesian approach for overcoming inconsistencies in mortality estimates using, as an example, data for *Acanthopagrus latus. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **61**, 1202-1211.
- Halpern, B.S., Lester, S.E., McLeod, K.L. (2010) Placing marine protected areas onto the ecosystem-based management seascape. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**, 18312-18317.
- Harley, S.J., Millar, R.B., McArdle, B.H. (2000) Estimating unaccounted fishing mortality using selectivity data: an application in the Hauraki Gulf snapper (*Pagrus auratus*) fishery in New Zealand. *Fisheries Research* **45**, 167-178.
- Hesp, S.A., Potter, I.C., Hall, N.G. (2002) Age and size compositions, growth rates, reproductive biology, and habitats of the West Australian dhufish (*Glaucosoma hebraicum*) and their relevance to the management of this species. *Fishery Bulletin* **100**, 214-227.
- Hesp, S.A., Hall, N.G., Potter, I.C. (2004) Size-related movements of *Rhabdosargus sarba* in three different environments and their influence on estimates of von Bertalanffy growth parameters. *Marine Biology* **144**, 449-462.
- Hesp, S.A., Burch, R.J., Tink, C.J., Hall, N.G. (2010) Development of an agent-based model to communicate implications of recruitment variability of finish to recreational fishers. Final report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation on Project No. 2005/036. Centre for Fish and Fisheries Research, Murdoch University, Murdoch, Western Australia, 81 pp.
- Hilborn, R. (1997) Uncertainty, risk, and the precautionary approach. In: *Global trends: fisheries management* (E. Pikitch, D.D. Huppert, M.P. Sissenwine, eds.), American Fisheries Society Symposium 20, Bethesda, MD, pp. 100-106.

- Hilborn, R. (2003) The state of the art in stock assessment: where we are and where we are going. *Scientia Marina* **67**, 15-20.
- Hilborn, R., Liermann, M. (1998) Standing on the shoulders of giants: learning from experience in fisheries. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* **8**, 273-283.
- Hilborn, R., Walters, C.J. (1992) *Quantitative fisheries stock assessment: choice, dynamics and uncertainty.* Chapman & Hall, New York, NY, 570 pp.
- Holland, D.S., Sutinen, J.G. (1999) An empirical model of fleet dynamics in New England trawl fisheries. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science* **56**, 253-264.
- Homans, F.R., Ruliffson, J.A. (1999) The effects of minimum size limits on recreational fishing. *Marine Resource Economics* **14**, 1-14.
- Isermann, D.A., Willis, D.W., Blackwell, B.G., Lucchesi, D.O. (2007) Yellow perch in South Dakota: population variability and predicted effects of creel limit reductions and minimum length limits. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* 27, 918-931.
- Jensen, A.L. (1984) Non-linear catch curves resulting from variation in mortality among subpopulations. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **41**, 121-124.
- Jensen, A.L. (1985) Comparison of catch-curve methods for estimation of mortality. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **114**, 743-747.
- Jentoft, S., McCay, B. (1995) User participation in fisheries management: lessons drawn from international experiences. *Marine Policy* **19**, 227-246.
- Johnson, T.R., van Densen, W.L.T. (2007) The benefits and organization of cooperative research for fisheries management. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **64**, 862-868.
- Jones, P.J.S. (2001) Marine protected area strategies: issues, divergences and the search for middle ground. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* **11**,197-216.
- Kaiser, M.J. (2005) Are marine protected areas a red herring or fisheries panacea? *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science* **62**, 1194-1199.
- Kaplan, I.M., McCay, B.J. (2004) Cooperative research, co-management and the social dimension of fisheries science and management. *Marine Policy* **28**, 257-258.
- Kell, L.T., Pastoors, M.A., Scott, R.D., Smith, M.T., Van Beek, F.A., O'Brien, C.M., Pilling, G.M. (2005) Evaluation of multiple management objectives for Northeast Atlantic flatfish stocks: sustainability vs. stability of yield. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 62, 1104-1117.

- Kell, L.T., Pilling, G.M., Kirkwood, G.P., Pastoors, M.A., Mesnil, B., Korsbrekke, K., Abaunza, P., Aps, R., Biseau, A., Kunzlik, P., Needle, C.L., Roel, B.A., Ulrich, C. (2006) An evaluation of multi-annual management strategies for ICES roundfish stocks. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 63, 12-24.
- Kell, L.T., Mosqueira, I., Grosjean, P., Fromentin, J-M., Garcia, D., Hillary, R., Jardim, E., Mardle, S., Pastoors, M.A., Poos, J.J., Scott, F., Scott, R.D. (2007) FLR: an open-source framework for the evaluation and development of management strategies. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 64, 640-646.
- Kirchner, C.H., Holtzhausen, J.A., Voges, S.F. (2001) Introducing size limits as a management tool for the recreational line fishery of silver kob, Argyrosomus inodorus (Griffiths and Heemstra), in Namibian waters. Fisheries Management and Ecology 8, 227-237.
- Kraak, S.B.M., Buisman, F.C., Dickey-Collas, M., Poos, J.J., Pastoors, M.A., Smit, J.G.P., van Oostenbrugge, J.A.E., Daan, N. (2008) The effect of management choices on the sustainability and economic performance of a mixed fishery: a simulation study. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 65, 697-712.
- Koslow, J.A. (1989) Managing nonrandomly varying fisheries. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **46**, 1302-1308.
- Koslow, J.A., Boehlert, G.W., Gordon, J.D.M., Haedrich, R.L., Lorance, P., Parin, N. (2000) Continental slope and deep-sea fisheries: implications for a fragile ecosystem. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **57**, 548-557.
- Lackey, R.T. (1998) Fisheries management: integrating societal preference, decision analysis, and ecological risk assessment. *Environmental Science & Policy* **1**, 329-335.
- Leaman, B.M, Beamish, R.J. (1984) Ecological and management implications of longevity in some Northeast Pacific groundfishes. *Bulletin of the International North Pacific Fisheries Commission* **42**, 85-97.
- Little, L.R., Begg, G.A., Goldman, B., Ellis, N., Mapstone, B.D., Punt, A.E., Jones, A., Sutton, S., Williams, A. (2008) *Modelling multi-species targeting of fishing effort in the Queensland coral reef fin fish fishery*. Final report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation on Project No. 2001/020. Fishing and Fisheries Research Centre Technical Report No. 2. Fishing and Fisheries Research Centre, James Cook University, Townsville, Queensland, 291 pp.
- Ludwig, D., Hilborn, R., Walters, C. (1993) Uncertainty, resource exploitation, and conservation: lessons from history. *Science* **260**, 17, 36.
- Lynch, T.P. (2006) Incorporation of recreational fishing effort into design of marine protected areas. *Conservation Biology* **20**, 1466-1476.
- Martin, L., Magnuszewski, P., Sendzimir, J., Rydzak, F., Krolikowska, K., Komorowski, H., Lewandowska-Czarnecka, A., Wojanowska, J., Lasut, A., Magnuszewska, J., Goliczewski, P. (2007) Microworld gaming of a local agricultural production chain in Poland. *Simulation & Gaming* **38**, 211-232.

- Mathevet, R., Le Page, C., Etienne, M., Lefebvre, G., Poulin, B., Gigot, G., Proréol, S., Mauchamp, A. (2007) BUTORSTAR: a role-playing game for collective awareness of wise reedbed use. *Simulation & Gaming* **38**, 233-262.
- McAllister, M., Babcock, E.A., Pikitch, E.K. (2001) Using Bayesian methods and decision analysis as a rational basis to dealing with conflicting stock assessment results while providing management advice on stock rebuilding. *Collective Volume of Scientific Papers, ICCAT* **52**, 1706-1728.
- McAllister, M.K., Pikitch, E.K., Punt, A.E., Hilborn, R. (1994) A Bayesian approach to stock assessment and harvest decisions using the sampling/importance resampling algorithm. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **51**, 2673-2687.
- McArdle, B.H., Anderson, M.J. (2001) Fitting multivariate models to community data: a comment on distance-based redundancy analysis. *Ecology* **82**, 290-297.
- McPhee, D.P., Leadbitter, D., Skilleter, G.A. (2002) Swallowing the bait: is recreational fishing in Australia ecologically sustainable? *Pacific Conservation Biology* **8**, 40-51.
- Mikalsen, K.H., Jentoft, S. (2001) From user-groups to stakeholders? The public interest in fisheries management. *Marine Policy* **25**, 281-292.
- Murphy, M.D. (1997) Bias in Chapman-Robson and least-squares estimators of mortality rates for steady-state populations. *Fishery Bulletin* **95**, 863-868.
- Myers, R.A. (2001) Stock and recruitment: generalizations about maximum reproductive rate, density dependence, and variability using meta-analytic approaches. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **58**, 937-951.
- Myers, R.A., Mertz, G. (1998) The limits of exploitation: a precautionary approach. *Ecological Applications* **8** (suppl. 1), 165-169.
- Paukert, C.P., Willis, D.W., Gabelhouse Jr., D.W. (2002) Effect and acceptance of bluegill length limits in Nebraska natural lakes. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* 22, 1306-1313.
- Pennington, M., Burmeister, L-M., Hjellvik, V. (2002) Assessing the precision of frequency distributions estimated from trawl-survey samples. *Fishery Bulletin* **100**, 74-80.
- Peterman, R.M. (2004) Possible solutions to some challenges facing fisheries scientists and managers. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **61**, 1331-1343.
- Polacheck, T., Klaer, N.L., Millar, C., Preece, A.L. (1999) An initial evaluation of management strategies for the southern bluefin tuna fishery. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **56**, 811-826.
- Pradhan, N.C., Leung, P.S. (2004) Modeling trip choice behavior of the longline fishers in Hawaii. *Fisheries Research* **68**, 209-224.

- Prince, J.D., Peeters, H., Gorfine, H., Day, R.W. (2008) The novel use of harvest policies and rapid visual assessment to manage spatially complex abalone resources. *Fisheries Research* **94**, 330-338.
- Punt, A.E. (2008) Refocusing stock assessment in support of policy evaluation. In: *Fisheries for Global Welfare and Environment* (K. Tsukamoto, T. Kawamura, T. Takeuchi, T.D. Beard Jr., M.J. Kaiser, eds.), 5th World Fisheries Congress, Terrapub, Tokyo, pp. 139-152.
- Punt, A.E., Hilborn, R. (1997) Fisheries stock assessment and decision analysis: the Bayesian approach. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* **7**, 35-63.
- Punt, A.E., Smith, A.D.M. (1999) Harvest strategy evaluation for the eastern stock of gemfish (*Rexea solandri*). *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **56**, 860-875.
- Punt, A.E., Smith, A.D.M., Cui, G. (2002) Evaluation of management tools for Australia's south east fishery. 1. Modelling the south east fishery taking account of technical interactions. *Marine and Freshwater Research* **53**, 615-629.
- Punt, A.E., Pribac, F., Taylor, B.L., Walker, T.I. (2005) Harvest strategy evaluation for school and gummy shark. *Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science* 35, 387-406.
- Rademeyer, R.A., Plagányi, É.E., Butterworth, D.S. (2007) Tips and tricks in designing management procedures. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **64**, 618-625.
- Ricker, W.E. (1975) Computer and interpretation of biological statistics of fish populations. Bulletin of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada No. 191, Ottawa, Canada, 382 pp.
- Rochet, M-J., Rice, J.C. (2009) Simulation-based management strategy evaluation: ignorance disguised as mathematics? *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **66**, 754-762.
- Rudershausen, P.J., Buckel, J.A., Williams, E.H. (2007) Discard composition and release fate in the snapper and grouper commercial hook-and-line fishery in North Carolina, USA. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* **14**, 103-113.
- Sainsbury, K.J., Punt, A.E., Smith, A.D.M. (2000) Design of operational management strategies for achieving fishery ecosystem objectives. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **57**, 731-741.
- Schnute, J.T., Maunder, M.N., Ianelli, J.N. (2007) Designing tools to evaluate fishery management strategies: can the scientific community deliver? *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **64**, 1077-1084.
- Seber, G.A.F (1973) *The estimation of animal abundance and related parameters*. Griffin, London, 506 pp.

- Sluczanowski, P.R. (1984) A management oriented model of an abalone fishery whose substocks are subject to pulse fishing. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **41**, 211-225.
- Smith, A.D.M. (1993) Risks of over- and under-exploiting new resources. In: *Risk evaluation and biological reference points for fisheries management* (S.J. Smith, J.J. Hunt, D. Rivard, eds.), Canadian Special Publication of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 120, pp. 261-267.
- Smith, A.D.M. (1994) Management strategy evaluation the light on the hill. In: *Population dynamics for fisheries management* (D.A. Hancock, ed.), Australian Society of Fish Biology Workshop Proceedings, Perth, Western Australia, pp. 249-253.
- Smith, A.D.M., Sainsbury, K.J., Stevens, R.A. (1999) Implementing effective fisheries-management systems management strategy evaluation and the Australian partnership approach. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **56**, 967-979.
- Smith, A.D.M., Smith, D.C., Tuck, G.N., Klaer, N., Punt, A.E., Knuckey, I., Prince, J., Morison, A., Kloser, R., Haddon, M., Wayte, S., Day, J., Fay, G., Pribac, F., Fuller, M., Taylor, B., Little, L.R. (2008) Experience in implementing harvest strategies in Australia's south-eastern fisheries. *Fisheries Research* 94, 373-379.
- Smith, M.D., Lynham, J., Sanchirico, J.N., Wilson, J.A. (2010) Political economy of marine reserves: understanding the role of opportunity costs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**, 18300-18305.
- Smith, P.J. (1990) Survey design optimization for catch curve analysis. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference* **26**, 277-290.
- Smith, W.E., Scharf, F.S., Hightower, J.E. (2009) Fishing mortality in North Carolina's southern flounder fishery: direct estimates of instantaneous fishing mortality from a tag return experiment. *Marine and Coastal Fisheries: Dynamics, Management, and Ecosystem Science* **1**, 283-299.
- Sokal, R.R., Rohlf, F.J. (1995) *Biometry: the principles and practice of statistics in biological research.* 3rd edition. Freeman, New York, NY, 887 pp.
- Somers, I.F., Wang, Y-G. (1997) A simulation model for evaluating seasonal closures in Australia's multispecies northern prawn fishery. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **17**, 114-130.
- Soulié, J-C, Thébaud, O. (2006) Modeling fleet response in regulated fisheries: an agent-based approach. *Mathematical and Computer Modelling* **44**, 553-564.
- St John, J., Syers, C.J. (2005) Mortality of the demersal West Australian dhufish, *Glaucosoma hebraicum* (Richardson 1845) following catch and release: the influence of capture depth, venting and hook type. *Fisheries Research* **76**, 106-116.

- Sullivan, K., Smith, D.C., Gason, A. (1994) Getting the right information for agestructured models. In: *Population dynamics for fisheries management* (D.A. Hancock, ed.), Australian Society of Fish Biology Workshop Proceedings, Perth, Western Australia, pp. 91-98.
- Walters, C.J. (1998) Evaluation of quota management policies for developing fisheries. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **55**, 2691-2705.
- Walters, C., Maguire, J-J. (1996) Lessons for stock assessment from the northern cod collapse. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* **6**, 125-137.
- Watson, R.A., Die, D.J., Restrepo, V.R. (1993) Closed seasons and tropical penaeid fisheries: a simulation including fleet dynamics and uncertainty. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **13**, 326-336.
- Wise, B.S., St John, J., Lenanton, R.C. (2007) Spatial scales of exploitation among populations of demersal scalefish: implications for management. Part 1: stock status of the key indicator species for the demersal scalefish fishery in the West Coast Bioregion. Final report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation on Project No. 2003/052. Fisheries Research Report No. 163. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia, 130 pp.
- Woodward, R.T., Griffin, W.L. (2003) Size and bag limits in recreational fisheries: theoretical and empirical analysis. *Marine Resource Economics* **18**, 239-262.

APPENDIX 1: Intellectual property

The information produced in the study is not suited to commercialisation.

APPENDIX 2: Project staff

Miss Emily Fisher

Dr Alex Hesp

Prof Norm Hall

APPENDIX 3: Model description

This appendix provides the reader a mathematical description of the MSE model. An overview of the MSE framework is provided in Chapter 1 and a general introduction to the model and program interface is provided in Chapter 2.

Because this appendix is of a highly-mathematical nature, it was developed using LaTeX, a software package which is extensively used by mathematicians. LaTeX provides numerous features that assist in writing complex mathematical equations and produces a publication quality document that presents the equations in a well laid-out form, such as might appear in a mathematical textbook. This appendix thus differs somewhat in layout and style from that of the main body of the report.

THE OPERATING MODEL

Age-, length- and sex-structure

The population may be represented as an array N_t containing the numbers of fish of each sex lying within each age and length class at the start of year t. Thus,

$$\boldsymbol{N}_{t} = \begin{pmatrix} n_{1,1,f,t} & n_{1,2,f,t} & \cdots & n_{1,J,f,t} \\ n_{2,1,f,t} & n_{2,2,f,t} & \cdots & n_{2,J,f,t} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ n_{K,1,f,t} & n_{K,2,f,t} & \cdots & n_{K,J,f,t} \\ n_{1,1,m,t} & n_{1,2,m,t} & \cdots & n_{1,J,m,t} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ n_{K,1,m,t} & n_{K,2,m,t} & \cdots & n_{K,J,m,t} \end{pmatrix}$$
(1)

where $n_{k,j,s,t}$ represents the number of fish of age class j $(1 \le j \le J)$, length class k $(1 \le k \le K)$ and sex s (f = females, m = males) at the start of year t. The columns of this matrix are vectors that contain the numbers of fish within each of the age classes, *i.e.*

$$\boldsymbol{N}_{t} = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{N}_{1,t} & \boldsymbol{N}_{2,t} & \cdots & \boldsymbol{N}_{J,t} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2)

and where the number of fish of integer age a_j at the start of time step t, *i.e.* the number of fish in age class j, is written as the column vector:

$$\boldsymbol{N}_{j,t} = \begin{pmatrix} n_{1,j,f,t} \\ n_{2,j,f,t} \\ \vdots \\ n_{K,j,f,t} \\ n_{1,j,m,t} \\ n_{2,j,m,t} \\ \vdots \\ n_{K,j,m,t} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3)

The maximum age (years) of the simulated fish species considered within the model is denoted by A. Individual fish are classified into J age classes, where

$$J = \lfloor A \rfloor \tag{4}$$

 $\lfloor A \rfloor$, the floor function of A, is the greatest integer age less than or equal to A, *i.e.* the greatest integer age explicitly considered in the model. The fish of integer age $a_j = j$ years are assigned to age class j. That is, the lower boundary of ages within age class j is a_j . The model considers only those fish within the population with integer ages greater than or equal to 1. Thus, recruitment is considered to represent the number of fish that recruit to age class 1, *i.e.* survive to an integer age of 1 year. Fish with integer ages greater than or equal to J are assigned to age class J (*i.e.* this age class is treated as a plus-group).

The model follows size cohorts of fish through time by classifying individuals into length classes according to their length at age. Individual length classes are identified using the subscript k ($1 \le k \le K$), where K is the length class containing the largest fish considered by the model (*i.e.* this length class acts as a plus-group). The lower and upper bounds of length class k are denoted by L_k^{lower} and L_k^{upper} . Fish with lengths smaller than the lower bound of the first length class are assigned to length class 1. Although this specification allows for the use of length classes with different class intervals, the model that has been implemented for this study assumes that all length classes have a common length class interval, L_{int} . To ensure that the whole size range of lengths of individuals in the simulated fish species was covered, the number of length classes used in the model, which was implemented for this study, was set to:

$$K = 1.5 \max\left(L_{\infty,f}, L_{\infty,m}\right) / L_{\text{int}}$$
(5)

where $L_{\infty,s}$ is the asymptotic length of individuals of sex s. The lower and upper bounds of each length class, L_k^{lower} and L_k^{upper} , were determined as

$$L_k^{\text{lower}} = (k-1)L_{\text{int}} \tag{6}$$

$$L_k^{\text{upper}} = k L_{\text{int}} \tag{7}$$

 L_k refers to fish of a length that is equal to the length of fish at the midpoint of length class k, and is determined as

$$L_k = (L_k^{\text{lower}} + L_k^{\text{upper}})/2 \tag{8}$$

Basic population dynamics

In broad terms, the population dynamics of the exploited fish stock is modelled as:

$$N_{j,t} = \begin{cases} R_t & \text{if } j = 1 \\ GXS_{t-1}N_{j-1,t-1} & \text{if } 1 < j < J \\ GXS_{t-1}N_{j-1,t-1} + GXS_{t-1}N_{j,t-1} & \text{if } j = J \end{cases}$$
(9)

where R_t is a vector containing the numbers of fish of age 1 of each sex within each length class, which recruit to the population in year t (see below), S_t is a diagonal matrix, the diagonal elements of which contain the probability that individuals of each length class and sex will survive till the end of year t, X is a matrix containing the probabilities that fish of each length class and sex will either change sex or remain of the same sex at the end of the time step, and G is a growth matrix containing the probabilities that fish will move to a new length class or remain within the same length class at the end of year t. That is, recruitment, survival, sex change and growth are considered as discrete events in the annual time step. Thus, the number of fish at the start of the time step is multiplied by the survival matrix to estimate the number of individuals surviving to the end of the year. The resulting vector is then multiplied by the sex change matrix to allow for sex change if the species is hermaphroditic. Finally, the vector is multiplied by the growth transition matrix to allow for the change in size composition that results from growth.

The number of fish within each length class and of each sex that recruit to age 1 in year t is \mathbf{R}_t , where

$$\boldsymbol{R}_{t} = \begin{pmatrix} R_{1,f,t} \\ R_{2,f,t} \\ \vdots \\ R_{K,f,t} \\ R_{1,m,t} \\ \vdots \\ R_{K,m,t} \end{pmatrix}$$
(10)

where $R_{k,s,t}$ is the number of recruits of sex *s* in length class *k* in year *t*. For each sex, the proportion of age 1 fish recruiting into length class $k, p_{k,s} = R_{k,s,t} / \sum_{k=1}^{K} R_{k,s,t}$, is calculated using the sex-specific von Bertalanffy growth curves, assuming a normal distribution of lengths around each age and normal distributions of the parameters around their point estimates and specified values of the respective standard deviations (see Equation 12). The expected number of age 1 fish in length class *k* and sex *s* in year *t* is given by

$$n_{k,1,s,t} = p_{k,s}\phi_s R_t \tag{11}$$

where ϕ_s is the proportion of recruits that are of sex *s* and the scalar variable R_t is the total number of recruits (over all length classes and both sexes) in year *t*. The values for $p_{k,s}$ were estimated using the NORMP routine of Allen Miller (latest revision - 30, March, 1986), based upon algorithm 5666 from Hart *et al.* (1968), "Computer approximations".

Growth

The patterns of growth of fish of each sex, or if the species is hermaphroditic and the growth of the two sexes is not conspicuously different, of the sexes combined, are described using the von Bertalanffy growth equation. L(a, s), the length (mm) at age a of a fish of sex s, is determined as

$$L(a,s) = L_{\infty,s} \left\{ 1 - \exp\left[-k_s \left(a - t_{0,s} \right) \right] \right\}$$
(12)

where $L_{\infty,s}$ is the asymptotic length (mm) of individuals of this species and sex, k_s is the growth coefficient determining the rate (year⁻¹) at which the lengths of individuals of this sex approach the asymptotic length, and $t_{0,s}$ is the theoretical age (years) at which the expected length would be zero. Because the start of each model time step (*i.e.* biological year) corresponds to an assigned approximate birth date for the species, the lengths of fish determined for integer values of age, *e.g.* at a_j , the integer age of fish in the *j*th age class, using the above equation represent the lengths of fish of this integer age at the beginning of the time step.

An estimate of length at age for a fish within the *j*th age class midway through the annual time step, $L(a_j + 0.5, s)$, subsequently referred to as the length at mid-age, is given by

$$L(a_j + 0.5, s) = L_{\infty,s} \left\{ 1 - \exp\left[-k_s \left(a_j + 0.5 - t_{0,s}\right)\right] \right\}$$
(13)

During each biological year, individuals in a length class will grow and may move to a larger length class, or, if growth is insufficient, will remain in their current length class. A transition matrix, $G = \{g_{j,k,s}\}$ is used to represent the probability that a fish of length class k will move to length class j due to the growth that occurs within each annual time step. Transition between size classes is assumed to be a discrete event that occurs at the end of

the biological year. The growth transition matrix may be written as:

$$\boldsymbol{G} = \begin{pmatrix} g_{1,1,f} & g_{1,2,f} & \cdots & g_{1,K,f} & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ g_{2,1,f} & g_{2,2,f} & \cdots & g_{2,K,f} & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ g_{K,1,f} & g_{K,2,f} & \cdots & 1 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & g_{1,1,m} & g_{1,2,m} & \cdots & g_{1,K,m} \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & g_{2,1,m} & g_{2,2,m} & \cdots & g_{2,K,m} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & g_{K,1,m} & g_{K,2,m} & \cdots & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(14)

where $g_{j,k,s}$ is the proportion of fish of length class k and sex s that grow to length class j during a time step. Note that the columns of G sum to one. The assumption that there is no negative growth requires that $g_{j,k,s} = 0$ for all values of j < k.

Growth of fish in each time step is accounted for in the model after the relative numbers of fish that survive mortality in the current year have been determined, and if the species is hermaphroditic, sex change has taken place. The number of fish in each age-, length- and sex class is calculated by multiplying the vector containing the current numbers of fish in the stock of that age class within each length class for each sex, *i.e.* $X S_{t-1} N_{j,t}$ by the growth transition matrix G to produce a vector containing the numbers of individuals of each sex within each length class for the age class after surviving natural and fishing mortality, and undergoing sex change (if any) and growth. For fish in age classes j < J, the resulting vector represents the number of fish within the next age class at the start of the next year, *i.e.*

$$N_{j,t} = G X S_{t-1} N_{j-1,t-1}$$
(15)

Weight at length and age

The weight W (kg) of a fish of length L (mm) is calculated using the weight-length relationship:

$$W(L) = a_{\rm WL} L^{b_{\rm WL}} \tag{16}$$

where a_{WL} and b_{WL} are the parameters of this power-function. An estimate for the weight of fish of sex *s* in age class *j* at mid-age, $W(L(a_j + 0.5, s))$, is determined from their length at mid-age, $L(a_j + 0.5, s)$, as

$$W(L(a_j + 0.5, s)) = a_{\rm WL}L(a_j + 0.5, s)^{b_{\rm WL}}$$
(17)

Sex ratio

In gonochoristic species, the proportion of age 1 recruits that are of sex s (f= females, m= males), ϕ_s , is

$$\phi_f + \phi_m = 1 \tag{18}$$

Following recruitment, the proportion of fish within length class k that, for a gonochoristic species, are of a given sex is determined in the model by the growth of the individuals of each sex, and by the effects of fishing mortality and gear selectivity.

For hermaphroditic species, it as assumed that, in the absence of fishing mortality and gear selection, the probability that fish of length L are of the terminal sex s_{term} , $P_L^{s_{\text{term}}}$, is a generalised logistic function of the length. Thus,

$$P^{s_{\text{term}}}(L) = \phi_{s_{\text{term}}} + \frac{\phi_{s_{\text{term}}}^{\text{max}} - \phi_{s_{\text{term}}}}{1 + \exp\left[-\log_e(19)\frac{L - L_{50}^{s_{\text{term}}}}{L_{95}^{s_{\text{term}}} - L_{50}^{s_{\text{term}}}}\right]}$$
(19)

where $\phi_{s_{\text{term}}}$ is the proportion of age 1 fish that are of the terminal sex, $\phi_{s_{\text{term}}}^{\text{max}}$ is the maximum proportion of individuals in an unexploited stock that will ultimately be of the terminal sex, and $L_{50}^{s_{\text{term}}}$ and $L_{95}^{s_{\text{term}}}$ are the lengths at which 50% and 95% of fish are of the terminal sex. This slightly generalised form of the logistic curve allows for diandric hermaphroditism, *i.e.* where some (but not all) individuals of the terminal sex have changed sex before having first become mature as the initial sex, and also for the possibility that not all individuals will ultimately change sex.

The probability that a fish in length class k is of the terminal sex, $P_k^{s_{term}}$, is calculated as

$$P^{s_{\text{term}}}(L_k) = \phi_{s_{\text{term}}} + \frac{\phi_{s_{\text{term}}}^{\text{max}} - \phi_{s_{\text{term}}}}{1 + \exp\left[-\log_e(19)\frac{L_k - L_{50}^{s_{\text{term}}}}{L_{95}^{s_{\text{term}}} - L_{50}^{s_{\text{term}}}}\right]}$$
(20)

Sex change in hermaphroditic species

The probability that fish in length class k undergo sex change at the annual time step, X_k , may be calculated from the change in length that is expected to occur. From the von Bertalanffy growth curve, fish of length L_k and sex s would be expected to grow to $L_k + (L_{\infty,s} - L_k) (1 - \exp[-k_s])$. Thus,

$$X_{k} = \frac{\left(P^{s_{\text{term}}}\left(L_{k} + \left(L_{\infty,s} - L_{k}\right)\left(1 - \exp\left[-k_{s}\right]\right)\right) - P^{s_{\text{term}}}\left(L_{k}\right)\right)}{\left(1 - P^{s_{\text{term}}}\left(L_{k}\right)\right)}$$
(21)

The resulting probability X_k thus represents the fraction of individuals of hermaphroditic species within length class k that will change from the initial to the terminal sex over the annual time step. This may be written as $X_{k,f\to m}$ for a protogynous species, and as $X_{k,m\to f}$ for a protandrous species. For a gonochoristic or protogynous species, $X_{k,m\to f} = 0$, while for a gonochoristic or protandrous species, $X_{k,m\to f} = 0$. Thus, the sex transition matrix, X, may be written as

$$\boldsymbol{X} = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{X}_{f \to f} & \boldsymbol{X}_{m \to f} \\ \boldsymbol{X}_{f \to m} & \boldsymbol{X}_{m \to m} \end{pmatrix}$$
(22)

where the sub-matrices $X_{f \to f}$, $X_{m \to f}$, $X_{f \to m}$ and $X_{m \to m}$ represent the proportions of females remaining as females, males changing to females, females changing to males and males remaining as males, respectively. These sub-matrices may be written as

$$\boldsymbol{X}_{f \to f} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 - X_{1,f \to m} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 - X_{2,f \to m} & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 - X_{K,f \to m} \end{pmatrix}$$
(23)

$$\boldsymbol{X}_{m \to f} = \begin{pmatrix} X_{1,m \to f} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & X_{2,m \to f} & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & X_{K,m \to f} \end{pmatrix}$$
(24)
$$\boldsymbol{X}_{f \to m} = \begin{pmatrix} X_{1,f \to m} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & X_{2,f \to m} & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & X_{K,f \to m} \end{pmatrix}$$
(25)
$$\boldsymbol{X}_{m \to m} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 - X_{1,m \to f} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 - X_{2,m \to f} & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 - X_{K,m \to f} \end{pmatrix}$$
(26)

where $X_{k,f\to m}$ is the proportion of fish of length class k that change sex from female to male at the end of the time step if the species is protogynous (zero otherwise) and $X_{k,m\to f}$ is the proportion of fish of length class k that change sex from male to female if the species is protandrous (zero otherwise).

Maturity

The proportion of fish in length class k that are mature is determined for each sex of gonochoristic species, and for the initial sex of hermaphroditic species, as

$$\psi_{k,s}^{\text{mat}} = \left\{ 1 + \exp(-\log_e(19) \frac{L_k - L_{50,s}^{\text{mat}}}{L_{95,s}^{\text{mat}} - L_{50,s}^{\text{mat}}} \right\}^{-1}$$
(27)

where $L_{50,s}^{\text{mat}}$ and $L_{95,s}^{\text{mat}}$ are the lengths at which 50% and 95% of individuals of that sex are mature, and L_k , which is the length of fish at the midpoint of the length class, is assumed to represent the average length of fish in this length class. Note that, for hermaphroditic species, it is assumed that all fish of the terminal sex are mature.

Fecundity

Two alternative approaches are used in the operating model to describe the relationship between fish length and fecundity. The first method estimates fecundity (batch or annual fecundity, depending on the input parameters) from a linear relationship between the natural logarithms of length and fecundity, whilst the other employs a cubic polynomial function, as used by Wise *et al.* (2007) for the fecundity of West Australian Dhufish (*Glaucosoma hebraicum*). Thus, the fecundity of females in length class k is denoted by BF_{k,f}, and is determined from the length at the midpoint of the length class, L_k , as

$$BF_{k,f} = \exp\left[a_{fec}\log_e\left(L_k\right) - b_{fec}\right]$$
(28)

or, in the case of *G. hebraicum* (Wise *et al.*, 2007)

$$BF_{k,f} = (b_{fec}L_{a_j+0.5,f} - a_{fec})^3$$
(29)

where a_{fec} and b_{fec} are the parameters of these fecundity functions and which are specific for the fish species simulated. For immature fish where length $L_k \leq L_{50,f}^{\text{mat}}$, it is assumed that $BF_{a_i+0.5,f}$ equals zero.

Spawning biomass

The contribution to the mature biomass (kg) of a fish of sex *s* in length class *k* and sex *s* at the beginning of each biological year (*i.e.* at the time of spawning), $S_{k,s}$, is $\psi_{k,s}^{\text{mat}}W(L_k)$, where $\psi_{k,s}^{\text{mat}}$ is the proportion of fish of that length class and sex that are mature and $W(L_k)$ denotes the individual body mass of those fish. The total spawning biomass of each sex in the stock at each time step, $S_{s,t}$, is calculated as

$$B_{s,t}^{\rm sp} = \sum_{j=1}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{K} \psi_{k,s}^{\rm mat} n_{k,j,s,t} W(L_k)$$
(30)

where $n_{k,j,s,t}$ is the number of fish of age class j, length class k and sex s in the stock.

Stock-recruitment

 \dot{R}_t , the expected recruitment of age 1 fish (thousands of fish) in year *t* is assumed to follow the Beverton and Holt (1957) stock-recruitment relationship, and is calculated from the female spawning biomass in the preceding spawning season, $S_{f,t-1}$, as

$$\hat{R}_{t} = \frac{B_{f,t-1}^{\rm sp}}{a_{\rm SRR} + b_{\rm SRR} B_{f,t-1}^{\rm sp}}$$
(31)

where a_{SRR} and b_{SRR} are parameters of this function. Equilibrium recruitment in the absence of fishing, R^0 , referred to as virgin recruitment, is calculated as

$$R^{0} = (\mathrm{SBR}_{f}^{0} - a_{\mathrm{SRR}}) / (\mathrm{SBR}_{f}^{0} b_{\mathrm{SRR}})$$
(32)

where SBR_{f}^{0} is the spawning biomass per recruit for females in an unexploited stock at equilibrium (Mace, 1994). The virgin spawning biomass (kg) of this unexploited stock at equilibrium, $S^{\text{sp},0}$, is calculated as

$$S^{\rm sp,0} = {\rm SBR}_f^0 R^0 \tag{33}$$

A re-parameterised form of the Beverton and Holt stock-recruitment relationship has been used in this study. This employs a steepness parameter, z, which is defined as the proportion of the virgin recruitment that is produced when the spawning biomass has been reduced to 20% of the virgin spawning biomass (Francis, 1992). Using the steepness parameter, the stock-recruitment parameters a_{SRR} and b_{SRR} can be calculated as functions of z, R_0 and S_0 , where

$$a_{\rm SRR} = S^{\rm sp,0}(1-z)/(4zR_0) \tag{34}$$

$$b_{\rm SRR} = (5z - 1)/(4zR_0)$$
 (35)

Recruitment variability

The operating model introduces inter-annual variability in recruitment of age 1 fish to the simulated fish stock by drawing for each year a random variate, ϵ_t , from a selected statistical distribution and calculating the annual recruitment, R_t , as

$$R_t = \hat{R}_t \exp\left[\epsilon_t - \frac{\sigma_R^2}{2}\right]$$
(36)

 ϵ_t is the natural logarithm of the annual deviation in recruitment from its expected value, \hat{R}_t , which is calculated from the preceding year's spawning biomass using the Beverton and Holt stock-recruitment relationship, and σ_R^2 is the standard deviation of the normal distribution of the log-transformed values of recruitment. The term $-(\sigma_R^2)/2$ provides an adjustment to the value of the annual recruitment deviation that corrects for the bias in the mean value for recruitment, which arises as a result of the logarithmic transformation. Prior to commencing the MSE analysis, the distribution of ϵ_t may be selected from one of three alternative statistical distributions. The alternative distributions assume that

1. recruitment deviations are log-normally distributed.

$$\epsilon_t \sim N(0, \sigma_R^2) \tag{37}$$

2. recruitment deviations are log-normally distributed and auto-correlated between successive years.

$$\epsilon_t = \rho \eta_{t-1} + \left(1 - \rho^2\right)^{0.5} \eta_t \text{ where } \eta_t \sim N(0, \sigma_R^2)$$
(38)

3. recruitment is episodic and auto-correlated. e_t is thus determined as

$$\epsilon_t = \exp\left[\rho\eta_{t-1} + \left(1 - \rho^2\right)^{0.5} \eta_t - 1\right] \text{ where } \eta_t \sim N(0, \sigma_R^2)$$
(39)

Selectivity

The selectivity of the fish in length class k, *i.e.* the vulnerability of individuals of the length of fish at the midpoint of the length class to being caught by the fishing gear, is denoted by V_k . This selectivity is calculated as

$$V_k = \left\{ 1 + \exp\left[-\log_e(19) \frac{L_k - L_{50}^{\text{Vuln}}}{L_{95}^{\text{Vuln}} - L_{50}^{\text{Vuln}}} \right] \right\}^{-1}$$
(40)

where L_{50}^{Vuln} and L_{95}^{Vuln} are the lengths at which fish have vulnerabilities of 50% and 95% of fish that are fully vulnerable to the fishery.

Mortality

The survival matrix that results from the combined effects of natural and fishing mortality may be written as

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{t} = \begin{pmatrix} s_{1,f,t} & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & s_{2,f,t} & \cdots & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & s_{K,f,t} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & s_{1,m,t} & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & \cdots & s_{K,m,t} \end{pmatrix}$$
(41)

where $s_{k,s,t}$ is the proportion of fish of length class k and sex s that survive both natural and fishing mortality, *i.e.* M and $F_{k,s,t}$, respectively, over the annual time step t. Note that the proportion surviving over the annual time step may be calculated as the product of the proportions surviving over each of the number of shorter time periods into which the year may be divided, thereby allowing the calculation of the effects of bag and boat limits with greater accuracy.

In the absence of fishing mortality, the total mortality of fish of sex s in length class k in year t is equal to the instantaneous rate of natural mortality. Thus, in this case, the proportion of fish that survive from the start to the end of the annual time step is calculated as

$$s_{k,s,t} = \exp\left(-M\right) \tag{42}$$

Natural mortality is estimated from the maximum age, A, of the fish species using Hoenig's (1983) mortality equation for fish, *i.e.*

$$M = \exp\{1.46 - 1.01\log_e A\}$$
(43)

If the fish in the stock are subjected to fishing, and it is assumed that $F_{k,s,t}$ is the effective instantaneous rate of mortality of fish of sex *s* in length class *k* due to fishing in year *t* after allowing for all input and output controls, the instantaneous rate of total mortality (year⁻¹) for fish of that sex and length class in that year, $Z_{k,s,t}$, is assumed to equal the sum of the instantaneous rates of natural mortality (year⁻¹), *M*, and the length-, and sex-specific fishing mortality, $F_{k,s,t}$. That is,

$$Z_{k,s,t} = M + F_{k,s,t} \tag{44}$$

The fraction of fish that survive from the beginning to the end of the annual time step then becomes

$$s_{k,s,t} = \exp\left(-Z_{k,s,t}\right) \tag{45}$$

The value of the "initial equilibrium fishing mortality", F_{init} , which is input to the MSE prior to the start of the simulation runs represents the instantaneous rate of capture of fish in the absence of input or output controls. This, in combination with the input and output controls on fishing mortality, determines the initial state of the stock, *i.e.* the state when the stock is at an exploited equilibrium. After initialising the system state to values that represent this equilibrium state, the initial management strategy that is to be imposed must be specified or determined, and the instantaneous rate of capture and input and output management controls associated with this strategy must be applied by the operating model of the MSE over the requisite/specified projection period. After application of the input controls, the resulting instantaneous rate of capture will determine the probability that fish of different lengths and sexes are caught within year *t*, while the various output controls associated with the management strategy will determine whether the caught fish are landed or released. The level of discard mortality will determine whether released fish die as a result of capture and release, or survive. Note that the extent to which fishers comply with the input and output controls is a factor that also needs to be taken into account.

If $F_{k,s,t}$ is now considered to represent the instantaneous rate of capture after adjusting for the effects of all input controls, where this rate is dependent on length class k, sex s and time step t, an approximation to the proportion of fish that survive from the start to the end of the time step may be calculated as

$$s_{k,s,t} = \exp\left[-\left(Z_{k,s,t}\right)\right] + \frac{F_{k,s,t}}{Z_{k,s,t}} \left[1 - \exp\left(-Z_{k,s,t}\right)\right] p_{k,s,t}^{\text{rel}} \left(1 - P^{\text{rmort}}\right)$$
(46)

where $Z_{k,s,t} = M + F_{k,t,s}$ represents the total mortality if all captured fish were to be retained by fishers, $p_{k,s,t}^{\text{rel}}$ is the fraction of the fish that, as a consequence of output controls, are released after capture rather than landed, and D is the proportion of fish that die after release. The fraction of fish that die as a result of fishing, either through capture and landing or through death following release as a consequence of barotrauma or hook-related injury is

$$\frac{F_{k,s,t}}{Z_{k,s,t}} \left[1 - \exp\left(-Z_{k,s,t}\right)\right] \left(1 - p_{k,s,t}^{\text{rel}} + p_{k,s,t}^{\text{rel}} P^{\text{rmort}}\right)$$
(47)

while the fraction of fish that are caught and landed is

$$\frac{F_{k,s,t}}{Z_{k,s,t}} \left[1 - \exp\left(-Z_{k,s,t}\right)\right] \left(1 - p_{k,s,t}^{\text{rel}}\right)$$
(48)

The above equations represent only an approximation to the true proportion surviving, however, as the release of fish may be considered to be a continuous process, which reduces the instantaneous rate at which the abundance of fish in the population declines. In the case of a MLL output control, the proportion of fish that are released depends on size, while in the case of a bag or boat limit, the proportion released is density-dependent.

The fishing mortality to be applied throughout the projection period, taking into account the various input controls, is determined by the exploitation component of the operating model. To calculate this fishing mortality, the routine adjusts the current level of fishing mortality, which, following the initialisation step, is F_{init} , by the extent to which fishing effort is modified, and by estimating the extent to which fishing mortality is influenced by the various input controls applied by the user to regulate fishing mortality. The effect of the various input and output controls is discussed in greater detail below.

Exploitation

The exploitation component of the operating model simulates the combined effects of various input and output management controls on the fishery, and thus on the resource. The fishing intensity exerted by the recreational fishers may be calculated as E/(AT), where Eis the fishing effort, A is the area over which the effort is applied, and T is the period over which the effort is applied (Gulland, 1969).

It is assumed in this study that effort is measured as the number of fishing trips by boats with a single recreational fisher on board. That is, the units of effort are "fishing trips by boats with one fisher", referred to subsequently in this document as "fishing trips". When calculating fishing effort, fishing trips by boats with more than one fisher on board must be converted to the equivalent number of fishing trips by boats with a single fisher. The instantaneous rate of capture of fish, which are of sizes that are fully-vulnerable to the fishing gear, is denoted by F, and is proportional to fishing intensity. Thus,

$$F = \frac{qE}{AT} \tag{49}$$

where the constant q is referred to as the catchability coefficient. A is the area occupied by the fish stock and, for convenience, is typically assigned the value 1, in which case fishing intensity may be considered to be the average fishing effort per unit of time, where time is measured in years. In the absence of temporal closures, the period over which the recreational fishery operates is usually the full year, and thus T may also be considered to have the value 1. Temporal closures, which reduce the period over which recreational fishers may operate, are considered in more detail below. E is then the number of fishing trips undertaken by recreational fishers over the full year, standardised to the units in which fishing effort is measured, *i.e.* fishing trips by boats with a single fisher. In many other fishery models, F is considered to be the instantaneous rate of fishing mortality. However, as the model in this study considers the effect of output controls, which allow the release and possible survival of some of the fish that are caught, it is more appropriate in this study to refer to F as the instantaneous rate of fish that are fully-vulnerable to the fishing gear.

Standardising the measure of fishing effort

The unit of fishing effort used in this study is a fishing trip by a boat with a single fisher on board. As noted above, fishing trips by boats with more than one fisher on board must be converted into the equivalent number of fishing trips by boats with a single fisher. The latter value is the number of fishing trips by a boat with a single fisher that would retain the same number of fish as would be retained by the boats with more than one fisher on board.

Effects of input management controls

Three alternative input management controls for regulating the level of fishing mortality being experienced by the simulated stock are considered by the model. These include (1) a proportional effort reduction control, (2) a temporal closure control, and (3) a spatial closure control.

Proportional effort reduction

The level of fishing mortality impacting the stock after a proportional reduction in fishing effort (control 1) has been applied, and which is applied during the projection period, F_t^{applied} , is calculated as

$$F_t^{\text{applied}} = F_t^{\text{current}} \left(1 - \psi_{E_{\text{reduced}}} \right) \tag{50}$$

where F_t^{current} is the instantaneous rate of capture prior to application of the input controls associated with the management strategy that is to be applied to the fish stock, and $\psi_{E_{\text{reduced}}}$ is the proportion by which fishing effort is required to be reduced (possibly zero). At the start of the simulation, F_t^{current} is set to the value of F_{init} , *i.e.* the user-specified equilibrium value for fishing mortality for the stock in its initial state. The new level of fishing mortality, F_t^{applied} , will be used as F_t^{current} when determining the fishing mortality to be applied following the next assessment.

The instantaneous rate of capture applied by fishers, F_t^{applied} , will be moderated by any temporal or spatial closures imposed by the management strategy. We discuss below the effect of imposition of a temporal closure, followed by the imposition of a spatial closure.

Temporal closure

The instantaneous rate of capture of fish in the stock, taking account of any temporal closure, F_t^{TC} , is determined as

$$F_t^{\rm TC} = F_t^{\rm applied} \left[1 - \psi_{t_{\rm closed}} {\rm TC}^{\rm effect} \right]$$
(51)

where $\psi_{t_{closed}}$ is the proportion of the year that the fishery is closed to fishing (possibly zero) and TC^{effect} is the effectiveness of the temporal closure. If the closure is 100% effective, the above equation reflects the application of the instantaneous rate of capture over a period that is less than or equal to the full year. TC^{effect} , which is assumed to be related to the duration of the temporal closure, is described as

$$\mathrm{TC}^{\mathrm{effect}} = \left\{ 1 + \exp\left[-\log_e(19) \frac{\psi_{t_{\mathrm{closed}}} - D_{50}^{\mathrm{effect}}}{D_{95}^{\mathrm{effect}} - D_{50}^{\mathrm{effect}}} \right] \right\}^{-1}$$
(52)

where D_{50}^{effect} and D_{95}^{effect} are the durations for which a temporal closure is 50% and 95% effective. The latter term is introduced to compensate for fishers' behaviour, as this typically results in additional effort being applied both before and after the closed season. The extent to which fishers can compensate for the loss of time is reduced as the period of closure is increased.

Spatial closure

It is assumed that, if a spatial closure is implemented, fishing effort will be displaced from the area closed to fishing to the area that remains open. It is also assumed that there is no movement of fish between the open and closed areas. Thus, while it is currently assumed in the model that there is no interchange of fish between closed and open areas, and therefore that the fish within the area closed to fishing are exposed only to natural mortality, those fish in the open area will experience an increase in instantaneous rate of capture. The value of the instantaneous rate of capture after further accounting for any spatial closure, F_t^{AC} , is therefore given by

$$F_t^{\rm AC} = \frac{F_t^{\rm TC}}{1 - \psi_{A_{\rm closed}}}$$
(53)

where $\psi_{A_{closed}}$ is the proportion of the fished area that is closed to fishing. It is thus this level of fishing mortality that will determine the fraction of fish that are caught within the area open to fishing, during the period open to fishing, as a result of the fishing mortality applied by fishers. Note again that, in the absence of output controls, F_t^{AC} , which by convention is termed the "fishing mortality", represents both the instantaneous rates of capture and fishing mortality, but when output controls are introduced, only determines the instantaneous rate of capture.

The fraction of the fish in the area closed to fishing that experience only natural mortality, is $\psi_{A_{closed}}$, while the fraction that experience the increased mortality associated with fishing is $1 - \psi_{A_{closed}}$. In the absence of output controls, the proportion of the fully-vulnerable fish, which are alive at the start of the annual time step and which survive to the end of that time step, is

$$\psi_{A_{\text{closed}}} \exp\left[-M\right] + \left(1 - \psi_{A_{\text{closed}}}\right) \exp\left[-\left(M + F_t^{\text{AC}}\right)\right]$$
(54)

Thus, in the absence of output controls, the overall fishing mortality experienced by the fish stock is

$$F_t = -\log_e \left[\psi_{A_{\text{closed}}} + (1 - \psi_{A_{\text{closed}}}) \exp\left(-F_t^{\text{AC}}\right) \right]$$
(55)

The probability that a fish, which is fully vulnerable to the fishing gear, is caught is the product of the fraction of the population that is exposed to capture and the fraction of the
population in the area open to fishing that is expected to be caught, *i.e.*

$$P^{\text{cap}} = (1 - \psi_{A_{\text{closed}}}) \left\{ \frac{F_t^{\text{AC}}}{M + F_t^{\text{AC}}} \left[1 - \exp\left[- \left(M + F_t^{\text{AC}} \right) \right] \right] \right\}$$
(56)

For fish that are not fully vulnerable to the fishing gear, the instantaneous probability of capture is reduced from F_t^{AC} by the relative vulnerability of those fish. Thus, if F_t^{AC} is the instantaneous probability of capture of fully vulnerable fish in year t, fish in length class k will experience a probability of capture in that year of

$$F_{k,t}^{\rm AC} = V_k F_t^{\rm AC} \tag{57}$$

Thus, the probability of capture of a fish in length class k in year t is

$$P_{k,t}^{\text{cap}} = (1 - \psi_{A_{\text{closed}}}) \left\{ \frac{F_{k,t}^{\text{AC}}}{M + F_{k,t}^{\text{AC}}} \left[1 - \exp\left[- \left(M + F_{k,t}^{\text{AC}}\right) \right] \right] \right\}$$
(58)

The probability of capture of a fish in length class k in a time step of duration τ in year t is

$$P_{k,t}^{\operatorname{cap}_{\tau}} = (1 - \psi_{A_{\operatorname{closed}}}) \left\{ \frac{F_{k,t}^{\operatorname{AC}}}{M + F_{k,t}^{\operatorname{AC}}} \left[1 - \exp\left[- \left(M + F_{k,t}^{\operatorname{AC}}\right)\tau\right] \right] \right\}$$
(59)

Effects of output management controls

The output management controls considered by the model, *i.e.* those implemented to regulate the catches retained by fishers, include (1) a control on the minimum size at which fish are legally able to be retained by fishers, MLL, (2) daily bag and boat limits, and (3) a catch quota. The model also accounts for the effect of post-release mortality of fish of different sizes and ages, resulting from these controls.

MLL

Assuming that the lengths of fish within each length class are uniformly distributed, the probability that a fish in length class k is of a size greater than the MLL specified for that fish species, $P_k^{L \ge \text{MLL}}$, is

$$P_{k}^{L \ge \mathrm{MLL}} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } L_{k}^{\mathrm{upper}} < \mathrm{MLL} \\ 1 & \text{if } L_{k}^{\mathrm{lower}} \ge \mathrm{MLL} \\ \frac{L_{k}^{\mathrm{upper}} - \mathrm{MLL}}{L_{k}^{\mathrm{upper}} - L_{k}^{\mathrm{lower}}} & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(60)

where L_k^{lower} and L_k^{upper} are the lower and upper bounds of length class k.

The probability that a fish in length class k is captured in year t and has a length \geq MLL , $P_{k,t}^{L\geq \mathrm{MLL,cap}}\text{, is}$

$$P_{k,t}^{L \ge \text{MLL,cap}} = P_{k,t}^{\text{cap}} P_k^{L \ge \text{MLL}}$$
(61)

while the probability that a fish in length class k is captured in year t and has a length that is < MLL , $P_{k,t}^{L<{\rm MLL,cap}},$ is

$$P_{k,t}^{L<\text{MLL,cap}} = P_{k,t}^{\text{cap}} (1 - P_k^{L\ge\text{MLL}})$$
(62)

The total expected catch of legal-sized fish over all age and size classes and both sexes, in the absence of bag limits and/or catch quota, C_t , is therefore

$$C_{t} = \sum_{s=f}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{K} P_{k,t}^{L \ge \text{MLL,cap}} n_{k,j,s,t}$$
(63)

The probability that a fish in length class k is caught, has a length that is < MLL and dies, $P_{k,t}^{L < \text{MLL,dies}}$, is calculated as

$$P_{k,t}^{L<\text{MLL,dies}} = P_{k,t}^{L<\text{MLL,cap}} D$$
(64)

D is the probability that an undersized fish is illegally retained or is released and dies from injuries associated with being caught and released, and is determined as

$$D = (\psi^{\text{comply}} P^{\text{rmort}}) + (1 - \psi^{\text{comply}})$$
(65)

where ψ^{comply} is the proportion of fishers complying with the fishing regulations and P^{rmort} is the probability that fish will die if caught and then released.

The probability that a fish in length class k has a length that is < MLL and survives after capture and release, $P_{k,t}^{L < \text{MLL,surv}}$, is

$$P_{k,t}^{L<\text{MLL,surv}} = P_{k,t}^{L<\text{MLL,cap}} \left(1 - D\right)$$
(66)

The probability that a fish in length class k has a length that is \geq MLL and is retained following capture because the fisher has not exceeded the bag and/or boat limit for that species, $P_{k,t}^{L\geq$ MLL_{ret}, is described by

$$P_{k,t}^{L \ge \text{MLL,ret}} = P_{k,t}^{L \ge \text{MLL,cap}} (1 - P_{\text{BL}}^{\text{rel}})$$
(67)

where P_{BL}^{rel} is the probability that a fish is released because of the bag and boat limit restrictions, an input parameter specified prior to model simulations. Initially in this study, the effect of minimum legal length was modelled by calculating the catch of undersized fish over a period of fishing \leq one year. However, it was recognised that release of fish modifies the instantaneous rate of mortality of released fish. Accordingly, the approach was later changed to one which modified the instantaneous rate of capture and thus the rate at which the number of fish in the stock declined. Thus, after allowing for the effect of the minimum legal length,

$$F_{k,t}^{\text{MLL}} = F_{k,t}^{\text{AC}} \left\{ P_k^{L \ge \text{MLL}} + P_k^{L < \text{MLL}} D \right\}$$
(68)

where the proportion of fish of legal size that are caught and retained in the annual time step is

$$(1 - \psi_{A_{\text{closed}}}) \left\{ \frac{F_{k,t}^{\text{AC}} P_k^{L \ge \text{MLL}}}{M + F_{k,t}^{\text{MLL}}} \left[1 - \exp\left[- \left(M + F_{k,t}^{\text{MLL}}\right) \right] \right] \right\}$$
(69)

and the proportion that survive to the end of the annual time step is

$$\psi_{A_{\text{closed}}} \exp\left[-M\right] + \left(1 - \psi_{A_{\text{closed}}}\right) \exp\left[-\left(M + F_{k,t}^{\text{MLL}}\right)\right]$$
(70)

For a shorter time step of duration τ , the proportion of fish of legal size that are caught and retained in the time step is

$$(1 - \psi_{A_{\text{closed}}}) \left\{ \frac{F_{k,t}^{\text{AC}} P_k^{L \ge \text{MLL}}}{M + F_{k,t}^{\text{MLL}}} \left[1 - \exp\left[- \left(M + F_{k,t}^{\text{MLL}}\right) \tau \right] \right] \right\}$$
(71)

and the proportion that survive to the end of the time step is

$$\psi_{A_{\text{closed}}} \exp\left[-M\tau\right] + \left(1 - \psi_{A_{\text{closed}}}\right) \exp\left[-\left(M + F_{k,t}^{\text{MLL}}\right)\tau\right]$$
(72)

Bag and boat limits

This section describes calculations in the model which estimate the proportional reduction in catch resulting from application of the output management controls, after having accounted for the input controls. The broad steps that are undertaken are:

- 1. Determine whether, when both bag and boat limits are applied, the bag or the boat limit constrains retained catches for trips by boats with different numbers of fishers.
- Calculate the expected numbers of fish caught (*i.e.* fish retained and released) when no bag and/or boat limit is applied.
- 3. Calculate the fishing effort, *i.e.* the number of boat trips, based on an estimate of catchability derived from the data supplied to the MSE prior to commencing the simulations.
- 4. Calculate the mean CPUE for fishers when retained catches are, and are not, constrained by bag and/or boat limits.
- 5. Calculate the mean CPUE for retained and released fish for boats with different numbers of fishers.
- 6. Calculate the relative frequency distributions for total catches (*i.e.* unconstrained) and retained catches (*i.e.* constrained) for boats with different numbers of fishers.
- Calculate the expected numbers of fish caught and retained by fishers when a bag and/or boat limit is applied.
- 8. Calculate the mean total and retained catch per boat with a given number of fishers.
- Calculate the proportion of catch retained and released for boats with a given number of fishers.
- 10. Calculate the overall proportion of catch retained and released.

- 11. Estimate the expected catch (*i.e.* as the number of fish caught and retained).
- 12. Determine the proportion of the fish of each sex s, age class j, and length class k that survive capture and either retention or release and post-release mortality associated with their capture.

Determining if catches are constrained by the bag or boat limit, when both are applied The effect of bag and boat limits is dependent on the number of fish that are caught within each fishing trip. The output control has an effect only if this catch exceeds the bag or boat limit. The boat limit, however, is typically determined by the number of fishers on board the boat during the fishing trip. The combined bag limit for the *x* fishers in the fishing party is $BagL_x^{comb}$, which may be calculated as

$$BagL_{x}^{comb} = xBagL$$
(73)

where BagL is the individual bag limit for a fisher. If x is such that the combined bag limit for those fishers, $BagL_x^{comb}$, does not exceed the boat limit, BoatL, the total catch for the trip by the fishers in the boat is constrained by the combined bag limit, otherwise the total catch is constrained by the boat limit. The control that acts to constrain catches, BL_x , is thus determined as

$$BL_{x} = \begin{cases} BoatL & \text{if BoatL} < BagL^{comb} \\ BagL_{x}^{comb} & \text{if BoatL} \ge BagL_{x}^{comb} \end{cases}$$
(74)

Estimating total catch, effort and mean catch per unit of effort with no bag/boat limits

The equations that are presented below assume that, in the absence of bag and boat limits, the catch for a fishing trip by a boat with a single fisher is known and constant. However, as it is assumed that recruitment to the stock occurs only at the beginning of each annual time step, the instantaneous rate of capture is constant during the time step, and growth occurs at the end of the time step, the abundance of legal-sized fish in the stock will decline through the time step. Moreover, when bag and boat limits are introduced, some released fish will survive, and thus the decline in abundance will not be as great as that which would occur if there was no bag or boat limit.

When calculating the effects of the bag and boat limits in the model, however, it is assumed that the value of catch per unit of standard effort that would be obtained in the absence of the bag and boat limits, U_t , is the average value obtained by calculating the ratio of the theoretical catch that would be obtained in the absence of bag and boat limits and the estimate of standard fishing effort, F/q. In calculating the estimate of the theoretical catch (of retained and released fish) in the absence of a bag/boat limit, it is necessary to take the effects of the various input controls, of selectivity of the fishing gear and of the MLL regulation into account, and the resulting catch is the total over sex *s*, length class *k* and age class *j*.

In the initial formulation of this model, the average catch per standard boat trip over the full year was calculated using a single time step, and thus fails to take the change in catch rate within the year into account when estimating the effects of bag and boat limits. By dividing the year into n_{τ} smaller time steps of duration τ , a more accurate assessment of the effect of the bag and boat limit may be obtained. To facilitate the presentation of the methods that are used for this calculation, the number of fish of each sex *s*, within age class *j* and length class *k*, at the start of time step *i* (for $0 \le i \le I$) within year *t*, is denoted by $n_{k,j,s,t,i}$.

The equation used to calculate the probability of capture of a fish in length class k in year t, $P_{k,t}^{cap}$, may be modified to represent the probability of capture of these fish in a time step

151

of duration $\tau.$ Thus, this probability, $P_{k,t}^{\mathrm{cap}_{\tau}},$ may be written as

$$P_{k,t}^{\operatorname{cap}_{\tau}} = (1 - \psi_{A_{\operatorname{closed}}}) \left\{ \frac{F_{k,t}^{\operatorname{AC}}}{M + F_{k,t}^{\operatorname{AC}}} \left[1 - \exp\left[- \left(M + F_{k,t}^{\operatorname{AC}}\right)\tau \right] \right] \right\}$$
(75)

The probability that a fish in length class k is caught within time step i of year t and has a length \geq MLL, $P_{k,t}^{L \geq \text{MLL,cap}_{\tau}}$, is therefore

$$P_{k,t}^{L \ge \text{MLL}, \text{cap}_{\tau}} = P_{k,t}^{\text{cap}_{\tau}} P_{k}^{L \ge \text{MLL}}$$
(76)

The probability that a fish in length class k is caught within time step i of year t and has a length < MLL, $P_{k,t}^{L < \text{MLL, cap}_{\tau}}$, is therefore

$$P_{k,t}^{L<\text{MLL,cap}_{\tau}} = P_{k,t}^{\text{cap}_{\tau}} \left(1 - P_{k}^{L\geq\text{MLL}}\right)$$
(77)

The probability that a fish in length class k has a length that is < MLL and survives after capture and release within time step i, $P_{k,t}^{L < \text{MLL,surv}_{\tau}}$, is

$$P_{k,t}^{L < \text{MLL,surv}_{\tau}} = P_{k,t}^{L < \text{MLL,cap}_{\tau}} \left(1 - D\right)$$
(78)

The number of fish of sex s, age class j, and length class k that are caught in time step i in year t is therefore

$$P_{k,t}^{L \ge \text{MLL,cap}_{\tau}} n_{k,j,s,t,i}$$
(79)

and thus, during time step i, the expected catch per standard boat trip in the absence of bag or boat limits is

$$U_{t} = \frac{\sum_{s=f}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{K} P_{k,t}^{L \ge \text{MLL, cap}_{\tau}} n_{k,j,s,t,i}}{(F\tau) / q}$$
(80)

CPUE for boats with different numbers of fishers

The catch that is made by a boat during a fishing trip depends on the number of fishers on board the boat. Simplistically, the catch per boat trip might be expected to be proportional to the number of fishers, x. The number of fish in the immediate area under the boat is limited, however, and it is therefore likely that the catches made by individual fishers during the fishing trip will decline as x increases. That is, the relative efficiency of each fisher within a fishing party of x fishers is likely to decrease as the number of fishers increases. Thus, if U_t is the mean catch per unit of standard effort of legal-sized fish (before discard due to bag or boat limit, or catch quota) for an individual unit of fishing effort, *i.e.* a boat trip with a single recreational fisher on board, the total catch of legal-sized fish that is expected (before discard due to a bag or boat limit, or catch quota) for a boat trip when x fishers are on board, $U_{x,t}$, is assumed to be

$$U_{x,t} = xU_t \operatorname{re}^{(x-1)} \tag{81}$$

where $re^{(x-1)}$ is the assumed relative efficiency of each individual in the fishing party when there are *x* recreational fishers in the fishing party. The value of an estimate of re is supplied as input to the MSE prior to the start of the simulation runs. Using this, estimates of the expected catch per trip by a boat with *x* recreational fishers on board, $U_{x,t}$, may be calculated for the time step.

Distributions of total and retained catches for trips by boats with different numbers of fishers The catch on a single fishing trip may be considered to be a random variate drawn from the statistical distribution of such catches, where the mean of that distribution is related to the abundance of fish in the population within the area open to fishing at the time of the fishing trip, the vulnerability of those fish to the fishing gear, and the number of fishers on board the boat during the fishing trip. It is assumed in this study that the total number of legal-sized fish that is caught (before bag and boat limits or a catch quota) during a boat trip with x fishers on board is a random variate from a Poisson distribution with a mean catch per boat trip equal to $U_{x,t}$. The probability of capturing exactly y legal-sized fish, $P_{x,t}^{cap}(y|\mu = U_{x,t})$, is therefore

$$P_{x,t}^{\text{cap}}\left(y|\mu = U_{x,t}\right) = \frac{U_{x,t}^{y} \exp\left[-U_{x,t}\right]}{y!}$$
(82)

The probability of capturing Y or less legal-sized fish may be determined from the cumulative distribution function for the Poisson distribution and is thus

$$P_{x,t}^{\text{cap}}(y \le Y | \mu = U_{x,t}) = \frac{\Gamma(Y+1, U_{x,t})}{Y!}$$
(83)

It follows that the probability of capturing Y or more legal-sized fish is

$$P_{x,t}^{\text{cap}}\left(y \ge Y | \mu = U_{x,t}\right) = 1 - \frac{\Gamma\left(Y, U_{x,t}\right)}{(Y-1)!}$$
(84)

If the combination of bag and boat limits constrains the total catch for the fishing trip by a boat with x recreational fishers on board to a maximum catch of BL_x fish, then the probability of capturing y fish, where $0 \le y \le BL_x$ is

$$P_{x,t}^{\text{cap}}\left(y|\mu = U_{x,t}\right) = \begin{cases} \frac{U_{x,t}^{y} \exp\left[-U_{x,t}\right]}{y!} & \text{if } 0 \le y < \text{BL}_{x} \\ 1 - \frac{\Gamma(\text{BL}_{x}, U_{x,t})}{(\text{BL}_{x} - 1)!} & \text{if } y = \text{BL}_{x} \end{cases}$$
(85)

From this, the proportion of fish that are retained following capture, ψ^{ret} , and the proportion that die as a result of capture, $(1 - p^{\text{rmort}}) \psi^{\text{ret}} + p^{\text{rmort}}$, may be calculated. An estimate of retained catch may then be determined as

$$\sum_{s=f}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{K} P_{k,t}^{L \ge MLL, \operatorname{cap}_{\tau}} n_{k,j,s,t,i} \psi^{\operatorname{ret}}$$
(86)

and the number of fish of sex s, length class k, and age class j, that survive to the beginning of time step i, after allowing for the mortality associated with capture and release is

$$n_{k,j,s,t,i} = n_{k,j,s,t,i-1} \left\{ \psi_{A_{\text{closed}}} \exp\left[-M\right] + \left(1 - \psi_{A_{\text{closed}}}\right) \exp\left[-\left(M + F_{k,t}^{\text{AC}}\right)\right] + P_{k,t}^{L < \text{MLL,surv}_{\tau}} + P_{k,t}^{L \ge MLL,\text{cap}_{\tau}} \psi^{\text{rel}} \left(1 - P^{\text{rmort}}\right) \right\}$$
(87)

Proportion of catch that is released when bag and boat limits are applied

Details of the distribution of the relative numbers of fishing trips by boats in which the fishing party contains x ($1 \le x \le X$) fishers are specified as input to the MSE prior to commencing the simulation trials. The maximum number of fishers within any fishing party is denoted by X, and the proportion of trips in which there are x fishers is denoted by P_x . When bag and boat limits are applied, the average catch for a fishing trip by a boat with x fishers on board is reduced from $U_{x,t}$ to

$$\sum_{y=1}^{\mathrm{BL}_{x}} y P_{x,t}^{\mathrm{cap}} \left(y | \mu = U_{x,t} \right)$$
(88)

The number of boat trips by a vessel with x fishers on board may be converted to the equivalent standard effort, *i.e.* the number of boat trips with a single fisher on board that would retain the same catch for the trip, by multiplying by the factor

$$\frac{\sum_{y=1}^{\mathrm{BL}_{x}} y P_{x,t}^{\mathrm{cap}} \left(y | \mu = U_{x,t} \right)}{\sum_{y=1}^{\mathrm{BL}_{1}} y P_{1,t}^{\mathrm{cap}} \left(y | \mu = U_{1,t} \right)},$$
(89)

Note that this factor takes the combined effect of the bag and boat limits on boat trips with different numbers of fishers into account.

If the mean catch per unit of standard effort of legal-sized fish is U_t , the average catch (retained and released fish) per trip over all fishing boats, regardless of the number of fishers on board each boat, is

$$\sum_{x=1}^{X} U_{x,t} P_x \tag{90}$$

and the average number of fish that are caught and retained per trip by each boat, regardless of the number of fishers on board, is

$$\sum_{x=1}^{X} \sum_{y=1}^{\text{BL}_{x}} y P_{x,t}^{\text{cap}}\left(y|\mu = U_{x,t}\right) P_{x}$$
(91)

The proportion of fish that are retained in the average trip when bag and boat limits are applied, $\psi^{\rm ret}$, is therefore

$$\psi^{\text{ret}} = \frac{\sum_{x=1}^{X} \sum_{y=1}^{\text{BL}_x} y P_{x,t}^{\text{cap}} \left(y | \mu = U_{x,t} \right) P_x}{\sum_{x=1}^{X} U_{x,t} P_x}$$
(92)

while the proportion of fish that are required to be released because of the bag and boat limits, $\psi^{\rm rel}$ is

$$\psi^{\rm rel} = 1 - \psi^{\rm ret} \tag{93}$$

Of the fish that are released, a proportion P^{rmort} are expected to die as a result of barotrauma, hooking injury, or other mortality associated with capture and release. Thus, by implementing the bag and boat limit controls, the proportion of fish that are expected to die is the sum of the proportion retained and the proportion that are released but die as a result of capture and release, *i.e.*

$$\psi^{\text{ret}} + \left\{ 1 - \psi^{\text{ret}} \right\} P^{\text{rmort}}$$
(94)

which may be simplified to

$$(1 - P^{\mathrm{rmort}})\psi^{\mathrm{ret}} + P^{\mathrm{rmort}}$$
 (95)

It should be noted that the effectiveness of the bag and boat limit regulation will be reduced if fishers fail to comply with the regulations, or if high-grading occurs.

Catch quota

If either a catch quota is not applied, or it is applied and the size of the quota, Q, is equal to or greater than the expected retained catch, N^{ret} , the number of fish of each age, length class and sex, $N_{a_j,l_k,s}$, at the end of the time step is calculated after removing the fish that die. If $Q < N^{\text{ret}}$, then $N_{a_j,l_k,s}$ is calculated by removing the fish that die and reducing probability of capture, P^{cap} , to account for the effect of the quota. The level to which P^{cap} should be reduced because of the quota is estimated iteratively, calculating the expected number of retained fish after resetting P^{cap} as

$$P^{\rm cap} = P^{\rm cap} Q / N^{\rm ret} \tag{96}$$

This process terminates when $(N^{\rm ret}-Q)/Q$ is zero.

The unexploited stock

Determination of the values of the parameters of the stock-recruitment relationship requires an estimate of the unexploited spawning biomass to be calculated. The fishery is assumed to be at equilibrium with annual recruitment equal to the average level of recruitment. Since the virgin stock is assumed to be unexploited, input and output controls have no impact and the only source of mortality is natural mortality.

The calculation commences by calculating the proportion of the fish that will lie within each age and length class when survival is determined from natural mortality. Thus, the operating model is run with recruitment set to the level of annual recruitment, R^0 , entered as input to the MSE, repeating the sequence of addition of recruitment, and calculating the effects of survival, sex change (if hermaphroditic), and growth over sufficient years for the system state to achieve an approximate equilibrium state. The spawning biomass of the unexploited stock, $S^{\text{sp},0}$, is then calculated and the values of the parameters a_{SRR} and b_{SRR} of the stock-recruitment relationship determined from $S^{\text{sp},0}$, R^0 , and z.

The initial exploited equilibrium state of the stock

This section gives a brief description of the sequence of calculations undertaken by the model to establish the initial state of the simulated fish stock prior to the projection period. This initial state is set to reflect that which would be expected if the population was at an exploited equilibrium and the fishery was subject to a suite of management controls. In broad terms, when there are no bag or boar limits, the operating model determines the initial state of the stock by:

- 1. Calculating the expected number of fish per recruit (assuming the stock is at equilibrium) within each length class, of each sex and age, allowing for total mortality in the stock and taking into account growth and, in hermaphroditic species, sex change. This is accomplished by setting the annual recruitment to one fish, and running the model with the initial level of the instantaneous rate of capture, F_{init} , for sufficient years to ensure that the model's representation of the system state has reached equilibrium. The model takes any initial spatial and temporal closures, and minimum legal length regulations into account when these calculations are undertaken.
- 2. Calculating the spawning biomass per recruit and the expected level of annual recruitment to the stock when at equilibrium. The expected level of average annual recruitment is calculated by considering the equilibrium spawning biomass as the product of spawning biomass per recruit and the equilibrium level of recruitment, then solving the stock-recruitment relationship to determine the average annual level of recruitment.
- 3. Multiplying the expected number of fish per recruit that is caught and retained by the

average recruitment to estimate the average catch.

- 4. Dividing the average catch by the mean catch per fishing trip for the initial equilibrium state of the fishery, which was specified to the MSE prior to commencing the simulations, to produce an estimate of the fishing effort (number of standard boat trips, *i.e.* equivalent number of trips by boats with a single fisher on board.
- 5. Dividing the initial instantaneous rate of capture F_{init} by the fishing effort to obtain an estimate of the catchability coefficient, *q*.
- 6. Calculating the initial age- and length-compositions of the fish stock for a time series of annual recruitment levels, where the latter are determined by randomly selecting variates from the statistical distributions that describe the deviations of annual recruitment from the average level. These calculations are thus determined by undertaking, within each year throughout the historical period, the following events:
 - (a) calculate the annual recruitment R to the stock, taking into account the fact that, in accordance with the specifications provided to the MSE before commencing the simulation, recruitment may be variable or episodic, and that it may also be auto-correlated between successive years;
 - (b) add the new recruits produced each year to the stock at the beginning of the annual time steps;
 - (c) allow for the instantaneous rate of capture for the historical year (and the effect of input and output controls in that year), possible sex change (in hermaphroditic fish) and growth of fish in that year; and
 - (d) update the age- and length-compositions of the stock at the end of the time step, after which the process is repeated for the next year of historical data, and so on, until the system state at the end of the last year of historical data has been determined.

THE OBSERVATION MODEL

The observation model simulates the collection of age- and length-composition data to be used by the assessment model to obtain information about the state of the exploited stock. These types of data are those most commonly applied to stock assessments for recreational fisheries in Western Australia (Wise *et al.*, 2007). The model estimates the age- and length-compositions of the stock from the number of fish present in the population at the beginning of the time step in which sampling is undertaken. As the samples represent catches taken by recreational fishers, samples are only drawn for fish with lengths \geq MLL. The vulnerability of fish in length class k to being caught by fishers, *i.e.* $V_{k,s}^{\text{MLL}}$, which depends on the selectivity of the fishing gear for fish in that length class V_k and the length of the fish in the length class L_k relative to the MLL, $P_k^{L\geq \text{MLL}}$, is

$$V_{k,s}^{\text{MLL}} = V_k P_k^{L \ge \text{MLL}}$$
(97)

The expected frequency of fish within age class j for each sex, $N'_{j,s}$, is proportional to the sum over all length classes of the product of this vulnerability and the number of fish within the length classes, *i.e.*

$$N'_{j,s} = \sum_{k=1}^{K} n_{k,j,s,t} V_{k,s}^{\text{MLL}}$$
(98)

where $n_{k,j,s,t}$ is the number of fish of sex s in length class k and age class j. The expected frequency of fish of length class k and sex s, over all ages, $\hat{N}_{k,s}$, is calculated as

$$\hat{N}_{k,s} = \sum_{j=1}^{J} n_{k,j,s,t} V_{k,s}^{\text{MLL}}$$
(99)

Assuming that the age- and length-compositions of the stock are multinomially distributed, samples are generated by drawing random observations, ix, from the expected distributions for age, $N'_{i,s}$, and length, $\hat{N}_{k,s}$, for the simulated population, employing the algorithm

described by Devroye (1986). The arguments of the algorithm are n, the number of observations (fish), P_i , the expected proportion of fish in the age or length category i, n_{cat} , the number of age or length categories and ix_i , the i^{th} random observation.

THE ASSESSMENT MODEL

The model assesses the state of the simulated fish stock employing catch curve and per recruit analyses, the details of which are provided below.

Catch curve analyses

The model enables a range of alternative types of catch curve analyses to be employed for estimating total mortality from age composition sample data.

Catch curve 1

Linear regression of natural logarithms of frequencies at age (Ricker, 1975)

Model assumptions: (1) annual recruitment is constant, (2) the total mortality of fish above the age at which fish are fully recruited into the fishery is constant, and (3) the frequencies of fish at age in the age composition samples are log-normally distributed about their expected values. The integer age at which fish are fully recruited into the fishery, t_c , was determined as one year above the modal age in the age-frequency sample.

From these assumptions, the number of fish in age class j, *i.e.* of integer age a_j , in the age composition sample, N'_{a_j} , may be written as

$$N_{a_i}' = N_{t_c}' \exp\left[-Z\left(a_j - t_c\right)\right] \exp\left[\epsilon_j\right]$$
(100)

where $\epsilon_j \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$ and $t_c \leq a_j \leq a_{\max}$, and where a_{\max} is selected as the integer age of the last age class for which there is a non-zero frequency. By taking the natural logarithms of both sides of this equation, the relationship may be expressed as the linear regression model

$$\log_e N'_{a_i} = \log_e N'_{t_c} - Z \left(a_j - t_c \right)$$
(101)

where total mortality, Z, represents the negative of the slope of the regression equation.

Catch curve 2

Frequencies at age represent a sample from a multinomial distribution

Model assumptions: (1) annual recruitment is constant, (2) the total mortality of fish above the age at which fish are fully recruited into the fishery is constant, and (3) the age composition sample represents a sample drawn from a multinomial distribution where the expected proportions at age are determined from the expected number of fish surviving to each integer age.

The estimated proportions of fish at integer age a_j , where $t_c \le a_j \le A$, in year t, denoted $\hat{P}_{a_j,t}$, is calculated as

$$\hat{P}_{a_j,t} = \frac{N'_{a_j,t} \exp\left[-Z\left(a_j - a_r\right)\right]}{\sum_{a_j = t_c}^A N'_{a_j,t} \exp\left[-Z\left(a_j - t_c\right)\right]}$$
(102)

where $N'_{t_c,t}$ is constant, *i.e.* $N'_{t_c,t} = N'_{t_c}$ (Hall *et al.*, 2004; Coulson *et al.*, 2009). Note that the model may be fitted to the data for one year or for pooled data from samples drawn from several consecutive years. The log-likelihood, λ , of the observed age frequencies can be calculated as

$$\lambda = \sum_{t} \sum_{a_j=a_r}^{A} N'_{a_j,t} \log\left(\hat{P}_{a_j,t}\right)$$
(103)

Catch curve 3

Relative abundance analysis (Deriso et al., 1985)

Model assumptions: As in catch curve 2, except that annual recruitment is assumed to be variable. The relative levels of recruitment of the different year classes, R_y , are estimated as parameters in the model.

Per recruit analyses

The estimated yield per recruit for fish of sex s at the estimated level of fishing mortality F, YPR_{*F*,*s*}, is calculated as

$$YPR_{F,s} = \sum_{j=1}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{K} \frac{V_k F}{M + V_k F} \left[1 - \exp\left(-(M + V_k F)\right)\right] W(L_k) \psi_k^s \exp\left(-(M + V_k F)\right)$$
(104)

where $W_{L_k,s}$, is the estimated weight of fish and ψ_{k}^s is the proportion of fish of sex *s* in length class *k*. The estimate of fishing mortality used in this analysis is the value derived from the catch curve analysis.

The spawning stock biomass per recruit for sex s at fishing mortality F, $SBR_{F,s}$, is determined as

$$SBR_{F,s} = \sum_{j=1}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{K} W(L_k) \psi_k^s \psi_{k,s}^{\text{mat}} \exp\left[-(M + V_k F)\right]$$
(105)

where $\psi_{k,s}^{\text{mat}}$ is the expected proportion of fish of sex s and length class k that are mature. The estimated number of eggs per recruit at F, EPR_F , is

$$EPR_{F} = \sum_{j=1}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{K} BF_{k,f} W(L_{k}) \psi_{k}^{s} \psi_{k,s}^{\text{mat}} \exp\left[-(M+V_{k}F)\right]$$
(106)

where $BF_{k,f}$ is the fecundity of females in length class k.

The spawning potential ratio, SPR, in terms of spawning stock biomass per recruit and eggs per recruit, is calculated as

$$SPR(SBR) = SBR_{F,s}/SBR_{0,s}$$
(107)

$$SPR(EPR) = EPR_F / EPR_0$$
(108)

where $SBR_{0,s}$ and $EPR_{0,s}$ are the estimated levels of spawning stock biomass per recruit and eggs per recruit, respectively, for the stock at its virgin state.

THE DECISION-MAKING PROCESS

Depending on the type of analysis to be undertaken, management decisions during model simulation runs can be determined according to either a fixed decision rule or through directly specifying the management controls to be applied. In accordance with traditional MSE models, the fixed decision rule is used to automatically adjust the management, given the current state of an exploited stock relative to user-specified reference points. The application of fixed decision rules enables prediction of the likely effectiveness of alternative sets of pre-defined management strategies over an extended time frame.

Two alternative pre-determined decision rules, both which are F-based, have been implemented in the model. These act to proportionally reduce the level of fishing mortality depending on the estimated level of F for the stock at its initial state (or at the end of the previous projection period), relative to the specified reference points. The first decision rule calculates the proportional reduction in $F,\,\psi_{F_{\rm reduced}},\,{\rm as}$

$$\psi_{F_{\text{reduced}}} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } F < F_{\text{thr}} \\ 0.5 & \text{if } F_{\text{thr}} \le F < F_{\text{lim}} \\ 0.75 & \text{if } F \ge F_{\text{lim}} \end{cases}$$
(109)

where F_{thr} and F_{lim} are the threshold and limit reference point values for F, as specified by the user.

The second decision rule rather determines $\psi_{F_{\rm reduced}}$ as

$$\psi_{E_{reduced}} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } F < F_{\text{thr}} \\ 1 - (1/(F/F_{\text{tar}})) & \text{if } F \ge F_{\text{thr}} \end{cases}$$
(110)

where F_{tar} is the target reference point values for F.

SOFTWARE IMPLEMENTATION

Microsoft Visual Basic.NET (version 3.5 SP1) in Visual Studio 2008 Express Edition (version 9.0.21022.8 RTM; Microsoft, 2007) was used as the primary platform for model development, with AD Model Builder (Otter Research Ltd.) being employed to undertake the catch curve analyses, some of which are computationally intensive.

The model is freely available for download from the website http://cffrfisheriesmodelling.net.

REFERENCES

Beverton, R.J.H, Holt, S.J. (1957) *On the Dynamics of Exploited Fish Populations*. Fisheries Investigations Series II, Volume 19, Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, UK.

Deriso, R.B., Quinn II, T.J., Neal, P.R. (1985) Catch-age analysis with auxiliary information. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 42, 815-824.

Devroye, L. (1986) Non-uniform Random Variate Generation. Springer, New York, NY.

Francis, R.I.C.C. (1992) The use of risk analysis to assess fishery management strategies: a case study using orange roughy (*Hoplostethus atlanticus*) on the Chatham Rise, New Zealand. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 49, 922-930.

Gulland, J.A. (1969) *Manual of Methods for Fish Stock Assessment*. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, Rome.

Hart, J.F., Cheney, E.W., Lawson, C.L., Maehly, H.J., Mesztenyi, C.K., Rice, J.R., Thacher Jr., H.G., Witzgall, C. (1968) *Computer Approximations*. John Wiley and Sons, New York.

Hoenig, J. (1983) Empirical use of longevity data to estimate mortality rates. *Fishery Bulletin* 82, 898-903.

Mace, P.M. (1994) Relationships between common biological reference points used as thresholds and targets of fisheries management strategies. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 51, 110-122.

Ricker, W.E (1975) *Computation and Interpretation of Biological Statistics of Fish Populations.* Bulletin 191, Fisheries Research Board of Canada, Ottawa.

Wise, B.S., St John, J., Lenanton, R.C. (2007) Spatial scales of exploitation among populations of demersal scalefish: implications for management. Part 1: Stock status of the key indicator species for the demersal scalefish fishery in the West Coast bioregion. Final report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation on Project No. 2003/052. Fisheries Research Report No. 163, Department of Fisheries, Western Australia.